10.

> noa W

AGENDA

Clinton City Council Regular Meeting
City Hall » 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO 64735
Tuesday, November 18, 2025 » 6:00pm

Cali to Order for Public Hearing
Public Hearing

Public hearing to receive comments and input on the proposed Industrial Development Project. Schreiber
Foods, Inc, has propased a plan for an industrial development project to be carried out pursuant to Article
VI, Section 27(b} of the Missouri Constitution, as amended, Sections 100.010 to 100.200, inclusive, of the
Missouri Revised Statutes, as amended. The project consists of acquiring and installing equipment in an
industrial space located at 935 E. Nushaum Place, Clinton MO,

Call to Order for Regular Council Meeting
Roll Calil
Pledge of Allegiance
Approval of Minutes:
a. Approval or correction of the minutes of the City Council Meeting of November 4, 2025.
Personal Appearances:
Reports:
a. David Lee - Chamber of Commerce
h. FEconomic Development Report
Second Reading of Previously Read Bills: None.
Committee Reports:
a. Public Works Committee Report:
1. Community Development:
a. Building Reports for October: Information Only.
b. ATS MODOT Review: FY2025 compliance and performance review completed and closed-out.

c. GO8 W. Grandriver: Removal of titled items began yesterday (11/10), will continue as access
o other titled items is gained.

2. Park & Rec:
a. Aguatic Center Roof: Should be completed this week.

b. Aquatic Center Boilers: JCI is installing now. Plan to have one online this week which will
provide some heat to the building.

¢. Soccer Concession: Several quotes have been received. Work will begin soon.

Council Agenda November 18, 2025 Page 1 of 3



d. Spray Insulation Bids for Shop Building: Recommend accept Ballard Insulation bid of
$11,500/bldg. (excludes doors). Approved 2-0.

e. Concrete work Bids for Aguatic and Community Centers: Recommend accept Austin
Construction bid of $12,500. Approved 2-0.

f.  Benson Center Projector: Trying to determine if new bulbs will fix the problem {$250/bulb).
New project approximately $20,000.

g. Al Updates:
o Qutdoor Pool: Pool interior repairs completed.
e 10-Year Plan Committee: Will try to set initial meeting for early December.

e QOutside Teams in P & R League: Recommend allow outside teams in 1%t/2" grade
developmental leagues. Approved 2-0.

3. Woaste Water:

a. East Oxidation Ditch Rotor 5: One of the head bearings is going out. Jon recommends
replacement of bearing only, at a cost of $2,700.

b. Headworks Upgrade: Jon visited 2 sites in KC-area to see equipment. Will visit another one
tomorrow that has a system that is partially exposed to cold temperatures,

c. VacCon: Repaired at a cost of $3,900 {includes towing}.
b. Public Safety Committee Report:
1. Police Departrent Body Worn Camera Policy
2. Resignation Letter
¢. Finance Committee Report:
1. Amendment #2 of MoDOT Agreement to Reseal and Remark Runway 18/36 and Taxiway B.

Bill No. 2025-13 - An Ordinance of the City of Clinton regarding Amendment #2 to a Grant
Agreement between the City of Clinton {CITY) and the Missouri Highways and Transportation
Commission (COMMISSION} to Reseal and Remark Runway 18/36 and Taxiway B.

2. Report from 2025 LAGERS meeting by Employee Representative Mark Manuel.
11. Mayor’s Report
12. City Administrator's Report
a. Letter announcing retirement date

13. Unfinished Business; None,

Council Agenda November 18, 2025 Page 2 of 3



14. New Business:

a. Industrial Development Project Revenue Bonds

Bill No. 2025-14 - An Ordinance approving a Plan for an Industrial Development Project; authorizing
the issuance of Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds in a maximum aggregate principal
amount of not to exceed $29,100,00; and authorizing certain documents and actions in connection

therewith.

b. Request to schedule work session to begin recruitment process for City Administrator position.

15. Adjournment

individuals desiring to speak at the meeting are asked to fil out a speaker card and submit it to the Clerk prior to the call to order, Speakers are
respectfuily asked to limit their comments to three (3} minutes or less. Speakers will be called on to speak during the appropriate portion of the
meeting. Please address your comments to the Mayor/Chairman. If you require accommadation {i.e. qualified interpreter, large psint, and/or hearing

assistance} please notify this office at (660-885-6121) no [ater than forty-eight hours prior to the scheduled commencement of the meeting.

Council Agenda November 18, 2025 Page 3 of 3



OPEN CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
City Hall 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO 64735
Tuesday, November 4, 2025 < 6:00 p.m.

The City Council of the City of Clinton, Missouri met Tuesday, November 4, 2025. Mayor Carla Moberly presided.

1.
2.

o N o W

Call to Order: Mayor Carla Moberly called the regular meeting to order at 6:00 pm.
Roll Call

Council Persons:

Present: Brenda Elliott, Gene Henry, Rob Hills, Roger House, Cameron Jackson, Austin Jones and Gary Mount
Absent: Greg Shannon Sk

Others Present:

City Administrator Christy Maggi, City Clerk Wendee Seaton, City Attorney Tomei Peppard, Deputy
Police Chief John Scott, Fire Chief Mark Manuel

Pledge of Allegiance: Was recited.

Approval of Minutes: Council Person House made a motio:n' to app'rove the minutes ofthe Open City Council
Meeting of October 21, 2025, Council Person Mount duly seconded the motion. 7 Ayes; 0 Nays; 1 Absent.
Mayor Carla Moberly declared the motion passed

Personal Appearances: None.
Reports: None. i

Second Reading of Pfe_vi__ously Ree'd__'Bii!s: None.

Commlttee Reports:

a. Publlc .Works Commlttee“Report Councn‘ Person House gave the following committee report:

-:Community Development

5.1" -_-Buildmg Reports for August & September Information Only.

b. 608 W. Grandﬂver -.Property has received a 10-day notice. Staff is preparing an RFP and
process to clear property. The items removed must be held for 10 days before disposal. Will

hold at the Street Department For information only.
2. Street Department

a. Main Street Chrlstmas Lighting & Parade: Recommend approval, with Clinton Main Street to
set cones for closure, 2-0. Council Person House made a motion to approve the Main Street
Christmas Lighting Parade. Council Person Hills duly seconded the motion. 7 Ayes; 0 Nays; 1
Absent. Mayor Carla Moberly declared the motion passed.

b. Declare Transfer Station Open Top Container Surplus Property: Recommend declare
container as surplus property and scrap container, 2-0. The container is not salvageable.
Council Person House made a motion to approve the Main Street Christmas Lighting Parade.
Council Person Hills duly seconded the motion. 7 Ayes; 0 Nays; 1 Absent. Mayor Carla Moberly
declared the motion passed.

lof4



c. SS4A Safety Plan: Plan being reviewed by the Steering Committee and has been sent to
FHWA for review. For information only.

d. North 7/13 Jct. Improvement Project: Oak Star is processing the temporary construction
easement; hope to bid this out in January. Discussed the process and waiting on approval.
On hold for now.

e. Street Department Facility: Will be working on improvements on the lot at the Street
facility. For information only.

Waste Water: _

a. West RAS/WAS Pump: Replaced east RAS/WAS_':;'_p_u_n}_p; need to replace 30-year old west
RAS/WAS pump. Recommend replace west pump at:same cost, $39,054, 2-0. Council
Person House made a motion to approve the quote for $39 054 to replace the west pump.
Council Person Hills duly seconder_:_i____the-motlon 7 Ayes; 0. Nays 1 Absent. Mayor Carla
Moberly declared the motion passed

b. Triton’s: Triton rentals have been returned Permanent Triton aerators have been installed.
For information only. _ _ _

c. Vac-Con: Started semi—ennuﬁ_al line cieaning'prqcess, but Vac-Con shut down. Diagnosing
problem at the repair facility in' KC;‘ For information oniy.

d. Operations Report for August & September informatlon onty

e. WWTP Upgrade Project meetmg last week Sludge basm repairs to start as soon as
conducive with weather. Discussed. the need to get-the headworks portion of the project
compieted__.]on will tour a couple KC—area WWTP to see their headworks equipment. For
information only

f.

-:'{Stonerldge Sewer Connectlon ‘Draft of plan has been submitted to MDNR. Waiting on a
* response; For mformatlon only. :

b. Pubtic Safety Commlttee Report Council Person Jones gave the following committee report:

Present_q_t_meetmg: Councr!._Persons E_H_f_o__tt, Jones and Shannon (via phone), Fire Chief Mark Manuel,
Deputy Police Chief John Scott, Rebecca Price

AED Grant for $2,500 from GVMH. An AED has been purchased.

1
2.

Body Cam Up‘d_a;e: Arrlved but not in service yet. The body cam equipment arrived, but training
is needed prior to.use.Should be in use by the end of the year.

Proposal for Animal Control Ordinances: Discussed registration and enforcement issues.
Recommend 3/0 that staff ensure our ordinances cover the items in this proposal and then bring
it back to Public Safety.

Flock Safety Update: A stolen car was tracked to Independence. Also helped with a focal theft.
For information only.

20f4




¢. Finance Committee Report: Council Person Henry gave the following committee report:

Present at meeting: Councif Persons Henry and Mount, Mayor Carla Moberly, City Administrator
Christy Maggi, City Clerk Wendee Seaton, Council Person House

1.

3.

Employee Insurance: Discussed increases and options. Committee recommends 3/0 to approve
the recommended options. COUNCIL: Council Person Henry made a motion to approve the staff
recommended options. Council Person Mount duly seconded the motion. 7 Ayes; O Nays; 1
Absent. Mayor Carla Moberly declared the motion passed.

a. Medical: Staff recommends continue with Blue Cross Blue Shield, 6.9% increase (budgeted
12% increase) :

b. Dental: Staff recommends continue with Met 'l:l.fé., 1"1"99% increase (budgeted 5% increase)

c. Life: Staff recommends continue with The Standard 0% mcrease {budgeted 5% increase)

Englewood Cemetery tree removal: D|scussed the need for the addit;onal 10 trees to be removed
at a cost to the City of $12,400, Committee recommends 3/0 to approve. COUNCIL: Council Person
Henry made a motion to approve the addlttonai trees be removed at a.cost of $12,400. Council
Person Mount duly seconded the motion. 7 Ayes 0 Nays, 1Absent Mavyor Carla Moberly declared
the motion passed.

Monthly Financials ~ Septembe_r 2025: No issues found

Mayor’s Report

a. Mayor's recommendation for the re- appomtment of Diane Hannah to the Clinton Tourism Board
with a term expmng June 2028 :

h. Mayor's recommendatlon for the appomtment of Jack Wetzel to the Clinton Tourism Board with a

term expiring June 2028

c. Mayor 'S recommendatlon for_ the appomtment of Chad Mullins to the Clinton Tourism Board with

a term expmngJune 2028.

Council Person Henry made a motlon to approve a!l three recommendations. Council Person Jones duly
seconded the motion. 7 Ayes; 0 Nays; 1 Absent. Mayor Carla Moberly declared the motion passed.

d. Mayor's r'e_'c_ommendation' for the 10-Year Parks and Recreation Planning Committee:

1, Citizens .~ 12, Park Board Members | 3.Council Members |4. Parks and Rec Staff
a. Bill Simms | a.TimKomer a. Carla Moberly a. Brad Combs, Director
b. Deena Stevenson | b, Debby VanWinkle b. Rob Hills b. Paula Huffman, Admin
¢. Rebecca Price ¢. Gary Mount ¢. lohn McClendon,
d. Donni Kuck d. Shannon Shockley, Prg Coord.
e. Crystal Goucher e. Nicole Sinnett, Aguatics Dir,
f. Greg Bauer
g. Linda Veatch 5, Administration "
h.Lori Shannon a. Christy Maggi, City Admin.

Council Person House made a motion to approve the recommendations for the Park Committee.
Council Person Jones duly seconded the motion. 7 Ayes; O Nays; 1 Absent. Mayor Carla Moberly
declared the motion passed.

3of4




10.

11
12,

13,

City Administrator’s Report:

a. The boilers for the Aquatic Center have arrived and are ready to install.

b. The IMS Roadway Analysis will take place at night between November 8-14.

c. Open enroliment for employees will be held at the Benson Center from Nov 11-12.
d. Stoyko Tree Service will begin work at the cemetery on Friday, November 7.
Unfinished Business: None,

New Business:

a. Parks and Recreation Surplus ltems: Counci Person House .made a motion to approve the following
items to be declared as surplus. Council Person Mount duly seconded the motion. 7 Ayes; O Nays; 1
Absent. Mayor Carla Moberly declared the motion passed R

¢ 2000 John Deere 5210 Tractor
e 2000 5218 John Deere Front End Loader = -
e 2021 land Pride AFM 4216 16’ Puil Behind Fm|sh Mower

Adjournment: Council Person House made amotionto adJourn to closed session pursuantto RSMo. 610.021
(1) Legal actions, causes of action or fitigation mvolwng a public- governmental body and any confidential or
privileged communications between a public governmental body or its representatives and its attorneys; and
(3) Hiring, firing, disciplining or promoting of particular: employees by a public governmental body when
personal information about the employee is d:scussed orrecorded. Council Person Jones duly seconded the
motion. A roli call vote was taken and following s was recorded 7 Ayes Brenda Eiliott, Gene Henry, Rob Hills,

Mavyor Carla Ntoberiy decla_red the rr)_o_tion passed and stated there would bea br|ef recess prior to convenmg
in a closed session meeting. Council will h_d;_re’_c_urn to open session afterwards.

City Clerk Wendee Seaton Mavyor Carla Moberly

40of 4




THESE ARE THE REPORTS | USE FOR OUR BOARD MEETINGS EACH MONTH, ALTHOUGH
THOSE REPORTS HAVE BEEN SHORTENED QUITE A BIT FROM WHAT | SEND TO THE PUBLIC
EACH FRIDAY (FACEBOOK, WEBPAGE AND MEDIA). TOURISM-RELATED IS IN RED. | REPORT TO
CITY COUNCIL DURING YOUR SECOND MEETING IN JAN., MARCH, MAY, JULY, SEPT. AND NOV.

9.19.25

Clinton Alumni Tailgate 2025 RSVP

The 2025 Clinton Homecoming Game is Friday, September 26 at 5:30 PM. If you are NOT currently
a member of the CHS Alumni Association, the cost to attend is $20 and that covers a lifetime
membership to the association. Which also means all future tailgates are free of charge to you!

We want to know...so you will know.
The Chamber of Commerce would like to be a "clearing house" for all the free Halloween parties, trunk or
treat, etc. that are open to the public.

9.26.25
On Vacation.

10.3.25
The Chamber and our Ambassadors Committee celebrated Green Streets Market fifteenth anniversary today
(9.26).

Exciting News — We've Changed Our Name!
Clinton Abstract & Title Co., LLC/Drake Land Title Company is now OSAGE LAKES TITLE COMPANY!

The Clinton Chamber held another luncheon today (9.30) at the Elks Lodge. Speakers included Amber
Hansen with the Ambassadors Committee, 2025 Chamber President Sabrina Harris, representatives of Vision
Care Direct, Clinton Main Street's Stacy Hinkle and Emily Burke, Hansen with the Childcare Committee,
Economic Development Director Mark Dawson on his last day before retirement, and Larry Tucker.

The Greater Clinton Area Chamber of Commerce Childcare Committee held the 2nd Annual Childcare Tour
Day for juniors and seniors from the Clinton School and sending schools on Friday, September 19th. The
tour is for high school juniors and seniors who are interested in going into the childcare field or education.

Chamber Business Connection, hosted by the newly remodeled Hawthorn Bank during their Open House
event. Tuesday, Oct. 215 from 5 till 6:30pm at 1400 East Ohio Street.

We've had people come into the Chamber over the years wanting some item with Clinton on it...either as a
souvenir, gift, school project, etc. We've had some items, but never before...magnets. Well, here they are!
$5.00 at 200 S. Main St. M-F 8am-4:30pm.

10.10.25

TO FIND OUT WHAT’S GOING ON AROUND CLINTON, BE SURE TO CHECK OUT OUR COMMUNITY
CALENDAR AT https://clintonmo.com/clinton-chamber-of-commerce/calendar/

IF YOU HAVE SOMETHING YOU WOULD LIKE TO ADD TO OUR WEBSITE’S COMMUNITY CALENDAR, JUST

EMAIL david@clintonmo.com




Big News: A New Chamber Map is Coming!
We're excited to announce that the Greater Clinton Area Chamber of Commerce has partnered with Spring
Hill Press to create a brand-new Chamber Map for our community!

A huge crowd turned out today (10.3) as Helm Plumbing Electric HVAC celebrated the Grand Opening of their
new location. Free food will attract a crowd but so will so many people that stopped by to thank the folks at
Helm for all the great work they have done for nearly 50 years.

Welcome New Chamber Member: Quick Stop in Clinton
103 North 2nd Street They are currently looking for team members. For all the details, call 816-344-4728.

QakStar Bank Clinton- Customer Appreciation Day. Wed, 15 Oct. 2025 at 11:00 am to 02:00 pm. 1508 N 2nd St,
Clinton, MO.

Clinton, MO Parks & Recreation - Very excited to announce the grand opening of Martha's Nature Trail. Join
us on Oct 23rd to take a stroll around the trail. Antioch Park. 1805 Gaines Drive. 12:30pm,

The City of Clinton is forming a 10 Year Park Plan Committee. if you would like to be consldered for this
committee, there are several ways to access a form. They must be completed and turned in by Wednesday,
October 22, 2025, at 5pm.

Help Wanted? Of course we can do that. If you are a member of the Greater Clinton Area Chamber of
Commerce, remember that we will post your job openings for free on our Facebook page. If you post them on
your Facebook page and we see them, we will share it to our page. However, we're sure we don't always see
those posts, s0 send those openings to us. You can tag us in your post of just email david@clintonmo.com
or joyce@clintonmo.com.

10.17.25

Tuesday: The Chamber was very fortunate to weicome two dozen 7th and 8th grade students from Clinton
Christian Academy to the Elite Laundry location to rebulb the snowflakes you will see up and down 2nd and
Ohio streets and around the square once again this year.

Thursday: The freshman class from CCA helped finish rebulbing the snowflakes today. A huge thanks to Mr.
Neal! He fixed six of our old large snowflakes (electrical work) so they can now be displayed this Christmas
season.

Thanks once again to CCA for all their work and Elite Laundry for a place to accomplish this work.

Are you needing a meeting space in Clinton? If so, the Chamber of Commerce may be able to help you out.
The Chamber of Commerce building at 200 S. Main St. features a conference room with a table and chairs for
about ten people, possibly more if needed.

10.24.25
Welcome New Chamber Member; The Shoe Guys by Daily Living Medical
Opening soon in Clinton at 702 East Ohio St.!

At Daily Living Medical Orthotics & Bracing, our focus is not only to provide our referral sources and
patients with the care they deserve, but we also provide this service with unparalieled speed and accuracy
while maintaining the most competitive prices.




Congrats to Gary and Beth on the 30-year anniversary of Jack's Warehouse Carpets.
855 N. Highway 13, Clinton, MO 660-885-4690

The Clinton Chamber held a 'Chamber Business Connection' at the newly remodeled Hawthorn Bank on Ohio
St. as they celebrated with an Open House. As you can see ( https://www.facebook.com/ClintonMO/ ), they
are not completely done with the remodel, but those finishing touches will he coming soon.

The Clinton Chamber attended the City's Parks and Rec ribbon cutting today for Martha's Nature Trail. This
trail is the newest addition to the City's parks system. The trail was made possible through generous
donations by Martha Friedmeyer and grants awarded by the MO Dept. of Conservation. The trail is located in
Antioch Park, 1905 Gaines Drive in Clinton.

Congratulations to all those that worked to make this a reality.

The Chamber of Commerce will be at Sun-Kissed Studios Friday so we can promote their Grand Opening
coming up the next day. Join us for a ribbon-cutting tomorrow (10.24) at 1:00 and get an early look at this
new business in Clinton!

Quick Stop Clinton is now open! Are they completely finished? No. Are they ready to serve you? Yes! Look
for additions to this new business as the days and weeks go by.
103 North 2nd Street

The Clinton Tourism Association would like to thank the Truman Lake Community Foundation for the grant
they awarded, as we work, with others, to make the power on the Courthouse lawn safer, more reliable and
easier to use. This will benefit Clinton Tourism, Olde Glory Days, Chamber of Commerce, Clinton Main Street,
Cruise Nights, and others. We also hope our finished product will help bring more activities to the Downtown
Clinton Square.

Clinton Schools YOU'RE INVITED

We're incredibly proud of the progress our schools have made through the passage of Proposition
Cardinals, and it's all thanks to YOU, our amazing community! We invite you to our Open House to walk the
halls, explore the updates, and witness firsthand the incredible transformation Proposition Cardinals made
possible.

Date - November 18th

Time - 5:00-7:00 PM

Location - Stop by any (and all!) of our school buildings

10.31.25
Happy Halloween! Daylight Saving Time officially ends this Sunday

The Greater Clinton Area Chamber of Commerce is giving you the chance to win...several
chances to win, actually. For the 6" year in a row, it's the Clinton Chamber’s ‘Receipt to Receive’.

Their Grand Opening was Sat. (10.25), however the Chamber was at Sun-Kissed Studios, LLC for a sneak
peek on Friday. Our mission is to offer personalized tanning solutions and a relaxing escape with extended
hours.

Welcome New Chamber Member: MONACO SCHOOL SERVICES at Monaco School Services, we offer a range .
of services for parents, children, and school districts. We can provide practical solutions, training, and
professional development for educators to best meet the needs of their students.



Welcome New Chamber Member:
SoJo Small Engine Service
We offer affordable service on small engines, mowers, chain saws, weed eaters, leaf blowers, etc.

Jerry's Pest Management LLC - HOLIDAY FOOD DRIVE
During the month of November and First Week of December, our technicians and office will be collecting
canned foods and nonperishable food items for those in need in our community.

11.7.25

Congratulations to Clinton Eagles Aerie #3667 on your upcoming 50th anniversary celebration this Sat. The
Chamber stopped by Tuesday morning to check out what's new and the improvements made at the Aerie.

Congratulations to SOJO (Stacey Ordal James Ordal=S0JO) Small Engine Repair and Service. The Chamber
stopped by Monday for their Grand Opening!

The Greater Clinton Area Chamber of Commerce is giving you the chance to get free money! Our
“150 to get 25” is here for the 6! consecutive year!

11.14.25

State Fair Community College - Clinton - Hello Clinton and surrounding communities! Some of our students
have asked about hosting a food pantry drive. Will you help us stock our SFCC Clinton campus food pantry
as well as help us as we strive to create meal kits for those in need during the holidays? Any food pantry
item is helpful.

Thank you Bright Futures Clinton for the breakfast and program this morning. I'm amazed by the work this
organization, and its people, has accomplished for the students in the Clinton School District. Keep up the
great work!! David Lee

Bright Futures Clinton KEEPING FUTURES BRIGHT This morning, the Bright Futures Community
Engagement Breakfast brought together community members, local organizations, and school staff for a
morning of connection, celebration, and gratitude. This event highlighted efforts to re-engage the
community, thank current volunteers, and strengthen partnerships that support Clinton students.

Clinton Schools -RECORD GROWTH, #1 IN THE CONFERENCE

Last week, the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) released its Annual
Performance Reports (APR), the state’s most comprehensive evaluation of district performance across
academics, college and career readiness, attendance, and continuous improvement.

Clinton Schools-PAINT THE TOWN RED AND BLUE

During the week of November 17-21 you can help us PAINT THE TOWN RED AND BLUE and show
appreciation for our amazing Cardinal educators who play an essential role in the success of our students
and community.

Do you know of other places to meet in Clinton? If so, list them in the comments and we'll add them to this
list.

VENUES FOR CLINTON

1311 Event space, 1311 North Washington St., 660-885-2201...




Economic Development Report
Clinton City Council Meeting
Tuesday 11/18/2025

Period 10/16/2023-11/14/2025

PROJECT ACTIVITY:

NEW PROIECTS:

Project Water Wagon {11/10/2025): KC contractor needs temporary space for a contract with City of Cathoun.
Owner of building in Cathoun was contacted on his interest on a 3 month lease of part of his facility.
Discussions ongoing.

Project Residential Housing {11/10/2025): Developer started working with City of Clinton on a planned 28 unit
subdivision for workforce housing project. This project is being assisted by City new Housing Incentive
Program.

PROIECT LEADS WE COULD NOT SUBMIT ON THIS PERIOD:

None

POTENTIAL UPCOMING DEALS (75%+ Odds)

Project Rooftop: (7/15/2024): 38-unit income based senior living development resubmitting to State of Missouri for
Housing Tax Credits. Application looks very strong this time. City Council passed Resotution of Support at City Council
meeting on 8/19/2025.

Project Blade (8/29/2024): Started discussions almost 1 year ago and decision has been made to potentially move
forward with a project, subject to development agreement terms. Manufacturing project looking at using Chapter
100 for a project. Project going through Chapter 100 process currently. First reading on Chapter 100 scheduled for
Tuesday evening 11/18/2025.

ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATES:

]

Larry Tucker presented at Clinton Morning Optimist Club on Thursday morning 10/30/2025

Larry Tucker and David Lee served as guides for 29 High School Students on Thursday morning 10/30/2025. 29
students from Clinton High and Montrose High attended the tours which included: Schreiber Foods, White River
Marine, Golden Valley Memorial Health, and Transcontinental.

Larry Tucker attended to Ribbon Cutting for SOJO Small Engines on 11/3/2025.

Larry Tucker attended the 50™ Anniversary of the Clinton Elks Club on 11/4/2025.

New Project opened (Project Water Wagon 11/10/2025) on Monday 11/10/2025. KC Contractor needing temporary
space.

Larry Tucker and Mark Dawson worked on monthly report on Monday 11/10/2025.

On Tuesday 11/11/2025, Larry Tucker sent out emails to major employers for updates from them for their employee
headcounts. This data is used for our Major Employer List that is compiled every year.

Larry Tucker participated in a call on Thursday 11/13/2025 with Christy Maggi and Chuck Bailey on housing project
looking at 28 units and using city new housing incentive program. This incentive program was approved for city
council in August 2025.

Attended Clinton Chamber Executive Committee meeting on Thursday afternoon 11/13/2025.

Larry Tucker taking vacation from Friday 11/14/2025-Thursday 11/19/2025.

1|Page




Economic Development Activity Report for the period 10/16/2025-11/14/2025

SFAcres

3

Project Name Type CAPEX Jobs
ProjectRooftop (7/15/2024)  |Housing NA N NA
Project Blade (8/29/2024) Manufactunng| $31,000,000 N/A NA
@ﬂﬂowng\!anlllﬂ/lﬁ%) Manufacturing | $5,000,000 25 50,000
ProjectSign (2/14/2025) — Office  NA NYA | _7';@‘7
|ProjectMancave (2/21/2025)  [Service: | $2,500,000 WA 15,000
Projectspie 27025)  Manufcring $100000000 50 100,000
ProjectMatt(3/17/2025)  (Seviee | $1500,000 5 18,000
Project Crust (6/4/2025) tﬂetail_ uUnknown 7 1_I\|_/A 4,500
Project Cuff (6/5/2025) ~ loffic  |Unknown 25

Project Diversified 1l (6/3/2025)

Manufacturing Unknovn

éi‘:‘_ =
b

~ Henry County Firm needing to expand

Retail

Project Swim (8/15/2025)

Unknown

25

Project Expanded Space (10/3/2025)

Manufactunng Unknown

WA

Status

| NA Medicalrelateduserneedingoficespace
A 18200 20 »

Local manulactu fing companvdulng ma}w expansion fnr new production line, d:apter 100188 to be discussed on 1118/2025,

1Lm:al Investor group looking at bmgmgmanu!aclurlng ﬂ:m lu clin_m

nlﬁcﬂuserneedmgtuglm o

y Emmgl:usmessmeﬂoohngatnewpro]m type!urﬁnmn

Metals related firm needing expansion site. CompenyhastiestoClinfon.

Franchise Restauranthas signed leasebutgog o

Manufacturer looking at exisiting bulding just outsde of Clinton

% ',Namﬂalrmauran!chamandhadmeehngwrlhtheineam|nmntonms.!15]2025 ) L
it ilucalmsin-.rmctunngﬁn’mrmeei‘mgsnmllspaueiarce:qxansm Several buldings submitted forreview,

Project Bui[dingHehab(lﬁll3/2025)_fB_e_tgl_! Unknown I\I_IA 2,000 uner o ulding downtofwn looking forgran unds or spacerehab -
Project Water Wagon (11/10/2025) ;Senﬂ_oe o Bnknnwn B !\fl& 101000 KCContractor needing short term lease for projectin Calhoun. Twnhuildingsshovm -
Residential Housing (11/10/2025) ‘Hnugjpg  Unlnown  N/A N/A Propused Buithousiogproec forwordoreebousig.
R INewPjectsOpened s period _[Satus Code | - B
i s [t Project closed during this period _ |ProblcHISERINNN ) o o .
- R 0 Project Success | 0% [— S )
__________ - 1 Monitoring 15 projects Slow tono actvty. ) S -
PROJECT ACTIVITY 2025 vs 2019-2024

45 20 :

40

N e e o e =

30 U e 55 s ,_ : =

20 - BB

15 :: 14 N 1

T 1 | 10|
E | l I j I Il -:
2018 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 YTD 2025
m Llocal Generated ™ Atfraction Total

2|Page




PROJECT SU CCESS AND CLOSED PROJECTS
PROJECT SUCCESS 12019-2025YID)

Name [ Type \CAPEX |#lobs |SF |Acres
Parks Cabinets | Manufacturer $2,600,000 22 32,000 7
Champion Brands  Manufacturer | $5,000,000 10 NA - NA
Montrose Grain {Warehouse | $2,100,000 2NA NA
Mnnufnclure|$5 $5,100,000 13/NA [NA
Senice $2500000 10 32500 5
WhlteHmerMar[ne(Tmcker} |Manufacturer $1.DUD,GDO- 5 10,000 | N/A
PowellMeats | Manufacturer $1,000,000 35 5000 1
ABIBmlEIng |Manufacturer | $1,000,000 | 10/ 18,000/ 25
GoldenValleg_'I'mclor(Replncementl Senice $2,000,000 | i 15 20,000 10
BurgerKing " [Retall $2,500,000 | 25 NA | 1
liguorStudio " |Retl $1250000 10 6,000 NA
Sunrl..e_.Med_lcalManjunna - iﬂetall $1,200,000 15 5,000 N/A
Crawford Auction Senvices ‘Senice $100000 15 110000, 5
Schreiber Foods ~ |Monufacturing | $8,300,000 1 20 N/A  [N/A
 |Manufacturer | $350,000 4 5,000 N/A
BoxDrop  |Retall nA 2NA|NA
Ervin Cable |Senice ' $300,000 20 6000 N/A
Burkees Outlet | Retail NA 20 22,000 N/A
Scooters Coffee | Retail | $1,800,000 20 1,200 1
TCTransr:ontmemalPackaglng |Manufacturing | $35,000,000 | 50 105,000 5
HemiyCountyHealthCenter | Office $1200000 4 5000 1
AvFab Manufacturing . $300000 2MA  NA
__G_VMH Caﬂcer(}ggtgr o - - \Medical Office $14,000,000 10 40 000 5
SheunanFf[uﬁnlh[ljg&Heating ~ |Senice | $1,400,000 | 8 18,500 3
De-LuxeProperties Monufacturing | $10,000000 50 90,000 7
Cycles&Cream .. Retail NA ’ 3 2500 NA
Zach Riley American Fomily  |Office  [NA | 2 1,500 N/A
Adi © |Retail $3.000000 15/ 10,000 3
ﬁe{q@ﬂgmhing&Hemmg _ . Senice N/A ] 7 7,000 _NIA
ProjectHandle  |Multi-Use N WA NA | 66
White River Marine (Tracker) 'Manufactur[ng $1.750,000 40 N/A JNIA
Project Houston (Joe' 5[!9139@) ~ IRetail $100,000 | 20 3500 NIA )
Project Diversifiedll I‘-‘!anufacmring $3,000,000 | 20 18,200 22
\ |
Total Success $106,000,000 504 573.900 167,
1 | ‘i % {
Pending Projects $0.00 0 0 0
Project Cuff (6/05/2025) |Medical Office [ N/A ‘ 25 2,000 ir 0
Project Rooftop (AssistedLiving $12,000,000.00 20 30,000
Project Blade |Manufacturing | $31,000,000.00 L 0 0 0
Total Pending | _ $43,000,00000 " 457 32,000 0
Total Success & Pending $149,000,000.00 549 605900 220




OPEN PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE MEETING
City Hali — 105 E. Ohio Street
Tuesday, November 11, 2025 ¢ 7:00 a.m.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: ® Roger House () Cameron Jackson @ Rob Hills

STAFF: B Christy Maggi U Ty Williams  ® Brad Combs B Chuck Bailey B John McClendon
CONTRACT STAFF: H Jon Patriarca (AWR) O Steve McKim {AWR)

GUESTS: B Dustin Sterling (AWR) [ Mayor Carla Moberly

1. Community Development:

a. Building Reports for October: Information Only.

b. ATS MIODOT Review: FY2025 compliance and performance review completed and closed-out.

c. 608 W.Grandriver: Removal of titled items began yesterday {11/10), will continue as access to other
titled items is gained.

2. Park & Rec:

a. Aquatic Center Roof: Should be completed this week.

b. Aquatic Center Boilers: JCl is instafling now. Plan to have one online this week which will provide
some heat to the building.

c. Soccer Concession: Several quotes have been received. Work will begin soon.

d. Spray Insulation Bids for Shop Building: Recommend accept Ballard Insulation bid of $11,500/bldg.
{excludes doors). Approved 2-0.

e. Concrete work Bids for Aquatic and Community Centers: Recommend accept Austin Construction
bid of $12,500. Approved 2-0.

f.  Benson Center Projector: Trying to determine if new bulbs will fix the problem {$250/bulb), New
project approximately $20,000.

g. All Updates:

e Outdoor Pool: Pool interior repairs completed.
e 10-Year Plan Committee: Will try to set initial meeting for early December.

e Outside Teamsin P & R League: Recommend allow outside teams in 1%/2" grade developmental
leagues. Approved 2-0.

3. Waste Water:

a.

East Oxidation Ditch Rotor 5: One of the head bearings is going out. Jon recommends replacement
of bearing only, at a cost of $2,700.

Headworks Upgrade: Jon visited 2 sites in KC-area to see equipment. Will visit another one tomorrow
that has a system that is partially exposed to cold temperatures.

VacCon: Repaired at a cost of $3,900 (includes towing).




MONTHLY BUILDING REPORT

REPORTING PERIOD:

10/1/2025 thru 10/31/2025

MISSOURI

Previous Month Total Dollar Value YTD: $15,379,754.00

PERMIT TYPE Ng:ﬁl:;:-%r;)[: # Piﬁl;liTS MQNT\I:::U[;OLLAR
SINGLE FAMILY HOMES 0 5 $0.00
MULTIPLE FAMILY HOMES 0 2 | $0.00
(NUMBER OF UNITS WITHIN MFU)
GARAGES & CARPORTS (ATTACHED) 0 0 $0.00
GARAGES & CARPORTS (DETACHED) 1 5 $1,360.00
ACCESSORY AND MISCELLANEOUS 7 67 $30,030.00
COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS 0 5 $0.00
COMMERCIAL REMODELING 4 10 $375,000.00
DEMOLITIONS 2 7 $6,000.00
SIGNS 0 4 $0.00
OTHER 0 30 $0.00
TOTALS FOR MONTH= 14 $412,390.00
TOTAL PERMITS YTD= 135
TOTAL DOLLAR VALUE YTD= $15,792,144.00
TOTAL PERMIT FEES FOR MONTH= $1,035.00
TofAL PéRMlT FEES YTD=  $28,283.00
PLUMBERS LICENSES ISSUED 0

REMARKS:

105 E. Ohio Street = Clinton, MO 64735-2131

(660) 885-6121 » Fax: (660) 885-2023



MONTHLY BUILDING DEPARTIMIENT REPORT LOG MONTH OCTOBER YEAR 2025

DAFE PERMITH OWNER/ADDRESS CONTRACTOR VALUE PERMIT FEE { CODE | ABBR | CONSTRUCFION TYPE | COMP DATE
10/1/2025 | PB2025-0129 SL;'E'EEST:#:CSOTM SELF $85.00 $40.00 17 AM STREET CUT
10/1/2025 | PB2025-0130 Le00 S:E“g:m o SELF $25000000 | $000 | 23 | CR § HOSPITALREMODEL
10/2/2025 | PB2025-0131 55;3[;’:,?1?5::;??5“;;; SELF $85.00 540,00 17 AM STREET CUT
10/2/2025 | PB2025-0332 Slir::';l:'\;i[_‘:;gs“f SELF $4,500.00 440.00 17 AN STREET CUT

10/10/2025 | P82025-0133 szglisﬁlszﬁgﬁ (EET;S SELF $69,000.00 $233.00 13 CR Ai T;;\Ldzﬁ? .
10/10/2025 | #B2025-0134 CL;@;%NFZES:TCJ ’SLTLC cgzzfgggr?ém $5,000.00 $50.00 12 DEM 5:)” Eﬂ‘gfﬁ?g';v
10/15/2025 | PB2025-0135 31 Gﬁ‘miig%é?; N ST SELF $1,000.00 $50.00 12 DEM sgqﬁ%.g;?rl\g;\'
10/15/2025 | PB2025-0136 214 52\;:3\%(:0 bR F&s $6,850.00 $50.00 17 AM FENCE
10/15/2025 § PB2025-0137 ZDLSA:mg::;% R £&5 $1,510.00 $50.00 17 AM FENCE
10/20/2025 | PB2025-0138 Ti%:?gg?gﬂgfs HELM $4,000.00 $70.00 27 CR | ELECTRICAL REMODEL
10/27/2025 | PB2025-0139 1:;;' :121%1?:3 ¢ SELF 43,000.00 $50.00 17 AM STORAGE SHED
10/28/2025 | PB2025-0140 Dgg‘;'g ﬁiii&gg? SELF $14,000.00 566,00 17 AM FENCE
10/29/2025 § PB2025-0141 &V H'i;g*;ﬁ:?ﬁ:imms SELF $52,000.00 $224.00 27 CR EXTERIOR REMODEL
10/29/2025 | PB2025-0142 42;:2“;&?;;; SELF $1,360.00 $72.00 16 GCD | DETACHED CARPORT

PERMIT ABBREVIATIONS: SINGLE FAMILY HOME {SFH} - MULTIPLE FAMILY HOMES (MFH) - GARAGE/CARPORT ATT (GCA] - CARAGE/CARPORT DET {GCD)
ACCESSORY/MISC {aM) - COMMERCIAL BUILDING {CBY - COMMERCIAL REMODELING {CR} - DEMOLIFION {2EM) - SIGNS (SGN) - OTHER (OTH)




105 West Capitol Avenue

MoDOT
Jefferson City, Missouri 65102

Missouri Department of Transportation 1.888.ASK MODOT (275.6636}
Ed Hassinger, P.E., Director

October 30, 2025

Chuck Bailey

City of Clinton

105 E. Ohio St
Clinton, MO 64735

Re: FY2025 5311 Transit Grant Requirements Compliance and Performance Review
Dear Mr. Bailey;

Enclosed is the close-out Report of the Missouri Department of Transportation’s (MoDOT)
FY2025 compliance and performance review of City of Clinton’s transportation program. This
report presents the results of the City of Clinton’s compliance with Federal Transit
Administration (FTA) and State requirements.

This review addressed compliance requirements, policies, and procedures in eight areas. The
report presents deficiencies and recommendations related to compliance and best practices. A
deficiency is a violation of an FTA or State requirement, which requires corrective action by a
pre-determined date. A recommendation is an advisory comment relating to a good practice.

There were 11 findings and 8 recommendations identified. As of October 30, 2025 all findings
have been closed.

MoDOT appreciates your cooperation during this review and congratulates you on a successful
public transportation program. If you have any questions concerning the process or the report,
please contact me at 573-751-2523 or Christy. Evers@modot.mo.gov.

Sincerely,

Christy Evens

Christy Evers

Administrator of Transit

Missouri Department of transportation
Multimodal Division — Transit

I IOD Our mission is to provide a world-class transportation system that is safe,
fﬁé . : innovative, reliable and dedicated to serving customers for a prosperous Missouri,

www.modot.org




BID RESULTS

Project for Bid:

11/10/2025

Spray Foam Insulation Application

Department: Park & Recreation and Englewood Cemetery

CONTRACTORS

American Dreams Spray Foam
(660)464-3632
adsprayfoam@gmail.com

Ballards Insulation
(417)761-8001
shane. humphrey@ballardsinsulation.com

$24,500 with doors

Total Cost $23,000 without doors $25,115.22
Materials 36 months 12 months
Warranty

Workmanship 36 months 12 months

Warranty




REQUEST FOR BID

SEALED BIDS TO BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN:

Monday, November 10, 2025 at 10:00 AM

MISSOUIRT

The City of Clinton, Missouri, is inviting bids from qualified vendors for the following project:

Spray Foam Insulation Application

Statement of Intent

The City of Clinton (City) is soliciting bids for the application of spray foam insulation in two (2) 40" x
50" x 14.5' wood pole/truss style metal maintenance building with sliding garage doors. The buildings
are located at 723 Tulip Drive {Artesian Park) and Englewood Cemetery, 626 S. Vansant Road.

Scope of Work
o Application of spray foam insulation in two (2} 40" x 50’ x 14.5' buildings
s Roof deck: Spray 2 inches closed cell foam
o Walls and gables: Spray 2 inches of closed cell foam
o Garage doors: Spray 1 inch of closed cell foam

Submittal of Bids ' ,

‘Bids will be accepted until 10:00 AM on Monday, November 10, 2025. Sealed bids, including this
signed bid form, should be sent to the attention of Deborah Nelson and may be: mailed to City of
Clinton, 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO 64735; dropped off at City Hall; emailed to
dnelson@cityofclintonmo.com or faxed with a cover sheet to 660-885-2023. Bid shall be clearly
identified as Spray Foam Insulation Application. Bids submitted after the deadline will be rejected.

Products and prices included in the bid may not be withdrawn for a period of thirty (30) days after the
date of bid opening without the express written consent of the City.

Bid Opening
All bids will be publicly opened and read atoud at Clinton City Hall at 10:00 AM on Monday, November

10, 2025.

City Business License Reguirement
Bidders are informed that the successful bidder will be required to obtain or prove possession of a
valid business license issued by the City of Clinton pursuant to Sec. 27-42 of the City Code.

Insurance Requirements
Bidders are Informed that the successful bidder will be required to provide proof of insurance coverage
for the following types of insurance and in the following minimum amounts:

Worker’s Compensation Coverage complying with applicable state statute




Employer’s Liability Minimum amount of $100,000.00

General Liability Minimum limits of $500,000.00 per occurrence of bodily injury
which includes, but is not limited to, insurance for all work
required herein.

Comprehensive Automobile  Minimum limits for $200,000.00 per person and
Liability ' $500,000.00 per occurrence for bodily injury, and $200,000.00
per occurrence for property damage.

Reservation of Rights
The City reserves the right to accept or reject any or all bids, to waive any technicalities in the bid
process, to award any bid or portion of a bid which is deemed to be the most advantageous to the City
of Clinton, and to make any investigations as are deemed necessary o determine the ability of a bidder
to perform the Work.

Errors and Omissions by the City
No bidder shall be permitted to use to his or her advantage any error or omission in this Invitation for

Bid or related specifications.

Pre-Bid
Ridders are encouraged to view project locations.

Questions Regarding the Bid Request
Questions regarding the technical specifications shall be directed to lohn McClendon, (660} 525-4114,

Questions regarding the contract requirements shall be directed to Christy Maggi, (660) 885-6121.

Prices

All costs for labor, materials and equipment shall be included in the bid price. No other costs will be
permitted the successful bidder beyond those stated in the bid, except by express written consent of
the City in accordance with applicable contract documents,

Payment
All work will be paid in a single lump sum payment, within thirty (30) days after the latest of the

following occurrences:
e The completion date of the contracted work and inspection by City;
e The date upon which the written invoice for such services is delivered by hand, or by U.S.
mail, to Clinton City Hall, 105 E. Ohio, Clinton, Missouri, 64735; or
Bidders are informed that the successful bidder shall comply with the Missouri Public Prompt Payment
Act (Sections 34.057 and 34.058, RSMo) regarding payments to subcontractors in relation to the
contract awarded as a result of this Invitation for Bids.

The City expressty reserves its rights to withhold, in good faith, payment or final payment in accordance
with Section 34.057.5, RSMo, and in accord with the contract awarded as a result of this invitation for
Bids. Final payments will be made in accordance with Section 34.057.1{8), RSMo.




Commencement and Completion of Worlk

Work must be completed within 30 days of the issuance of the Notice to Proceed.

Excusable Delays shall be delays or temporary inability to commence, complete or proceed in
accordance with the foregoing schedule, due in whole or in part to causes beyond the reasonable
control or without the material fault of the contractor which are caused by the action or failure to act
of any governmental body, including but not limited to the issuance of permits and approvals by the
City, acts of war or civil insurrection, or any natural occurrence, strikes, lock-outs, riots, floods,
earthquakes, fires, casualties, acts of God, labor disputes, governmental restrictions or priorities,
embargoes, litigation, tornadoes, or unusually severe weather.

Certification of Lawful Presence / Work Authorization
Contractor must complete the attached certifications of lawful presence and the Work Authorization
Certification.




BidPrice $ -Lq:.?g—, \[?wa&_

Phowedh | ”H7 7@ S/DOJ

Ritiaif, ﬁ{/\w humm\fﬂf@mua}ds B

SIGNATURE:

<%@M

tV\fb\J‘\Cﬁj“\ [Sel u:wv\

uthqmzed Repr;aSEn i

T e Ly e WS ST L L




CONTRACTOR BID FORM

SEALED BIDS TO BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN:

Vionday, November 10, 2025 at 10:00 AWV

Spray Foam Insulation Application

Scope of Work

o Application of spray foam insulation in two (2} 40" x 50" x 14.5’ buildings: 723 Tulip Drive
{Artesian Park) and Englewood Cemetery, 626 5. Vansant Road. -

o Roof deck: Spray 2 inches closed cell foam . 93 v
» Walls and gables: Spray 2 inches of closed cell foam %0\’5 ¥ @:0 A P a/)
e .
o . . . r 5 }{“
Garage doors: Spray 1 inch of closed cell foam O Fbcieny & AR ot d
Bid Price 5 }&/,J(O ,F(’" RN /,C;:fﬂf[‘,b’ [ e Puus
{{‘}J"}f(ju Cath Gaildin W/ Jowre
Materials % (; months 7)« - F:OL.W o 1 | A CFewds
Warranty Leoight o F Jouli T {wcdw‘”""
o o A Copan Doty FoC givi
Workmanship ) {«__months e
Warranty

Sealed bids, including this signed form, should be sent to the attention of Deborah Nelson and may he: mailed
to City of Clinton, 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO 64735; dropped off at City Hall; emailed to
dnelson@cityofclintonmo.com or faxed with a cover sheet to 660-885-2023,

Bids submitted after the deadline will be rejected.

The City of Clinton reserves the right to reject any and afl bids, to waive informalities or irregularities, to
negotiate contract terms and options with the successful low bidder, and to contract for the bid to other than
the lowest bidder in the best interest of the City of Clinton to the extent allowable by law.

The undersigned hereby offers to furnish the items as specified at the terms stated above.
SIGNATURE

Name/Company:R/"“ﬁfiwr Dyvan~g SPray f~oam

Phone #: (9(9(9 %{9({ = ,5(91”)\ .
Email: {H&")Pf\qb 3(‘*0&'»\ @ (7("10\\\] . g By: 6\-N <

_ {Authorized Representative)
Date: [9-27-2%




BiD RESULTS 11/10/2025

Project for Bid: Aquatic Center/Community Center Sidewalk Replacement

Department: Park & Recreation

CONTRACTORS

Austin Construction
Jason Austin
{860)924-5599
jasonwa77@gmail.com

Total Cost $12,500.00




REQUEST FOR BID

C | ton SEALED BIDS TO BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN:
' MISCOLIRT
Monday, November 10, 2025 at 10:00 AM

The City of Clinton, Missouri, is inviting bids from qualified vendors for the following project:

Aguatic Center/Community Center Sidewalk Replacement

Statement of Intent

The City of Clinton (City) is soliciting bids for the replacement of approx. 1,150 sé|. ft. of 4-inch sidewalk
at the Aquatic Center, 1008 E. Sedalia, and Community Center, 1004 E. Sedalia.

Scope of Work
o Replace sections, per attached diagram, with 4,000 PSI concrete. Sections to be removed are
marked with orange paint.
o 2-5'%10 ea.
o 1-10x10
o 1-10x12
o 1-157@25
o 2-10'x45" total
e 47 minimum base rock. Add rock to existing rock, if needed.
e 3/8" rebar on 2 ft. centers
s Pin new section to existing sidewalk.
e Backfill with black dirt and seed.
e Haul-off debris, rock, dirt, old concrete, etc.

Submittal of Bids
Bids will be accepted until 10:00 AM on NMonday, November 10, 2025. Sealed bids, including this

signed bid form, should be sent to the attention of Deborah Nelson and may be: mailed to City of
Clinton, 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO 64735; dropped off at City Hall; emailed to
dnelson@cityofclintonmo.com or faxed with a cover sheet to 660-885-2023. Bid shall be clearly
identified as Aguatic Center/Community Center sidewalk Replacement. Bids submitted after the

deadline will be rejected.

Products and prices included in the bid may not be withdrawn for a period of thirty {30} days after the
date of bid opening without the express written consent of the City.

Bid Opening
All bids will be publicly opened and read aloud at Clinton City Hall at 10:00 AM on Monday, November

10, 2025.



City Business License Requirement
Bidders are informed that the successful bidder will be required to obtain or prove possession of a
valid business license issued by the City of Clinton pursuant to Sec, 27-42 of the City Code.

insurance Reguiremenis 7
Bidders are informed that the successful bidder will be required to provide proof of insurance coverage
for the following types of insurance and in the following minimum amounts:

© Worker's Compensation Coverage complying with applicable state statute
Employer’s Liability Minimum amount of $100,000.00
General Liability Minimum limits of $500,000.00 per occurrence of bodily injury

which includes, but is not limited to, insurance for all work
required herein.

Comprehensive Automobile  Minimum limits for $200,000.00 per person and
Liability $500,000.00 per occurrence for bodily injury, and $200,000.00
per occurrence for property damage.

Reservation of Rights

The City reserves the right to accept or reject any or all bids, to waive any technicalities in the bid
process, to award any bid or portion of a bid which is deemed to be the most advantageous to the City
of Clinton, and to make any investigations as are deemed necessary to determine the ability of a bidder

to perform the Work.

Errors and Omissions by the City
No bidder shall be permitted to use to his or her advantage any error of omission in this Invitation for

Bid or related specifications.

Pre-Bid
Bidders are encouraged to view project locations.

Questions Regarding the Bid Request
Questions regarding the technical specifications shall be directed to lohn McClendon, {660) 525-4114.

Questions regarding the contract requirements shall be directed to Christy Maggi, (660) 885-6121.

Prices
All costs for labor, materials and equipment shall be included in the bid price. No other costs will be

permitted the successful bidder beyond those stated in the bid, except by express written consent of
the City in accordance with applicable contract documents.

Payment
All work will be paid in a single lump sum payment, within thirty (30) days after the latest of the

following occurrences:
s The completion date of the contracted work and inspection by City;




e The date upon which the written invoice for such services is delivered by hand, or by U.S.
mail, to Clinton City Hall, 105 E. Ohio, Clinton, Missouri, 64735; or
Bidders are informed that the successful bidder shall comply with the Missouri Public Prompt Payment
Act (Sections 34.057 and 34.058, RSMo) regarding payments to subcontractors in relation to the
contract awarded as a result of this Invitation for Bids.

The City expressly reserves its rights to withhold, in good faith, payment or final payment in accordance
with Section 34.057.5, RSMo, and in accord with the contract awarded as a result of this Invitation for
Bids. Final payments will be made in accordance with Section 34.057.1(8), RSMo.

Commencement and Completion of Work
Work must be completed within 30 days of the issuance of the Notice to Proceed.

Excusable Delays shall be delays or temporary inability to commence, complete or proceed in
accordance with the foregoing schedule, due in whole or in part to causes beyond the reasonable
control or without the material fault of the contractor which are ca used by the action or failure to act
of any governmental body, including but not limited to the issuance of permits and approvals by the
City, acts of war or civil insurrection, or any natural occurrence, strikes, lock-outs, riots, floods,
earthquakes, fires, casualties, acts of God, labor disputes, governmental restrictions or priorities,
embargoes, litigation, tornadoes, or unusually severe weather,

Certification of Lawful Presence / Work Authorization
Contractor must complete the attached certifications of lawful presence and the Work Authorization

Certification.




7hes e . W
J&ﬁ?&;‘rﬁ'éﬁ"
’f‘&‘l!‘w;

o g’




CONTRACTOR BID FORI

SEALED BIDS TO BE RECEIVED NO LATER THAN:

Monday, November 10, 2025 at 10:00 AM

Aquatic Center/Community Center sidewalk Replacement

Statement of Intent

The City of Clinton (City) is soliciting bids for the replacement of approx. 1,150 5g. ft, of 4-inch sidewalk
at the Aquatic Center, 1008 E. Sedalia, and Community Center, 1004 E. Sedalia.

Scope of Work
o Replace sections, per attached diagram, with 4,000 PSi concrete {sections to be removed are
marked at the site with orange paint).
o 2-5x10 ea.
o 1-10x10
o 1-10'%12’
o 1-15x25
o 1-10'x4% total
o 4" minimum base rock. Add rock to existing base, if needed to attain 4”.
o 3/8” rehar on 2 ft. centers
o * Pin new section to existing sidewalk.
e Backfill with hlack dirt and seed.
o Haul-off debris, rock, dirt, old concrete, etc.

Bid Price S } )}Jp Q\W

Sealed bids, including this signed form, should be sent to the attention of Deborah Nelson and may be: mailed
to City of Clinton, 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO 64735; dropped off at City Hall; emailed to
dnelson@cityofclintonmo.com or faxed with a cover sheet to 660-885-2023.

Bids submitted after the deadline will be rejected.

The City of Clinton reserves the right to reject any and alf bids, to waive informalities or irregularities, to
negotiate contract terms and options with the successful low bidder, and to contract for the bid ta other than
the lowest bidder in the best interest of the City of Clinton to the extent allowable by law.

Initials M.




The undersigned hereby offers to furnish the items as specified at the terms stated above.
SIGNATURE
Name/Company: /4‘ 6?(’7”’1 Céﬁﬁf&:{i@z
Phone #: / 5/7 - 97\ d "‘Sﬂ‘; 99

Email: \)I}éﬂfl la— 77/) ﬂ/l ffnﬁ'd!{é &5, By %/ / """"
=

(Authorized Representatlve)
Date: }/"’ 07~ AL




PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE OPEN MEETING AGENDA
City Hall » 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO
Tuesday, November 18, 2025 ¢ 5:30 p.m.

Present:
COMMITTEE MEMBERS: [ Austinlones O Greg Shannon J Brenda Elliott

PUBLIC SAFETY; O Fire Chief Mark Manue! [ Deputy Fire Chief Matt Willings
O Deputy Police Chief John Scott

GUESTS:

1. Police Department Body Worn Camera Policy

2. Resignation Letter

If you require accommadation {i.e. gualified interpreter, large print, and hearing assistance), please notify this office at {660-885-6121)

no later than forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of the meeting,




Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras
431.1 PURPOSE AND SCOPE

The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for the use of a body-worn camera {BWC) by
members of this department and for the access, use, and retention of department BWC media.

The provisions of this policy, including notice, documentation, access, and retention, also apply to
other portable audio/video recording devices used by members, where applicable.

This policy does not apply to undercover operations, wiretaps, or eavesdropping {(concealed
listening devices).

431.1.1 DEFINITIONS

Definitions related to this policy include:

Activate - To place a BWC in active mode {also called event mode). In active mode, the BWC
records both video and audio.

BWGC media - The video, audio, and images captured by department BWCs and the associated
metadata.

BWC media systems - Any software, including web-based programs and mobile applications,
used by the Department to upload/download, store, view, transfer, and otherwise maintain BWC
media.

Deactivate - To place a BWC in buffering mode {(also called ready or pre-event mode). In
buffering mode, the BWC records video (without audio) in short, predetermined intervals that are
retalned only temporarily. However, when a BWC is activated, the interval recorded immediately
prior to activation is then stored as part of the BWC media. Deactivate does not mean poweting
off the BWC.

Event - A general term referring to a set of circumstances that may, but does not necessarily,
correlate directly to a single public safety incident.

431.2 POLICY

It is the policy of the Depariment to use BWCs and BWC media for evidence collection and to
accurately document events in a way that promotes member safety and department accountability
and transparency while also protecting the privacy of members of the public.

431.3 RESPONSIBILITIES

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2025/11/03, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 1
Pubilshed with permission by Clinton PD :



Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras

431.3.1 BWC COORDINATOR RESPONSIBILITIES

The Chief of Police or the authorized designee should delegate certain responsibilities to a BWC
coordinator.

The responsibilities of the coordinator include:

a. Serving as a liaison between the Department and the BWC manufacturer/distributor and
any third-party media storage vendor.

b. Developing inventory procedures for issuing and tracking BWC equipment, including
properly marking BWCs as property of the Department and recording the date each BWC is
placed into or taken out of service.

c. Assisting with troubleshooting and maintenance of BWC equipment and media systems
and, when necessary, coordinating the repair or replacement of BWCs.

1. All equipment and system malfunctions and their resolutions should be documented,
and maintenance and repair records should be maintained for all BWCs.

d. Managing BWC media systems so that:

1. Access is limited to the minimum necessary authorized users and user privileges are
restricted to those necessary for the member to conduct assigned department duties.

2. Security requirements, such as two-factor authentication and appropriate password
parameters, are in place for user credentials.

e. Configuring BWC media systems, or developing manual procedures, so that media is
appropriately categorized and retained according to the event type tagged by members.

f. Retaining audit logs or records of all access, alteration, and deletion of BWC media and
media systems, and conducting periodic audits to ensure compliance with applicable laws,
regulations, and department policy.

g. Developing and updating BWC training for members who are assigned a BWC or given
access to BWC media systems.

h. Coordinating with the community relations coordinator to (see the Community Relations
Policy):

1. Provide the public with notice of the department's use of BWCs (e.g., posting on the
department website or social media pages).
2. Gain insight into community expectations regarding BWC use.

i. Coordinating with the Information Specialist to (see the Records Unit and Records
Maintenance and Release policies).

1. Determine and apply proper retention periods to BWC media.
2. Develop procedures for the appropriate release of BWC media.

j. Coordinating with the Evidence Room to develop procedures for the transfer, storage, and

backup of evidentiary BWC media (see the Property and Evidence Policy).

431.3.2 MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES

Every member issued a BWC is responsible for its proper use, safekeeping, and maintenance.

Copyright Lextipol, LLC 2025/11/05, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 2
Published with permission by Clinton PD




Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras

At the beginning of each shift or period of BWC use, the member should inspect their assigned
BWC to confirm it is charged and in good working order. As part of the inspection, the member
should perform a function test by activating the BWC and recording a brief video stating their
name, identification number, assignment, and the date and time.

Members should wear their assigned BWC on their outermost garment positioned at or near chest
level and as close to the center of their body as practicable. Members are responsible for
ensuring there are no obstructions and that the BWC remains in a position suitable for recording.

When a BWC is not in the physical possession of the member to which it is assigned, it should be
placed on the charging dock and stored in a secure location.

Members shall report any malfunction or damage to the BWC coordinator or on-duty supervisor
as soon as practicable and, if possible, obtain a functioning BWC to use either temporarily while
repairs are being made to the member's BWC or as a permanent replacement.

431.4 BWC USE
The following guidelines apply to the use of BWCs:

a. Only department-issued BWCs should be used. Members are prohibited from using any
other BWC without the express consent of the Chief of Police or the authorized designee.

b. BWCs should only be used by the member or members to whom it was issued unless
otherwise authorized by a supervisor.

c. The use of department-issued BWCs shall be strictly limited to department-related activities.

d. Members shall not use BWCs or BWC media systems for which they have not received
prior authorization and appropriate training.

e. Members shall immediately report unauthorized access or use of BWCs or BWC media
systems by ancother member to their supervisor ar the Chief of Police.

431.4.1 PROHIBITIONS

BWCs should not be used to record:

a. Routine administrative activities of the Department that do not involve interactions with the
public. Care should be taken to avoid incidentally recording confidential documents that the
Department has a duty to keep secure {i.e., criminal justice information).

b. Areas within the department facilities where members have a reasonable expectation of
privacy (e.g., locker rooms or dressing areas, breakrooms} unless responding to a call for
service or conducting an investigation.

c. Conversations of other members without their knowledge.
d. When a member is taking an authorized break or otherwise engaged in personal activities.
e. In a couttroom unless responding to a call for service or emergency situation.
f. Interactions with undercover officers or confidential informants.
g. Strip searches.
Copyright Lexipal, LLC 2025/11/05, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 3

Published with permission by Clinton PD



Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras

BWCs shall not be used for the purpose of embarrassment, harassment, or ridicule of any
individual or group.

431.5 ACTIVATION OF BWC

Members should activate their BWC during all calls for service and the performance of law
enforcement-related functions. Members are not required to activate their BWC during casual or
informal contacts with members of the public that are not part of or related to law enforcement
functions. However, members should activate their BWC any time a contact with an individual
becomes hostile or adversarial.

Unless otherwise authorized by this policy or approved by a supervisor, BWCs should remain
activated until the call for service or law enforcement-related function has concluded. A member
may cease recording if they are simply waiting for a tow truck or a family member to arrive, of in
other similar situations.

At no time is a member expected to jeopardize their safety to activate their BWC. However, the
BWC should be activated as soon as reasonably practicable in required situations.

If a member attempts to activate their BWG but the BWC fails to record an event, the member
should notify their supervisor as soon as practicable.

431.5.1 NOTICE OF RECORDING

Unless otherwise approved based on unique circumstances, a member should wear the BWC in a
manner that is conspicuous and shall answer truthfully if asked whether they are equipped with a
BWGC or if their BWC is activated.

431.5.2 PRIVACY CONSIDERATIONS

Members should remain sensitive to the dignity of individuals being recorded and should exercise
sound discretion with respect to privacy concerns,

When responding to a place where individuals have an expectation of privacy (e.g., private
residences, medical or mental health facilities, restrooms) or to a sensitive situation (e.g.,
individuals partially or fully unclothed), members are permitted to mute or deactivate their BWC if
it reasonably appears that the privacy concern outweighs any legitimate department interest in
recording the event. Members may also mute or deactivate their BWC:

To protect the privacy of a victim or witness.

When an individual wishes to provide information anonymously.

To avoid recording a confidential informant or undercover officer.

When discussing case tactics or strategy.

During private conversations with other members or emergency responders.

® oo T oM

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2025/11/05, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 4
Pubiished with permission by Clinton PD



Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Poficy

Body-Worn Cameras

Members should choose to mute rather than deactivate BWCs when practicable. Deactivation
should only be used when muting the BWC will not accomplish the level of privacy necessary for
the situation.

Before muting or deactivating their BWC, the member should verbally narrate the reason on the
recording. As soon as possible once the privacy concern is no longer an issue, or when
circumstances change so that the privacy concern no longer outweighs the department's interest
in recording the event (e.g., the individual becomes combative, the conversation ends), the
member should unmute or reactivate their BWC and verbally note that recording has resumed.

431.5.3 LIVESTREAMING

Livestreaming enables authorized individuals fo remotely view the audio and video captured by a
member's BWG in real time. Only supervisors and dispatchers approved by the Chief of Police or
the authorized designee shall have access to livestreaming capabilities.

Livestreaming should only be activated:

a. For purposes of member safety when the member is not responding to their radio or there
is some other indication of distress.

b. To assist with situational awareness or tactical decisions during a significant incident.

c. When requested by the member.

431.5.4 DOCUMENTATION

Members are encouraged to provide narration while using a BWC when it would be useful to
provide context or clarification of the events being recorded. However, the use of a BWG is not a
replacement for written reports and should not be referred to in a written report in place of
detailing the event.

Every report prepared by a member who is issued a BWC should state "BWC available” or "BWC
unavailable," as applicable, and should document:

a. To the extent practicable and relevant, the identity of individuals appearing in the BWC
media.

b. An explanation of why BWC media is unavailable including any malfunction, damage, or
battery issue that resulted in the faiture of the BWC to capture all or part of the event.

c. Any exigency or other circumstances that prevented the member from immediately
activating the recording at the beginning of the event.

d. Any period of the event in which the member deactivated or muted their BWC and the
reason for such action,

e. If livestreaming was activated during the event, the reason for livestreaming and the
members who communicated or participated in the event through BWC livestreaming.

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2025/11/05, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 5
Published with permission by Clinton PD



Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras

431.6 UPLOADING BWC MEDIA

Unless otherwise authorized by a supervisor, all media from a member's BWC should be properly
uploaded and tagged before the end of their shift. BWC media related to a serious or high-profile
event (e.g., search for a missing child, active shooter situation) should be uploaded and tagged as
soon as practicable upon returning to the Department.

Following an officer involved shooting or death or other event deemed necessary, a supsrvisor
should take possession of the BWC for each member present and upload and tag the BWC media.

431.6.1 TAGGING BWC MEDIA

Members should tag all media captured by their BWC with their name and/or identification
number, the case or incident number, and the event type. BWC media should be tagged upon
uploading or, if capabilities permit tagging in the field, as close to the time of the event as
possible. If more than one event type applies to BWC media, it should be tagged with each event
type. If BWC media can only be tagged with a single event type, the media should be tagged
using the event type with the longest retention period.

BWC media depicting sensitive circumstances or events should be tagged as restricted. BWC
media should be flagged for supervisor review when it pertains to a significant event such as:

a. An incident that is the basis of a formal or informal complaint or is likely to resuit in a
complaint,

b. When a member has sustained a serious injury or a line-of-duty death has occurred.

¢. When a firearm discharge or use of force incident has occurred.

d. An event that has attracted or is likely to attract significant media attention.

Supervisors should conduct audits at regular intervals to confirm BWC media is being properly
uploaded and tagged by their subordinates.

431.7 BWC MEDIA

All BWGC media is the sole property of the Department. Members shall have no expectation of
privacy or ownership interest in the content of BWC media.

All BWC media shall be stored and transferred in a manner that is physically and digitally secure
with appropriate safeguards to prevent unauthorized modification, use, release, or transfer.
Contracts with any third-party vendors for the storage of BWC media should include provisions
specifying that all BWC media remains the property of the Department and shall not be used by
the vendor for any purpose without explicit approval of the Chief of Police or the authorized
designee.

Copyright Laxipol, LLC 2025/11/05, All Rights Reserved. Bedy-Worn Cameras - 6
Pablished with permission by Clinton PD




Clinton PD Policy Manual

lLaw Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras

Members shall not alter, copy, delete, release, or permit access to BWC media other than as
permitted in this policy without the express consent of the Chief of Police or the authorized
designes.

BWC media systems should not be accessed using personal devices unless authorized by the
Chief of Police or the authorized designee.

431.7.1 ACCESS AND USE OF BWC MEDIA

BWC media systems shall only be accessed by authorized members using the member's own
login credentials and in accordance with the Information Technology Use Policy.

BWC media shall only be accessed and viewed for legitimate department-related purposes in
accordance with the following guidelines:

a. BWC media tagged as restricted should only be accessible by those designated by the
Chief of Police or the authorized designee.

b. Members may review their own BWC media for department-related purposes. Members
should document in their report if they reviewed BWGC media before completing the report.

c. Investigators may review BWC media pertaining to their assigned cases.

d. A member testifying regarding a department-related event may review the pertinent BWC
media before testifying.

e. Supervisors are permitted to access and view BWC media of their subordinates.

1. Supervisors should review BWC media that is tagged as a significant event or that
the supervisor is aware pertains to a significant event,

2. Supervisors should conduct documented reviews at least annually of their
subordinate's BWC media fo evaluate the member's performance, verify compliance
with department procedures, and determine the need for additional training. The
review should include a variety of event types when possible. Supervisors should
review BWC media with the recording member when it would be beneficial to provide
guidance or to conduct one-on-one informal training for the member,

3. Supervisors should conduct periodic reviews of a sample of each subordinate’s BWC
media to evaluate BWC use and ensure compliance with this policy.

f. The Training Captain is permitted to access and view BWC media for training purposes.

1. The Training Captain should conduct a quarterly review of a random sampling of
BWC media to evaluate department performance and effectiveness and to identify
specific areas where additional training or changes to protocols would be beneficial.
Training Committee members may review BWC media as part of their review to
identify training needs.

2. The Training Captain may use BWC media for training purposes with the approval of
the Chief of Police or the authorized designee. The Training Captain should use
caution to avoid embarrassing or singling out a member and, to the extent
practicable, should seek consent from the members appearing in the BWC media

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2025/11/05, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 7
Published with permission by Clinton PD




Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras

before its use for training. When practicable, sensitive issues depicted in BWC media
should be redacted before being used for training.
g. The Information Specialist may access BWC media when necessary to conduct department-
related duties.
h. The BWC coordinator may access BWC media and the BWC media system as needed to
ensure the system is functioning properly, provide troubleshooting assistance, conduct
audits, and fulfill other responsibilities related {o their role.

431.7.2 PUBLIC ACCESS

Untess disclosure is required by law or a court order, BWC media should not be released to the
public if it unreasonably violates a person's privacy or sense of dignity or depicts the interior of:

a. A private residence. ‘

b. A facility that offers health care, mental health or substance abuse treatment, or social
services.

¢. A school building.

d. Any other building in which public access is restricted or which implicates heightened
security concerns.

Requests for the release of BWC media shall be processed in accordance with the Records
Maintenance and Release Policy. The Information Specialist should review BWC media before
public release.

431.8 RETENTION OF BWC MEDIA

Non-evidentiary BWC media should be retained in accordance with state records retention laws.

Unless circumstances justify continued retention, BWC media should be permanently deleted
upon the expiration of the retention period in a way that it cannot be retrieved. BWC media shall
not otherwise be deleted by any person without the authorization of the Chief of Police or the
atthorized designee.

431.8.1 EVIDENTIARY BWC MEDIA

BWC media relevant to a criminal prosecution should be exported from the BWC media system
and securely transferred to digital evidence storage according to established department
procedures. Evidentiary BWC media is subject to the same laws, policies, and procedures as all
other evidence, including chain of custody, accessibility, and retention periods (see the Property
and Evidence Policy).

431.9 TRAINING

The BWC coordinator should ensure that each member issued a BWC receives initial fraining
before use, and periodic refresher training thereafter. Training should include:

Copyright Lexipol, LL.C 2025/11/05, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 8
Published with parmission by Glinton PD




Clinton PD Policy Manual

Law Enforcement Policy

Body-Worn Cameras

Proper use of the BWC device and accessories.

When BWC activation is required, permitted, and prohibited.

How to respond to an individual's request to stop recording.

Proper use of the BWC media systems, including uploading and tagging procedures.
Security procedures for BWC media, including appropriate access and use.

®© a0 Toe

Members who are not issued a BWGC but who have access to BWC media systems shall receive
training on the BWC media system, including appropriate access, use, and security procedures.

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 202511105, All Rights Reserved. Body-Worn Cameras - 9
Pubiished with permission by Clinton PD




101 E. OHIO ST.
CLINTON, MO 64735

CLlTON, MlSOURI PHONE: (660) 885-2679

To: Captain Paul Abbott and Sergeant Mike Nelson
From: Officer Joe Hartwick

Date: 11/13/2025

Reference: Resignation

It is with regret that | inform you of my resignation request. Due to circumstances
out of my family’s control, | have accepted a position with Johnson County Sheriffs
department in order to move closer to my wife's job in Lee Summit. | will be starting my
position as a Deputy with Johnson County on 11/17/25, making 11/13/25 my last day of
employment with the city of Clinton.

| have great respect for the city of Clinton and the Police Department for affording
me the opportunity of serving the citizens of Clinton as a Polce Officer.

Thank you
Officer Hartwick

FAX: (660) 885-7096



FINANCE COMMITTEE OPEN MEETING AGENDA
City Hall « 105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, MO
Tuesday, November 18, 2025 ¢ 5:30 p.m.

Present:

COMMITTEE MEMBERS: L) Gene Henry O Gary Mount [ Mayor Carla Moberly
STAFF: [ City Administrator Christy Maggi O City Clerk Wendee Seaton

GUESTS:

1. Amendment #2 of MoDOT Agreement to Reseal and Remark Runway 18/36 and Taxiway B.

Bill No. 2025-13 - An Ordinance of the City of Clinton regarding Amendment #2 to a Grant
Agreement between the City of Clinton (CITY) and the Missouri Highways and Transportation
Commission (COMMISSION) to Reseal and Remark Runway 18/36 and Taxiway B.

2. Report from 2025 LAGERS meeting by Employee Representative Mark Manuel.

If you reguire accoramadation (i.e. qualified interpreter, large print, and hearing assistance), please notify this office at (660-885-6121})
no later than forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of the meeting.




Bill No. 2025-13
ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CLINTON REGARDING AMENDMENT #2 TO A GRANT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF CLINTON {CITY) AND THE MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION
COMMISSION {COMMISSION) TO RESEAL AND REMARK RUNWAY 18/36 AND TAXIWAY B.

WHEREAS, the parties entered into an Agreement on May 30, 2023 to Reseal and Remark Runway 18/36
and Taxiway B; and ' ‘

WHEREAS, the parties approved Amendment #1 on April 19, 2024; and
WHEREAS, the Commission has approved additional funding to cover the remaining project costs;
BE iT HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF CLINTON, MISSOURI AS FOLLOWS:

1. The Mayor is authorized to execute Amendment #2 to State Block Grant Agreement for Project No.
22-022A-1 with the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission, in the amount not fo
exceed One Hundred Ten Thousand Five Hundred Thirty-Eight Dollars and Zero cents ($110,538.00).

2. The City commits local matching funds not to exceed Five Thousand Eight Hundred Eighteen
Dollars and Zero cents {$5,818.00). '

3. All ordinances or parts of ordinances therefore enacted which are in conflict herewith are hereby
repealed.

4. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after the date of its passage and approval.

Read the first time this day of , 2025,
Read a second time and passed this day of , 2025,

Carla Moberly, Presiding Officer
ATTEST:

Ayes
Nays

Wendee Seaton, City Clerk

Carla Moberly, Mayor




CCO Form: MO18

Approved:  05/94 (MLH) Sponsor: City of Clinton

Revised: 07/25 (MWH) Project No. 22-022A-1

Modified:

CFDA Number: CFDA #20.106

CFDA Title: Airport Improvement Program

Federal Agency: Federal Aviation Administration, Department of Transportation

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION
AMENDMENT TO STATE BLOCK GRANT AGREEMENT

AMENDMENT #2

THIS. AMENDMENT AGREEMENT is entered into by the Missouri Highways and
Transportation Commission (hereinafter, "Commission") and City of Clinfon (hereinatter,
"Sponsor").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the parties entered into an Agreement, 2023-02-76076, executed by
the Sponsor on May 30, 2023, and executed by the Commission on May 30, 2023,
(hereinafter, "Original Agreement") under which the Commission granted the sum not to
exceed Forty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred Forty-Six Dollars ($44,946) to the Sponsor
to assist with Reseal And Remark Runway 18/36 And Taxiway B, and

WHEREAS, the parties entered into an Amendment #1, 2024-02-83373, executed
by the Sponsor on April 17, 2024, and executed by the Commission on April 19, 2024,
(hereinafter, "Original Agreement") under which the Commission granted the sum not to
exceed One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000) to the Sponsor to assist with
Reseal And Remark Runway 18/36 And Taxiway B; and

WHEREAS, the Commission previously approved funds for Reseal And Remark
Runway 18/36 And Taxiway B; and

WHEREAS, the level of funding originally approved is not sufficient to cover the
costs associated with Reseal And Remark Runway 18/36 And Taxiway B.

WHEREAS, the Commission has sufficient funds to increase the grant amount for
Reseal And Remark Runway 18/36 And Taxiway B.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenanis, promises, and
representations in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows:

(1)  ADDITIONAL GRANT: The Commission grants to the Sponsor an additional
sum not to exceed One Hundred Ten Thousand Five Hundred Thirty-Seven Dollars
($110,538.00) for Reseal And Remark Runway 18/36 And Taxiway B subject to the

-




following conditions:

(A)  The Sponsor shall provide matching funds of not less than Five
Thousand Eight Hundred Eighteen Dollars ($5,818.00) toward the project in addition to
those previously commifted by the Sponsor in the Original Agreement.

(B)  The project will be carried out in accordance with the assurances
(Exhibit 1) given by the Sponsor to the Commission as specified in the Original
Agreement.

(C) This Amendment shall expire and the Commission shall not be
obligated to pay any part of the costs of the project unless this grant amendment has
been executed by the Sponsor on or before December 31, 2025, or such subsequent
date as may be prescribed in writing by the Commission.

(D) Based upon the revised project schedule, the original project time
period of December 31, 2024, will be extended to December 31, 2027, to allow for
completion of the work. Paragraph (2) of the Original Agreement is hereby amended
accordingly.

(2) ORIGINAL AGREEMENT: Except as otherwise moadified, amended, or
supplemented by this Amendment Agreement, the Original Agreement and all previous
Amendment Agreements between the parties shall remain in full force and effect and shall
extend and apply to this Amendment Agreement as if fully written in this Amendment
Agreement.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

2-




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Agreement on the date
last written below.

Executed by Sponsor on (date).

Executed by Commission on (date).

MISSOURI HIGHWAYS AND

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION CITY OF CLINTON
By: _ By:
Title: Title:
Attfest: Attest:
By:
Secretary to the Commission
Title:
Approved as to Form: Approved as to Form:
By:
Commission Counsel
Title:

Ordinance No.:
(if applicable)




CERTIFICATE OF SPONSOR'S ATTORNEY

l, , acting as attorney for the Sponsor do
hereby certify that in my opinion the Sponsor is empowered to enter into the foregoing
grant Agreement under the laws of the State of Missouri. Further, | have examined the
foregoing grant Agreement and the actions taken by said Sponsor and Sponsor's official
representative have been duly authorized and that the execution thereof is in all respects
due and proper and in accordance with the laws of the said state and the Airport and
Airway Improvement Act of 1982, as amended. In addition, for grants involving projects
to be carried out on property not owned by the Sponsor, there are no legal impediments
that will prevent full performance by the Sponsor. Further, it is my opinion that the said
grant constitutes a legal and binding obligation of the Sponsor in accordance with the
terms thereof.

CITY OF CLINTON

Name of Sponsor's Attorney (typed)

Signature of Sponsor's Attorney

Date




November 14, 2025

Mayor Moberly and City Council Members,

After much consideration, | am announcing that | will retire from my position as City
Administrator, effective October 30, 2026. | feel that giving early notice of my pending retirement is
necessary in order to provide adequate time for you to work through the process of hiring a new City
Administrator.

| began my employment with the City on August 7, 1995. During the first two years, | was
involved in general administrative work. 1 served as Economic Development Coordinator the next
ten years. On October 1, 2007, | started my tenure as City Administrator. Each position provided a
variety of learning opportunities and immense gratification. | have thoroughly enjoyed the past 30+
years of employment with the City of Clinton.

As we work through the next eleven months, there will be much for you and me to do. [ am
certainly willing to provide whatever assistance is appropriate during the search and hiring process.

Regards,

. Iy

Christina A. Maggi
City Administrator

105 E. Ohio Street, Clinton, Missouri 64735-2131
(660) 885-6121 Fax: (660) 885-2023




BILL NO. 2025-14

ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A PLAN FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT; AUTHORIZING THE
ISSUANCE OF TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS IN A MAXIMUM AGGREGATE
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED $29,100,000; AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND
ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH.

WHEREAS, the City of Clinton, Missouri, a third class city and political subdivision of the State of Missouri
{the “City”} is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Article VI, Section 27(b} of the Missouri
Constitution, as amended, and Sections 100.010 to 100,200, inclusive, of the Revised Statutes of Missouri,
as amended, and the Charter of the City {collectively, the “Act”}, to issue its revenue bonds for the purpose
of carrying out a project or projects under the Act, such revenue bonds to be paid solely from revenue
received from such project, and to enter into a lease of the facilities financed with the proceeds of such
revenue bonds with any person, firm or corporation; and

WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal for a project consisting of the acquisition and installation of
equipment to be used in the manufacturing of food products (the “Equipment”) to be located at 935 E.
Nusbaum Place in Clinton, Missouri; and

WHEREAS, the City, in accordance with Section 100.050 of the Act, prepared a plan for an industrial
development project (the “Plan”), gave notice of the Plan to the taxing jurisdictions in accordance with
Section 100.059.1 of the Act, and held a public hearing regarding the Plan on November 18, 2025; and

WHEREAS, the City now desires to approve the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the City desires to provide tax abatement for the Equipment through the proceeds of a series
of industrial development revenue bonds to be issued under the Act (the “Bonds”); and

WHEREAS, the City does hereby find and determine that it is desirable for the economic development of
the City and within the public purposes of the Act that the City issue the Bonds for the Equipment, which
Equipment shall be leased by the City to Schreiber Foods, Inc., or an affiliate designated by such entity
(the “Company”), with an option to purchase; and

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the issuance of the Bonds, the City will lease the Equipment to the
Company, and enter into a Performance Agreement with the Company under which the Company will
agree to certain terms relating to property tax abatement on the Equipment; and

WHEREAS, the City further finds and determines that it is necessary and desirable in connection with the
Plan, the Equipment and the issuance of the Bonds that the City enter into certain documents, and that
the City take certain other actions and approve the execution of certain other documents as herein
provided;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI, AS
FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Approval .of Plan; Authorization for the Equipment. The City hereby approves the Plan
attached hereto as Exhibit A in accordance with Section 100.050 of the Act. The City is hereby
authorized to provide for the acquisition and installation of the Equipment, to take title to the
Equipment and to lease the Equipment to the Company, all in the manner and as more
particularly described in the Indenture and the Lease hereinafter defined and authorized.




Section 2.

Section 3.

Section 4.

Section 5.

Authorization of the Bonds. The City is hereby authorized to issue and sell the Bonds in a
maximum aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $29,100,000, for the purpose of
providing funds to pay the costs of the Equipment. The Bonds shall be issued and secured
pursuant to the herein authorized Indenture and shall bear such date, shall mature at such
time, shall be in such denominations, shall bear interest at such rates, shall be in such form,
shall be subject to redemption and other terms and conditions, and shall be issued in such
manner, subject to such provisions, covenants and agreements, as are set forth in the
indenture.

Sale and Terms of Bonds; Authorization and Execution of Purchase Agreement. The Bonds
will be sold to the Company under the terms of a Bond Purchase Agreement dated as of the
date set forth therein {the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), between the City and the Company.
The maximum aggregate principal amount of the Bonds shall be $29,100,000, the interest
rate on the Bonds shall not exceed 7.00%, principal shall be payable at maturity, the Bonds
shall be purchased at 100% of the principal amount thereof and the Bonds may be redeemed
at any time at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest.

Limitation on Liability. The Bonds and the interest thereon shall be limited obligations of the
City payable solely out of certain payments, revenues and receipts derived by the City from
the Lease described below, and such payments, revenues and receipts shall be pledged and
assigned to the Trustee named below as security for the payment of the Bonds as provided in
the indenture. The Bonds and the interest thereon shall not constitute general obligations of
the City or the State of Missouri, and neither the City nor said State shall be liable thereon. The
Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional or
statutory debt limitation or restriction, and are not payable in any manner by taxation.

Authorization of Documents. The City is hereby authorized to enter into the following
documents (the “City Documents”}, in substantially the forms on file in the records of the City,
with such changes therein as shall be approved by the officials of the City executing such
documents, such officials’ signatures thereon being conclusive evidence of their approval
thereof:

(a) Trust Indenture dated as of the date set forth therein (the “Indenture”), between the City
and the trustee named therein (the “Trustee”), pursuant to which the Bonds shall be
issued and the City shall pledge the Equipment and assign certain of the payments,
revenues and receipts received pursuant to the Lease to the Trustee for the benefit and
security of the owners of the Bonds upon the terms and conditions as set forth in the
Indenture;

(b) Lease Agreement dated as of the date set forth therein (the “Lease”), between the City
and the Company, under which the City will acquire the Equipment and lease the
Equipment to the Company pursuant to the terms and conditions in said Lease, in
consideration of rental payments by the Company which will be sufficient to pay the
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds;

(c} Bond Purchase Agreement; and

(d) Performance Agreement dated as of the date set forth therein, between the City and the
Company.




Section 6.

Section 7.

Section 8.

Execution of Documents. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute the Bonds
and to deliver the Bonds to the Trustee for authentication for and on behalf of and as the act
and deed of the City in the manner provided in the Indenture. The Mayor or City
Administrator is hereby authorized and directed to execute the City Documents and such
other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out
and comply with the intent of this Ordinance, for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of
the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the
seal of the City to the Bonds and the City Documents and such other documents, certificates
and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of
this Ordinance. '

Further Authority. The Mayor, City Administrator and other officials, agents and employees
of the City as required are hereby authorized and directed to, take such further action, and
execute such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable
to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance and to carry out, comply with and
perform the duties of the City with respect to the Bonds and the City Documents, including
any Financing Documents or related documents described under the City Documents.

Effective Date. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and
approval.

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank.]



Read the first time this day of , 2025,
Read a second time and passed this day of , 2025,

Carla Moberly, Presiding Officer
ATTEST:

Ayes
MNays

Wendee Seaton, City Clerk

Carla Moberly, Mayor



BILL NO, 2025-14
EXHIBIT A

PLAN FOR INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT




BEFORE THE

CITY COUNCIL

OF

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI

PLAN FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT

FORTHE

SCHREIBER PROJECT

Sent: October 27, 2025




PLAN FOR AN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECT FOR THE
SCHREIBER PROJECT

TO: CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI

Schreiber Foods, Inc. (the “Company™) has proposed this plan for an industrial development
project as described herein to City of Clinton, Missouri (the “City”), for approval, to be carried out
pursuant to Article VI, Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution, as amended, Sections 100.010 to
100.200, inclusive, of the Missouri Revised Statutes, as amended, and in support of said application
submits the following:

i.

Description of the Project. The Project consists of acquiring and installing equipment
(the “Equipment™) in an industrial space located at 935 E. Nusbaum Place in Clinton,
Missouri. '

Estimate of the Cost of the Project. The total cost of the Project is estimated to be
$29,035,802, consisting entirely of costs related to the personal property comprising the
Equipment.

Source of Funds to be Expended for the Project. The source of funds to be expended
for the Project will be the proceeds of $29,100,000 estimated aggregate principal amount
of taxable industrial revenue bonds (the “Bonds™) to be issued by the City for the Project
and to pay costs of issuance of the Bonds.

Statement of the Terms Upon Which the Project is to be Leased and Otherwise
Disposed of by the City. The Project will be leased (with an option to purchase) to the
Company or its designee. The lease payments collectively will equal the principal and
interest on the Bonds plus certain payments in lieu of taxes. The Bonds will be payable
solely from the revenues derived by the City from the lease or other disposition of the
Project and the Bonds will not be an indebtedness or general obligation, debt or liability
of the City.

General Information Concerning the Company and the Project. The Company is in
the business of manufacturing and distributing dairy products. The Equipment to be
acquired and installed includes a shred line and a chunk line.

Bond Purchase Arrangements. It is expected that the Company or an affiliate will
purchase the Bonds of the City in the estimated agpregate principal amount of
$29,100,000.

Affected Taxing Jurisdietions. The Clinton School District, the City and Henry County,
Missouri will be affected by the Project. No ambulance district board operating under
chapter 190 or fire protection district board operating under chapter 321 is atfected by the
Project. No community college district is affected by the Project. Other taxing
jurisdictions affected by the Project are set out in the Cost Benefit Analysis attached
hereto.




10.

Equalized Assessed Valuation. The most recent equalized assessed valuation of the
personal property to be included in the Project is $-0-. The estimated total equalized
assessed valuation after installation of the Project is $6,872,987.

Cost Benefit Analysig. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is the Cost Benefit Analysis on
each affected taxing jurisdiction, which assumes a 10-year tax abatement program for the
Project Equipment in which the Project Equipment receives 10 years of tax abatement
starting the year after installation. The rate of abatement is 75%. The Equipment is
assumed to be depreciated as shown in the Cost Benefit Analysis. The 2025 tax levy rates
were utilized for all jurisdictions.

The Project Equipment is assumed to be acquired in calendar year 2026 for purposes of
the abatement period shown in the Cost Benefit Analysis, but the abatement period may
occur at a different time than shown in the Cost Benefit Analysis depending on actual
implementation of the Project.

Payments in Lieu of Taxes. It is anticipated that the Company will make payments in
{icu of taxes during the 10-year abatement period for the Equipment at a rate of 25% of
the taxes that would be due were it not for the City’s ownership of the Equipment in
accordance with this plan. The amounts shown as payments in lieu of tax in Exhibit A
attached hereto are estimates and may change depending on the actual implementation of
the Project.

D




EXHIBIT A

COST BENEFIT ANALYSIS

[Attached.]




City of Clinton, Missouri
{Schreiber Foods, Inc.)

COST BENEFIT ANALYSIS

GILMOREBELL




Table of Contents

Project Assumptions

Summary of Cost Benefit Analysis (Personal Property)
Projected Tax Revenues Without Abatement
Projected PILOT Amount

Projected Tax Abatement

th B W —

‘This information is provided based on the factual information and assumptions provided to Gilmore & Bell, P.C. by
a party to or a representative of a parly to the proposed fransaction. This information is intended to provide factual
information onty and is provided in conjunction with our legal representation. It is not intended as financial advice

or a financial recommendation to any party. Gilmore & Bell, P.C, is not a financial advisor or a “municipal advisor”

as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

City of Clinton, Missouri
(Schreiber Foods, Inc.)
Cost Benefit Analysis 10/22/2025



*

+

&

+

+

Initial year taxes assessed

Original cost of personal property

Terms of abatement:

Project Assumptions

2027

$ 21,706,340

Yeay

iyl vl wiergl—~JRV-RN-NEN BN SL P S A

-
-3

City of Clinton, Missouri
{Schreiber Foods, Inc.)
Cost Benefit Analysis

Assessed value as a percentage of appraised value (personal) 33.33%
75.00%
Personal Property is depreciated using the following 15 year recovery period schedule;
Recovery Period in Years
3 5 7 10 15 20
100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
75.00% 85.00% 89.29% 92.50% 95.00% 96.25%
37.50% 59.50% 70.16% 78.62% 85.50% 89.03%
12.50% 41.65% 55.13% 66.83% 76.95% 82.35%
5.00% 24.99% 42.88% 56.81% 69.25% 76.18%
5.00% 10.00% 30.63% 48.07% 62.32% 70.46%
5.00% 10.00% 18.38% 39.33% 56.09% 65.18%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 30.59% 50.19% 60.29%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 21.85% 44.29% 55.77%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 38.38% 51.31%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 32.48% 46.85%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 26.57% 42.38%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 20.67% 37.92%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 15.00% 33.46%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 15.00% 29.00%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 15.00% 24.54%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 15.00% 20.08%
5.00% 10.00% 10.00% 15.00% 15.00% 20.00%
oA - 10/22/2025




Summary of Cost Benefit Analysis

(Personal Property)
Projected Tax Projected
Revenues Without  PILOT Projected Tax
Taxing Jurisdiction Tax Rate Abatement Amount Abatement
Henry County 0.0142 % 6,271 § 1,568 % 4,704
Health Center 0.0792 34,978 8,745 26,234
Senior Citizen Service Tax 0.0396 17,489 4,372 13,117
Clinton School District 3.8332 1,692,909 423,227 1,269,681
Fields Creek Township 0.1445 63,818 15,954 47,863
Fields Creek Special Road District 0.3218 142,121 35,530 106,591
Henry County Library 0.1588 70,133 17,533 52,600
City of Clinton 0.5585 246,658 61,665 184,994
State of Missouri 0.0300 13,249 3,312 9,937
5.1798 $ 2,287,626 % 571,906 $ 1,715,719
City of Clinton, Missouri
(Schreiber Foods, Inc.)
-2 - 10722/2025

Cost Benefit Analysis




Projected Tax Revenues Without Abatement

Estimated Assessed Value of Personal Property $6,872,987 56,185,688 §5,567,119 $5,010,046 $4,508,679 $4,057,956  $3,631,108 $3,204,259 $2,776,687 $2,349,838
Tax Raie per i
Taxing Jurisdiction $100 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 Total
Henry County 00142 $ 976 & 878 % 91§ 711 B 640§ 576 § 516§ 455 3 394 8§ 334 § 6271
Health Center 0.0792 5,443 4,859 4,409 3,968 3,571 3,214 2,876 2,538 2,199 1,861 34,978
Senior Citizen Service Tax 0,0396 2,722 2450 - 2,205 1,984 1,785 1,607 1,438 1,269 1,100 931 17.489
Clinton Schoot District 3.8332 263,455 237,11¢ 213,399 192,045 172,827 155,550 135,188 122,826 106,436 90,074 1,692,909
Fields Creek Township 0.1445 4,951 8,938 8,044 7.240 6,515 5,864 5,247 4,630 4,012 3,356 63,818
Fields Creek Special Road District 03218 22,117 19,906 17,915 16,122 14,509 13,05% 11,685 10,311 8,935 7,562 142,121
Henry County Library 0.1588 10,914 9,823 8,841 7,956 7,160 6,444 5,766 5,088 " 4409 3,732 70,133
City of Clinton 0.5585 38,386 34,547 31,092 27,981 25,181 22,664 20,280 17,896 15,508 13,124 246,658
State of Missouri 0.0300 2062 1,856 1,670 1,503 1,353 1,217 1,089 961 833 705 13,249
51798 § 356007 & 320406 § 288366 § 259,510 § 233541 § 2101 o4 § 1BG084 § 165974 § 143,827 § 121717 $2287626
{ Tersonal Property Assessed Value {15-Year Depreciation)
2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036
21,706,340 6,872,987 6,185,688 5,567,119 5,010,046 4,508,679 4,057,956 3,631,108 3,204239 2,776,687 2,349,833
City of Clindon, Missouri
{Schreiber Foods, Inc)
10/22/2025

Cost Benefit Analysis -3 -




Estimated Assessed Value of Personal Property

Prejected PELOT Amount

$ 6,872,987 §6,185,688 § 5,567,119 § 5010,046 § 4,508,679 $ 4,057,936 $ 3,631,108 53204259 § 2,776,687 3 2,349,838

PILOT Paymemt 25% 25% 5% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%
Tax Rate per .
Taxing Jurisdiction 3100 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 Total
Henry County 00142 § 244 3 220 % 198 3 178§ 160§ 44 3§ 129 § 14 ¥ 99 3 ¥ 1,568
Health Center 040792 1,361 1,225 1,102 992 393 403 719 634 550 465 8,745
Senior Citizen Service Tax 0.0396 680 612 551 496 446 402 359 317 275 213 4,372
Clinton School District 318332 65,864 59277 53,350 48,011 43,207 38,887 34,797 30,706 26,609 22,518 423,227
Fields Creek Towmship 0.1445 2,483 2,235 2,011 1,810 1,62% 1,466 1,312 1,158 1,003 849 15,954
Fields Creek Speciat Road District 0.3218 3,529 4,976 4,479 4,031 3,627 3,265 2,921 2,578 2,234 1,850 35,530
Henry County Library 0.1588 2,729 2,456 2,210 1,989 1,790 1,611 1,442 1,272 1,102 933 17,533
City of Clinton 0.5583 9,596 8,637 1,773 6,995 6,295 5,666 5,070 4,474 3,871 3,281 61,665
Slate of Missours 0.0300 515 464 418 376 338 304 272 240 208 176 3,312
51798 § 80002 § 80102 $ 72001 § 64878 § 58385 § 52,549 § 47,021 $ 41,494 § 35057 30429 3 571,906
Citp of Clinton, Missonri
(Sehreiber Foods, Inc.}
- 10/22/2625

Cost Benefit Analpsis




Projected Tax Abatement

Estimated Assessed Value of Personal Property 56,872,987 $6,185688 $5567,119 35010046 $4.308,679 4,057,956 $3,631,108  $3,204,259 $2,776,687 52,349,838

Abatement Percentage 5% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 15% 75% 75% 75%
Tax Rate per

Taxing Jurisdiction £100 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 Totat

Henry County 00142 § 732§ 659 % 593 § 53¢ § 480§ 432 % 387 3 341 § 296 § 250 § 4,704
Health Center 00792 4,083 3,674 3,307 2,976 2,678 2410 2,157 1,903 1,649 1,396 26,234
Senior Cilizen Service Tax 0.0396 2,041 1,837 1,653 1,488 1,339 1,205 1,078 952 825 698 13,187
Clinton 8chool District 3.8332 197,582 177832 160,048 144,034 129,620 116,662 104,391 92,119 79,827 67,555 1,269,681
Fiels Creek Township 0.1445 7,449 6,704 6,033 5,430 4,886 4,308 3,935 3,473 3,009 2,547 47,863
Fields Creek Special Read District 03218 16,588 14,929 13,436 12,092 10,882 9,794 3,764 1,733 6,702 5,671 106,591
Henry County Library 0.1588 8,186 7,367 6,630 5,967 5370 4,833 4,325 3,816 3,307 2,799 52,600
City of Clinton 0.5585 28,789 25910 23,319 20,986 18,886 16,998 15,210 13,422 11,631 0,843 184,994
State of Missouri 0,0300 1,546 1,392 1,253 1,127 1,014 913 817 721 625 529 9,937

51798 § 267.005 § 240305 § 216274 & 194633 § 175155 § 157646 § 141063 § 124481 3 167,876 § 91,288 §],715,719

City of Clintont, Missonri
(Schreiber Foods, Tuc)

Cost Benefit Analysis -§- 1672272025




TRUST INDENTURE

Dated as of December 1, 2025

between the

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI,

AND

UMB BANK, N.A.,
as Trustee

Relating to:

$29,100,000
(Aggregate Maximum Principal Amount)
City of Clinton, Missouri
Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds
(Schreiber Project)
Series 2025




TRUST INDENTURE

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
PATHIES  eoevrveveesreseeeseaseresnriareeinsenssssesats vaeasteareasasae s set b e e R e LS a s GEE RS TSR AT £ SRS R €T E TR AL e e Sneebetrrtee 1
RECIEAIS  ereeeeeeeeereerearmaom it sesssrasssssessssasasasssenesse bbb e R e o b baas s 48 e P b e R sE e o R B L o6 b1 E e R A4 R E ST SR AT s I
GIANHNE CLAUSES 1vvveveectccrtcreiieimie st s bbb b0 1
ARTICLEI
DEFINITIONS

Section 101.  Definitions of Words and TeImiS .....c.cooeiiiiiiiniinsrecs s 3
Section 102,  Rules of INerPretation. . ...t b s 7

ARTICLE IX

THE BONDS
Section 201.  Title and Amount of BONdS...oovvev e 8
Section 202.  Nature of OBIEATON ..ot st e e e 8
Section 203.  Denomination, Number and Dating of the Bonds........oeein 8
Section 204.  Method and Place of Payment of Bonds ... 8
Section 205.  Execution and Authentication of Bonds.......cii i, 9
Section 206.  Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds ... 9
Section 207.  Persons Deemed Owners of BONAS ...covviiiiiiieeiis e 10
Section 208.  Authorization of the Bonds ... 10
Section 209.  Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds ... 12
Section 210.  Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment ... 12

ARTICLE IIE

REDEMPTION OF BONDS

Section 301.  Redemption of BONUS. ..o 13
Section 302.  Effect of Call for Redemption .. ..ot s s 13
Section 303,  Notice 0f RedemMPLION ...coveocoiiciiiiiiiiseis st e 13

ARTICLE IV

FORM OF BONDS

Section 401.  Form Generally ..o oot 14




Section 501.
Section 502,
Section 503.
Section 504.
Section 505.

Section 601.
Section 602.
Section 603.
Section 604.
Section 603.

Section 701.
Section 702.
Section 703.

Section 801,
Section 802,
Section 803.
Section 804.
Section 805.
Section 806.
Section 807.

Section 901.
Section 902.
Section 903,
Section 904.
Section 905.
Section 906.
Section 907,

ARTICLE V

CUSTODY AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS

Creation 0f Project FUnd ... o 14
Deposits into the Project FUnd ... 14
Disbursements from the Project Fund ... 14
Completion of the Purchase and Installation of the Project Equipment.......ooivveienne. 15
Disposition Upon ACCeleration ... 15
ARTICLE VI
REVENUES AND FUNDS
Creation of the Bond Fund.......coivmiciecncis i 15
Deposits Into the Bond FUB....c.coiic s 15
Application of Moneys in the Bond Fund ... 15
Payments Due on Days Other Than Business Days........ciio 16
Nonpresentment 0f BOIMAS ... v 16
ARTICLE VII

SECURITY FOR DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS

Moneys to be Held in TIUSt ..ot i6

Investment of Moneys in Project Fund and Bond Fund.........oonn. 17

RECOTd KEEPING . ..vvvcvrercecciic ittt st bbb e 17
ARTICLE VIIE

GENERAL COVENANTS AND PROVISIONS

Payment of Principal and IErest ..o 17
Authority to Execute Indenture and Issue Bonds......cooeiii 18
Performance Of COVENAMES ...iiiviireeeriee e rreersiasris s e s s st rsn st sia e s st s sssssrens I8
Instruments of Further ASSUPANCE ....ocvireercriiiiiea i sttt s e 18
Recordings and FIlINES ... s 18
Inspection of Project Equipment BOOKS ... 18
Enforcement of Rights Under the Lease ... 18
ARTICLE IX
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
Events of Default; Notice; Opportunity t0 Cure ..., 19
Acceleration of Maturity in Event of Default ... 19
Surrender of Possession of Trust Estate; Rights and Duties of Trustee in Possession......19
Appointment of Receivers in Event of Default ... 20
Exercise of Remedies by the TIUSIEE ......cocveviriie e 20
Limitation on Exercise of Remedies by OWNers....ccuiriveiiiiini o 20
Right of Owners to Direct Proceedings. ... 21
(i)




Section 908.
Section 909,
Section 210,

Section 1001,
Section 1002.
Section 1003.
Section 1004.
Section 1005.
Section 1006.
Section 1007.
Section 1008,
Section 1009,
Section 1010.
Section 1011.
Section 1012.
Section 1013.

Section 1101.
Section 1102.
Section 1103.
Section 1104,

Section 1201.
Section 1202.
Section 1203.

Section 1301.
Section 1302.

Application of Moneys in Event of Default ...
Remedies Cumulative
Waivers of BEvents 0F IDefAu ... ccoov oot veeierisres i ssra s sss s

ARTICLE X
THE TRUSTEE

Acceptance 0T the TIUSIS 1.t e
Fees, Charges and Expenses of the TIUSIEe ..o
Notice to Owners if Default OCCUIS ...vvieriomieeeiiinre s st
Intervention by the TIUSEEE ....ccvimieie s
Successor Trustee Upon Merger, Consolidation of Sale.....cooiininnin..
RESIZNALON OF TIUSIEE .. cvuvreeeceissirees st
REIMOVAL OF TEUSTEE v rvevseimiievieresssaesaes e s st et as e as s eb e s a b SRR e r b e
Appointment 0f SUCCESSOT TIUSTER 1...uerrreriemammisin s s
Vesting of Trusts in Successor TIUSTEE ...t
Right of Trustee to Pay Taxes and Other ChArgos ...
Trust Estate May be Vested in CO-trUSIEe ..o
ACCOUIIEIE 1. oo eevnceeserser ettt s sy e RS
Performance of Duties Under the Lease

ARTICLE XI
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Supplemental Indentures Not Requiting Consent of OWNers .......oovvciniiinnnssinss .
Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of OWIETS ..o
Company's Consent to Supplemental INdentures ...
Opinion of COURSEL ..ot s

ARTICLE XX
SUPPLEMENTAL LEASES
Supplemental Leases Not Requiring Consent of Bondowners

Supplemental Leases Requiring Consent of Bondowners
Opinion of Comnsel ..o F O P PO TP DS POUPPPT ST

ARTICLE X1
SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE

Satisfaction and Discharge of this Indenture.......c. i,
Bonds Deemed 10 e Paid .ovvivicie vt bt

(iif)




Section 1401.
Section 14072,
Section 1403,
Section 1404.
Section 1405,
Section 1406.
Section 1407.

Signature and Seals

ARTICLE X1V

MISCELLANEQOUS PROVISIONS

Consents and Other Instruments by OWIers ..o
Limitation of Rights Under this Indenture ........ccoooein,
T OLECES 1111 vvereseeemesnesre e amseeneaseebeanes se s b e ia s s b b s b se e ab e b s E e e st s b s e
SEVEIADTIILY w.evvrveniirirecrmirisier et
Execution in COUNtErParts ... siensesssssse e
GOVEINING LAW. ..c.crirriirriereeisriiaemsssss s e b b
BICHONIC SOTABE 1vvvereeereeeeercinscreniet st ebe e ran s b

Exhibit A - The Project Site

Exhibit B - The Project Equipment
Exhibit C - Form of Bond

Exhibit D - Forin of Representation Letter
Exhibit E - Abatement Period

(iv)




TRUST INDENTURE

THIS TRUST INDENTURE dated as of December 1, 2025, between the CITY OF
CLINTON, MISSOURY, a third class city organized and existing under the laws of the State of Missouri
(the “City”), and UMB BANIK, N.A., a national banking association duly organized and existing and
authorized to accept and execute frusts of the character herein set forth under the laws of the United States
of America, with a corporate trust office located in Kansas City, Missouri, as Trustee (the “Trustee”);

RECITALS:

1. The City is authorized and empowered pursuant to the provisions of Article VI,
Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution, as amended, and Sections 100.010 through 100.200, inclusive,
of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended (collectively, the “Act™), to purchase, construct, extend and
improve certain projects (as defined in Section 100.010 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended)
and 1o issue industrial development revenue bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the costs of
such projects and to lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to private persons or corporations for
manufacturing, commercial, warehousing, office industries and industrial development purposes upon such
terms and conditions as the City shall deem advisable.

2. Pursuant to the Act, the poverning body of the City passed an ordinance (the
“Ordinance”) on December 2, 2025, authorizing the City to issue its Taxable Industrial Development
Revenue Bonds (Schreiber Project), Series 2025, in the maximum principal amount of $29,100,000 (the
“Bonds™), for the purpose of purchasing and installing certain equipment (the “Project Equipment,” as
more fully described on Exhibit B hereto) to be used by Schreiber Foods, Inc., a Wisconsin corporation
(the “Company”) at the site described on Exhibit A (the “Project Site”), and authorizing the City to lease
the Project Equipment to the Company.

3. Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City is authorized to execute and deliver this Trust
Indenture (the “Indenture”) for the purpose of issuing and securing the Bonds (as hereinafter defined), and
to enter into the Lease Agreement of even date herewith (the “Lease™) with the Company, under which
the City, as lessor, will, or will cause the Company to, purchase and install the Project Equipment and
will lease the Project Equipment to the Company, as lessee, in consideration of rentals that will be
sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

4, Al things necessary to make the Bonds, when authenticated by the Trustee and issued as
provided-in this Indenture, the valid and legally binding obligations of the City, and to constitute this
Indenture a valid and legally binding pledge and assignment of the Trust Estate herein made for the
security of the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, have been done and performed, and
the execution and delivery of this Indenture and the execution and issuance of the Bonds, subject to the
terms hereof, have in all respects been duly authorized.

NOW, THEREFORE, THES TRUST INDENTURE WITNESSETH:




GRANTING CLAUSES

That the City, in consideration of the premises, the acceptance by the Trustee of the trusts hereby
created, the purchase and acceptance of the Bonds by the Owners thereof, and of other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, and in order to secure the payment of the
principal of and interest on all of the Bonds issued and outstanding under this Indenture from time to time
according to their tenor and effect, and to secure the performance and observance by the City of all the
covenants, agreements and conditions herein and in the Bonds contained, does hereby pledge and assign
to the Trustee and its successors and assigns forever, the property desctibed in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c)
below (said property being herein referred to as the “Trust Estate”), to-wit:

(a) All right, title and interest in and to the Project Equipment together with the
tenements, hereditaments, appurtenances, rights, privileges and immunities thereunto belonging
or appertaining;

(b) All right, title and interest of the City in, to and under the Lease (excluding the
Unassigned Rights), and all rents, revenues and receipts derived by the City from the Project
Equipment including, without limitation, all rentals and other amounts to be received by the City
and paid by the Company under and pursuant to and subject to the provisions of the Lease; and

(c) All moneys and securities from time to time held by the Trustee under the terms
of this Indenture, and any and all other real or personal property of every kind and nature from
time to time hereafter, by delivery or by writing of any kind, pledged, assigned or transferred as
and for additional security hereunder by the City or by anyone in its behalf, or with its written
consent, to the Trustee, which is hereby authorized to receive any and all such property at any and
all times and to hold and apply the same subject to the terms hereof.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD, all and singular, the Trust Estate with all rights and privileges
hereby pledged and assigned or agreed or intended so to be, to the Trustee and its successors and assigns
forever;

IN TRUST NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and subject to the conditions herein set forth, for
the equal and proportionate benefit, protection and security of all Owners from time to time of the Bonds
outstanding under this Indenture, without preference, priority or distinction as to lien or otherwise of any
of the Bonds over any other of the Bonds except as expressly provided in or permitted by this Indenture;

PROVIDED, HOWEVER, that if the City pays, or causes to be paid, the principal of and
interest on the Bonds, at the time and in the manner mentioned in the Bonds, according to the troe intent
and meaning thereof, or provides for the payment thereof (as provided in Article XIII hereof), and pays
or causes to be paid to the Trustee all other sums of money due or to become due to it in accordance with
the terms and provisions hereof, then upon such final payments this Indenture and the rights thereby
granted shall cease, determine and be void; othérwise, this Indenture shall be and remain in full force and
effect.

THIS INDENTURE FURTHER WITNESSETH, and it is hereby expressly declared,
covenanted and agreed by and between the parties hereto, that all Bonds issued and secured hereunder are
to be issued, authenticated and delivered and that all the Trust Estate is to be held and applied under, upon
and subject to the terms, conditions, stipulations, covenants, agreements, trusts, uses and purposes as




hereinafter expressed, and the City does hereby agree and covenant with the Trustee and with the
respective Owners from time to time, as follows:

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

Section 101.  Definitions of Words and Terms. In addition to words and terms defined in
Section 1.1 of the Lease, which definitions shall be deemed to be incorporated herein, and terms defined
elsewhere in this Indenture, the following words and terms as used in this Indenture shall have the
following meanings, unless some other meaning is plainly intended:

“Abatement Period” shall mean the period starting on the date on which the Project Equipment
is acquired or desmed to be acquired with Bond proceeds and ending on December 1 of the 10th full
calendar year after the year of such acquisition; as such period is more specifically detailed on Exhibit I
hereto, provided that the Abatement Period shall terminate no later than December 1, 2036.

“Act” means, collectively, Article VI, Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution, as amended,
Sections 100.010 through 100.200 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended.

“ A dditionzl Rent” means the additional rental described in Section 5.2 of the Lease.

“Authorized City Representative” means the Mayor, the City Administrator, City Clerk or such
other Person at the time designated to act on behalf of the City as evidenced by written certificate
furnished to the Company and the Trustee containing the specimen signature of such Person and signed
on behalf of the City by its Mayor. Such certificate may designate an alternate or alternates, each of
whom shall be entitled to perform all duties of the Authorized City Representative.

“Authorized Company Representative” means the Person at the time designated to act on
behalf of the Company as evidenced by written certificate furnished to the City and the Trustee containing
the specimen signature of such Person and signed on behalf of the Company by an authorized officer.
Such certificate may designate an alternate or alternates, each of whom shall be entitled to perform all
duties of the Authorized Company Representative.

“Basic Rent” means the rental described in Section 5.1 of the Lease.
“Bond” or “Bonds” means the Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (Schreiber
Project), Series 2025, in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $29,100,000, issued, authenticated

and delivered under and pursuant to this Indenture.

“Bond Fund” means the “City of Clinton, Missouri, Bond Fund — Schreiber Foods, Inc.” created
in Sectien 601 of this Indenture.

“Bond Purchase Agreement” means the Bond Purchase Agreement dated as of December 1,
2025, between the City and the Purchaser.

3-




“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or legal holiday or a day on
which banks located in the city in which the payment office of the Trustee are required or authorized by
Jaw to remain closed or a day on which the payment system of the Federal Reserve is not operational.

“Company” means Schreiber Foods, Inc., a Wisconsin corporation, and its successors or assigns.

“Completion Date” means the date of exccution of the certificate required pursuant to
Section 504 hereof.

“City” means the City of Clinton, Missouri, a third class city organized and existing under the
laws of the State of Missouri, and its successors and assigns. ‘

“Closing Date” means the date mutually agreed upon by the City and the Purchaser for the
issuance of the Bonds as expressed in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

“Closing Price” means the amount described as such in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

“Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount” means the aggregate principal amount of all
Bonds outstanding under the provisions of this Indenture, as reflected in the records maintained by the
Trustee as provided in the Bonds and this Indenture.

“Tvent of Default” means, with respect to this Indenture, any Event of Default as defined in
Section 901 hereof and, with respect to the Lease, any Event of Default as described in Section 12.1 of
the Lease.

“Financing Document” means any loan agreement, credit agreement, security agreement,
mortgage, participation agreement, lease agreement, sublease, hedging agreement or other document
executed by or on behalf of a Financing Party.

“Financing Party” means any Person providing debt, lease or equity financing (including equity
contributions or commitments) or hedging arrangements, or any renewal, extension or refinancing of any
such financing or hedging arrangements, or any guarantee, insurance, letters of credit or credit support for
or in conmection with such financing or hedging arrangements, in connection with the ownership, lease,
operation or maintenance of the Project Equipment or interests or rights in the Lease, or any part thereof,
including any trustee or agent acting on any such Person’s behalf.

«Full Insurable Value” means the reasonable replacement cost of the Project Equipment, less
physical depreciation, as determined by the Company in accordance with Section 7.2(a) of the Lease.

“Government Securities” means direct obligations of, or obligations the payment of principal of
and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America.

“Indenture” means this Trust Indenture, as from time to time amended and supplemented by
Supplemental Indentures in accordance with the provisions of Article XI hereof.

“Investment Securities” means any of the following securities:

{a) any bonds or other obligations which as to principal and interest constitute direct
obligations of, or are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including




obligations of any of the federal agencies set forth in clause (b) below to the extent they are
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America;

(b) obligations of the Federal Financing Bank, Federal Intermediate Credit
Corporation, Federal Banks for Cooperatives, Federal Land Banks, and Farmers Home
Administration;

(c) direct and general obligations of any state of the United States of America, to the
payment of the principal of and interest on which the full faith and credit of such state is pledged,
provided that at the time of their purchase under this Indenture such obligations are rated in either
of the two highest rating categories by a nationally-recognized bond rating agency;

(d) cettificates of deposit, whether negotiable or nonnegotiable, and U.S. dollar
denominated deposit accounts issued by any bank or trust company organized under the laws of
any state of the United States of America or any national banking association (including the
Trustee or any of its affiliates), provided that such certificates of deposit or deposit accounts shall
be either (1) continuously and fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or
(2) continuously and fully secured by such securities as are described above in clauses (&) through
(c), inclusive, which shall have a market value at all times at least equal to the principal amount
of such certificates of deposit and shall be deposited with the Trustee or a custodian bank, trust
company or national banking association. The bank, trust company or national banking
association holding each such certificate of deposit required to be so secured shall furnish the
Trustee written evidence that the aggregate market value of all such obligations securing each
such certificate of deposit will at all times be an amount at least equal to the principal amount of
each such certificate of deposit and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely on each such undertaking;

(e) shares of a fund registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended, whose shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, having
assets of at least $100,000,000, and which shares, at the time of purchase, are rated by Standard &
Poor’s and Moody’s in one of the two highest rating categories (without regard {o any
refinements or gradation of rating category by numerical modifier or otherwise) assigned by such
rating agencies for obligations of that nature; or

&3] any other investment approved in writing by the Owners of all of the Outstanding
Bonds.

“Lease” means the Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2025, between the City, as lessor,
and the Company, as lessee, as from time to time amendeéd and supplemented by Supplemental Leases in
accordance with the provisions thereof and of Article XTI of this Indenture.

“Lease Term” means the period from the effective date of the Lease until the expiration thereof
pursuant to Section 3.2 of the Lease.

“Ieasehold Security Agreement” means any leasehold security agreement, leasehold deed of
trust, assignment of rents and leases, security agreement or other agreement relating to the Project
Equipment permitted pursuant to the provisions of Section 10.4 of the Lease.

“Net Proceeds” means, when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation award with
respect to the Project Equipment, the gross proceeds from the insurance or condemnation award




remaining after payment of all expenses (including attorneys’ fees, trustee’s fees and any extraordinary
expenses of the City and the Trustee) incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds.

“Qutstanding,” when used with reference to Bonds, means, as of a particular date, all Bonds
theretofore authenticated and delivered, except:

(a) Bonds theretofore cancelled by the Trustee or delivered to the Trustee for
cancellation;

(b) Bonds deemed to be paid in accordance with the provisions of Section 1302
hereof;, and ‘

{c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated
and delivered pursuant to this Indenture.

“Owner” means the registered owner of any Bond as recorded on the bond registration records
maintained by the Trustee.

“Paying Agent” means the Trustee and any other bank or frust company designated by this
Indenture as paying agent for the Bonds at which the principal of or interest on the Bonds shall be
payable.

“Payment Date” means the date on which principal of or interest on any Bond is payable, which
shall be December 1 of each year that the Bonds are Outstanding. ‘

“Performance Agreement” means the Performance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2025,
between the City and the Company, as amended from time to time.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means (a) liens for ad valorem taxes and special assessments not
yet due or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate actions, provided that adequate reserves
with respect thereto are maintained on the books of the Company in conformity with generally acceptable
accounting principles, (b) landlords’, carriers’, warehousemen’s, mechanics’, materialmen’s, repairmen’s
or other like liens arising in the ordinary course of business which are not overdue for a period of more
than 60 days or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate actions, (c) easements, rights-of-
way, restrictions and other similar encumbrances incurred in the ordinary course of business which, in the
aggregate, are not substantial in amount in relation to the value of the property subject thereto and which
do not in any case materially detract from the value of the property subject thereto or materially interfere
with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Company, (d) the Indenture and the Lease and (e) liens or
security interests granted pursuant to any Financing Documests.

“Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, joint stock company,
limited liability company, bank, insurance company, unincorporated association, joint venture or other
entity of whatever nature.

“Project Costs” means all costs of purchasing and installing the Project Equipment.
“project Equipment” means all items of machinery, equipment or other personal property
acquired or installed or acquired for installation on the Project Site pursuant to Article TV of the Lease

and paid for in whole or in part from the proceeds of Bonds, as desecribed m Exhibit B attached hereto
and by this reference made a part hereof, and all replacements thereof and substitutions therefor which,

-6-




pursuant to Section 8.2 of the Lease, constitute part of the Project Equipment; provided that the Project
Equipment subject to this Indenture and the Lease at any given time shall not include any property that
has reached the end of its Abatement Period.

“Project Fund” means the “City of Clinton, Missouri, Project Fund — Schreiber Foods, Inc.”
created in Section 501 of this Indenture.

“Project Site” means the location described herein and in the Lease Agreement upon which the
Project Equipment will be situated.

“Purchaser” means Schreiber Foods, Inc.

“Supplemental Tndenture” means any indenture supplemental or amendatory to this Indenture
entered into by the City and the Trustee pursuant to Article XI hereof.

“Supplemental Lease” means any supplement or amendment to the Lease entered into pursuant
to Articie XTI hereof.

«“Frust Estate” means the Trust Estate described in the Granting Clauses of this Indenture.

“T'rustee” means UMB Bank, N.A., Kansas City, Missouri, a national banking association duly
organized and existing and authorized to accept and execute trusts of the character herein set forth under
the laws of the United States of America, and its successor or successors and any other corporation which
at the time may be substituted in its place pursuant to and at the time serving as Trustee under this
Indenture.

“Unassigned Rights” means the City’s rights under the Lease to receive moneys for its own
account, including but not limited to payments in lieu of taxes, and the City’s rights to indemnification or
to be protected from liabilities by insurance policies required by the Lease, and the rights of the City to
provide any consent or approval under the Lease or enforce any provision of the Lease relating to the
condition or use of the Project Equipment.

Section 102.  Rules of Interpretation.

(a) Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative
words of the feminine and neuter genders.

(b) Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, the words importing the singular number
shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing Persons shall include firms, associations and
corporations, including public bodies, as well as natural Persons.

(c) Wherever in this Indenture it is provided that either party shall or will make any payment
or perform or refrain from performing any act or obligation, each such provision shall, even though not so
expressed, be construed as an express covenant to make such payment or to perform, or not to perform, as
the case may be, such act or obligation.

(d) All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and other
subdivisions are, unless otherwise specified, to the designated Articles, Sections and subdivisions of this




instrument as originally executed. The words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and other words of similar
import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or subdivision.

(e) Whenever an item or items are listed after the word “including”, such listing is not
intended to be a listing that excludes items not listed.

5 The Table of Contents and the Article and Section headings of this Indenture shall not be
treated as a part of this Indenture or as affecting the true meaning of the provisions hereof.

ARTICLE 11
THE BONDS

Section 201.  Title and Amount of Bonds. No Bonds may be issued under this Indenture
except in accordance with the provisions of this Article. The Bonds authorized to be issued under this
Indenture shall be designated as “City of Clinton, Missouri, Taxable Industrial Development Revenue
Bonds (Schreiber Project), Series 20257 The maximum total principal amount of Bonds that may be
issued hereunder is hereby expressly limited to $29,100,000.

Section 202. Nature of Obligation. The Bonds and the interest thereon shall be special
obligations of the City payable solely out of the rents, revenues and receipts derived by the City from the
Project Equipment and the Lease, and not from any other fund or source of the City. The Bonds are
secured by a pledge and assignment of the Trust Estate to the Trustee in favor of the Owners, as provided
in this Indenture. The Bonds and the interest thereon shall not constitute general obligations of the City
or the State of Missouri, and neither the City nor said State shall be liable thereon, and the Bonds shall not
constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional, charter or statutory debt limitation or
restriction, and are not payable in any manner by taxation.

Section 203. Denomination, Number and Dating of the Bonds.

(a) The Bonds shall be issuable in the form of one Bond in the maximum principal amount of
$29,100,000. The Bonds shall be substantially in the form hereinafter set forth in Exhibit C hereto.

(b) The Bonds shall be dated by the Trustee as of the date of initial delivery thercof as
provided herein, If the Bonds are at any time thereafter transferred, any replacement Bonds shall be dated
as of the date of authentication thereof.

Section 204. Method and Place of Payment of Bonds.

(a) The principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency of the
United States of America which on the respective dates of payment thereof is legal tender for payment of
public and private debts.

(b) Payment of the principal of the Bonds shall be made upon the presentation and surrender
of such Bonds at the designated payment office of any Paying Agent named in the Bonds. The payment of
principal on the Bonds shall be noted on Schedule I to the Bonds and on the registration books
maintained by the Trustee pursuant to Section 206. Payment of the interest on the Bonds shall be made
by the Trustee on each Payment Date to the Person appearing on the registration books of the Trustee



hereinafter provided for as the Owner thereof on the {ifteenth day (whether or not a Business Day) of the
calendar month next preceding such Payment Date by check or draft mailed to such Owner at such
Owner’s address as it appears on such registration books.

{c) The Bonds and the original Schedule I thereto shall be held by the Trustee in trust, unless
otherwise directed in writing by the Owners. If the Bonds are held by the Trustee, the Trustee shall, on
each Payment Date, send a revised copy of Schedule I via email to the Owner, the Company (if not the
Owner) and the City. Absent manifest error, the amounts shown on Schedule I as noted by the Trustee
shall be conclusive evidence of the principal amount paid on the Bonds.

(d) If there is one Owner of the Bonds, the Trustee is authorized to make the final or any
interim payments of principal on such Bonds by internal bank transfer or by electronic transfer to an
account at a commercial bank or savings institution designated in writing by such Owner and located in
the continental United States. The Trustee is also authorized to make interest payments on such Bonds by
internal bank transfer or by electronic transfer to an account at a commercial bank or savings institution
designated by such Owner and located in the continental United States. If the Company owns all of the
Bonds, then the Company may set-off its obligation for the Basic Rent to the City as Lessee under the
Lease Agreement against the City’s obligation to the Company as Bondholder under this Indenture. The
Trustee may conclusively rely on the absence of any notice from the Company to the contrary as evidence
that such set-off has occurred. On the final Payment Date, the Company may deliver fo the Trustee for
cancellation Bonds not previously paid and the Company shall receive a credit against the Basic Rent
payable by the Company in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds so tendered for
cancellation plus accrued interest thereon.

Section 205. Execution and Authentication of Bonds.

(a) The Bonds shall be executed on behalf of the City by the manual or facsimile signature of
its Mayor and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the City Clerk, and shall have the corporate
seal of the City affixed thereto or imprinted thereon. If any officer whose signature or facsimile thereof
appears on the Bonds ceases to be such officer before the delivery of such Bond, such signature or
facsimile thereof shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such Person had
remained in office until delivery. Any Bond may be signed by such Persons as at the actual time of the
execution of such Bond are the proper officers to sign such Bond although at the date of such Bond such
Persons may not have been such officers.

()] The Bonds shall have endorsed thereon a Certificate of Authentication substantially in the
form set forth in Exhibit C, which shall be manually executed by the Trustee. No Bond shall be entitled
to any security or benefit under this Indenture or shall be valid or obligatory for amy purposes until such
Certificate of Authentication has been duly executed by the Trustee. The executed Certificate of
Authentication upon any Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond has been duly authenticated
and delivered under this Indenture. The Certificate of Authentication on any Bond shall be deemed to
have been duly executed if signed by any authorized signatory of the Trustee,

Section 206.  Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds.

(a) The Trustee shall keep books for the registration and for the transfer of Bonds as
provided in this Indenture.



(b) The Bonds may be transferred only upon the books kept for the registration and transfer
of Bonds upon surrender thercof to the Trustee duly endorsed for tramsfer or accompanied by an
assignment duly executed by the Owner or such Owner’s attorney or legal representative in such form as
shall be satisfactory to the Trustee. In connection with any such transfer of the Bonds, the City and the
Trustee shall receive an executed representation letter signed by the proposed assignee in substantially the
form of Exhibit D hereto. Upon any such transfer, the City shall execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver in exchange for such Bond a new fully registered Bond or Bonds, registered in
the name of the transferee, of any denomination or denominations authorized by this Indenture, in an
aggregate principal amount equal to the outstanding principal amount of such Bond, of the same maturity
and bearing interest atf the same rate.

(©) In all cases in which Bonds are exchanged or transferred hereunder the provisions of any
Jegend restrictions on the Bonds shall be complied with and the City shall execute and the Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver at the earliest practicable time Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this
Indenture. All Bonds surrendered in any such exchange or transfer shall forthwith be cancelled by the
Trustee. The City or the Trustee may make a reasonable charge for every such exchange or transfer of
Bonds sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with
respect to such exchange or transfer, and such charge shall be paid before any such new Bond shall be
delivered. Neither the City nor the Trustee shall be required to make any such exchange or transfer of
Bonds during the 15 days immediately preceding a Payment Date on the Bonds or, in the case of any
proposed redemption of Bonds, during the 15 days immediately preceding the selection of Bonds for such
redemption or after such Bonds or any portion thereof has been selected for redemption.

(d) If any Owner fails to provide a certified taxpayer identification number fo the Trustee, the
Trustee may make a charge against such Owner sufficient to pay any governmental charge required to be
paid as a result of such faifure, which amount may be deducted by the Trustee from amounts otherwise
payable to such Owner under such Owner’s Bond.

Section 207.  Persons Deemed Owners of Bonds. As to any Bond, the Person in whose name
the same is registered as shown on the bond registration books required by Section 206 hereof shall be
deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes. Payment of or on account of the
principal of and interest on any such Bond shall be made only to or upon the order of the Owner thereof
or a legal representative thereof. All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge
the lability upon such Bond, including the interest thereon, to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.

Section 208.  Autherization of the Bonds.

(a) The Bonds are authorized for the purpose of providing funds to pay the costs of the
Project Equipment, which Bonds shall be designated “City of Clinton, Missouri, Taxable Industrial
Development Revenue Bonds (Schreiber Project) Series 2025.” The Bonds shall be dated as provided in
Section 203(b) hereof, shall become due on December 1, 2036 (subject to prior redemption as hereinafter
provided in Article IIY) and shall bear interest as specified in Section 208(f) hereof, payable on the dates
specified in Section 208(f) hereof.

(b) The Trustee is hereby designated as the Paying Agent.

(c) The Bonds shall be executed without material variance from the form and in the manner
set forth in Exhibit C hereto and delivered to the Trustee for authentication. Prior to or simultaneously

-10-



with the authentication and delivery of the Bonds by the Trustee, there shall be filed with the Trustee the
following, in electronic form:

) A copy of the Ordinance passed by the City Council authorizing the issuance of
the Bonds and the execution of this Indenture, the Lease and the Performance Agreement,

2) Copies of executed counterparts of this Indenture, the Lease and the Performance
Agreement;

(3) A representation letter from the Purchaser in the form attached as Exhibit D
hereto;

€)) A request and authorization to the Trustee on behalf of the City, executed by the
Authorized City Representative, to authenticate the Bonds and deliver the same to the Purchaser
upon transfer of funds in accordance with the Notice of Bond Sale. The Trustee shall be entitled
to conclusively rely upon such request and authorization as to names of the purchaser and the
amount of such purchase price; and

(5) Such other certificates, statements, receipts, opinions and documents as the
Trustee shall reasonably require for the delivery of the Bonds.

(d) When the documents specified in subsection (c) of this Section have been filed with the
Trustee, and when the Bonds have been executed and authenticated as required by this Indenture, either:

(H The Purchaser of the Bonds shall pay the Closing Price to the Trustee, and the
Trustee shall endorse the Bonds in an amount equal to the Closing Price and then hold the Bonds
in trust ot if so directed in writing by the Purchaser deliver the Bonds to or upon the order of the
Purchaser; or

() The Company shall submit a requisition certificate in accordance with
Section 4.4 of the Lease, in an amount equal to the Closing Price, and the Trustee shall
authenticate the Bonds in an amount equal to the Closing Price and then hold the Bonds in trust or
if so directed in writing by the Purchaser deliver the Bonds to the Company (or another purchaser
designated by the Company).

In cither case, the Purchaser of the Bonds shall be deemed to have paid over to the Trustee, and the
Trustee shall be deemed to have deposited into the Project Fund, an amount equal to the Closing Price.

(e) Following the initial issuance and delivery of the Bonds, the Company may submit
additional requisition certificates in accordance with Section 4.4 of the Lease, and the Trustee shall, based
solely on the amount of the requisition, endorse the Bonds in an amount equal to the amount set forth in
each requisition certificate. The date of endorsement of each Principal Amount Advanced as set forth on
Schedule 1 to the Bonds shall be the date of the City’s approval of each requisition certificate.

(f) The Bonds shall bear interest at the rate of 7.00% per annum on the Cumulative
Outstanding Principal Amount of the Bonds. Such interest shall be payable in arrears on each
December 1, commencing on December 1, 2026, and continuing thereafter until the Cumulative
Outstanding Principal Amount is paid in full; provided that the aggregate maximum principal amount
shall not exceed $29,100,000 and further provided that the Bonds shall be paid in full no later than

-11-




December 1, 2036, Interest shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days consisting of twelve
months of 30 days each.

(g) The Trustee shall keep and maintain a record of the amount deposited or deemed to be
deposited into the Project Fund pursuant to the ferms of this Indenture as “Principal Amount Advanced”
and shall enter the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding on its records as the
“Cymulative Outstanding Principal Amount.” On each date upon which a portion of the Cumulative
Outstanding Principal Amount is paid to the Owners, pursuant to the redemption provisions of this
Indenture, the Trustee shall enter on its records the principal amount paid on the Bonds as “Principal
Amount Redeemed,” and shall enter the then Outstanding principal amount of the Bonds as “Cumulative
Outstanding Principal Amount.” The records maintained by the Trustee as to amounts deposited into the
Project Fund or principal amounts paid on the Bonds shall be the official records of the Cumulative
Outstanding Principal Amount for all purposes, absent manifest error, and shall be in substantially the
form of the Table of Cumulative Qutstanding Principal Amount as set out in the form of Bouds in
Exhibit C hereto. If any moneys are deposited by the Trustee into the Project Fund, then the Trustee
shall provide a statement of receipts and disbursements with respect thereto to the City and the Company
on a monthly basis. After the Project has been completed and the certificate of payment of all costs is
filed as provided in Section 504 hereof, the Trustee, to the extent it has not already done so pursuant to
this Section or Section 1012 hereof, shall file a final statement of receipts and disbursements with respect
thereto with the City and the Company.

Section 209.  Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds. If any Bond becomes mutilated,
or is lost, stolen or destroyed, the City shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver a new
Bond of like series, date and tenor as the Bond mutilated lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, in the
case of any mutilated Bond, such mutilated Bond shall first be surrendered to the Trustee, and in the case
of any lost, stolen or destroyed Bond, there shall be first furnished to the City and the Trustee evidence of
such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with indemnity satisfactory to the
Trustee to save each of the City and the Trustee harmless. If any such Bond has matured, instead of
delivering a substitute Bond, the Trustee may pay the same without surrender thereof. Upon the issuance
of any substitute Bond, the City and the Trustee may require the payment of an amount sufficient to
reimburse the City and the Trustee for any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in
relation thereto and any other reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith.

Section 210.  Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment.

(a) All Bonds which have been paid or redeemed or which the Trustec has purchased or
which have otherwise been surrendered to the Trustee under this Indenture, either at or before maturity
shall be cancelled by the Trustee immediately upon the payment, redemption or purchase of such Bonds
and the surrender thereof to the Trustee.

(b) All Bonds cancelled under any of the provisions of this Indenture shall be destroyed by

the Trustee. The Trustee shall execute a certificate describing the Bonds so destroyed, and shall file
executed counterparts of such certificate with the City and the Company.

12~




ARTICLE HI
REDEMPTION OF BONDS
Section 301.  Redemption of Bonds.

(a) The Bonds are subject to redemption and payment at any time prior to the stated maturity
thereof, at the option of the City, upon written instructions from the Company, (1) in whole, if the
Company exercises its option to purchase the Project Equipment and deposits an amount sufficient to
effect such purchase pursuant to the Lease on the applicable redemption date, or (2) in part, if the
Company prepays additional Basic Rent pursuant to the Lease; provided, however, if only a portion of the
Bonds are to be redeemed, Bonds aggregating 10% of the maximum aggregate principal amount of Bonds
authorized hereunder shall not be subject to redemption and payment prior to the stated maturity thereof.
Any redemption of Bonds pursuant to this paragraph shall be at a redemption price equal to the par value
thereof being redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon, without preminm or penalty, to the redemption
date.

(b) The Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption, in whole or in part, to the extent of
amounts deposited in the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 9.1(f) of the Lease, in the event of substantial
damage to or destruction or condemnation of all or substantially all of the Project Equipment. Bonds to
be redeemed pursuant fo this paragraph shall be called for redemption by the Trustee on the earliest
practicable date for which timely notice of redemption may be given as provided hereunder. Any
redemption of Bonds pursuant to this paragraph shall be at a redemption price equal to the par value
thereof being redeemed, plus accrued interest thercon, without premium or penalty, to the redemption
date.

() At its option, the Company may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation any Bonds owned
by the Company and not previously paid, and the Company shall receive a credit against the amounts
payable by the Company for the redemption of such Bonds in an amount equal to the principal amount of
the Bonds so tendered for cancellation, plus accrued interest.

Section 302,  Effect of Call for Redemption. Before or on the date fixed for redemption,
funds, Government Securities, or a combination thereof, shall be placed with the Trustee which are
sufficient to pay the Bonds called for redemption and accrued interest thereon, if any, to the redemption
date. Upon the happening of the above conditions and appropriate written notice having been given, the
Bonds or the portions of the principal amount of Bonds thus called for redemption shall cease to bear
interest on the specified redemption date, and shall no longer be entitled to the protection, benefit or
security of this Indenture and shall not be deemed to be Outstanding under the provisions of this
Indenture. If the Bonds are fully redeemed before maturity and an amount of money equal to the
Trustee’s and the Paying Agent’s agreed to fees and expenses hereunder accrued and to accrue in
connection with such redemption is paid or provided for, the City shall, at the Company’s direction,
deliver to the Company the items described in Section 11.2 of the Lease.

Section 303.  Notice of Redemption. If the Bonds are to be called for redemption as provided
in Section 301(a) hereof, the Company shall deliver written notice to the City and the Trustee that it has
elected to redeem all or a portion of the Bonds at least 40 days (10 days if the Company is the sole
Owner) prior to the scheduled redemption date. The Trustee shall then deliver written notice to the
Owners at least 30 days (five days if the Company is the sole Owner) prior fo the scheduled redemption

13-




date by email and by first-class mail stating the date upon which the Bonds will be redeemed and paid,
unless such notice period is waived by the Owners in writing,

ARTICLE IV
FORM OF BONDS

" Section 401.  Form Generally. The Bonds and the Trustee’s Certificate of Authentication to
be endorsed thereon shall be issued in substantially the forms set forth in Exhibit C. The Bonds may
have endorsed thereon such legends or text as may be necessary or appropriate to conform to any
applicable rules and regulations of any governmental authority or any custom, usage or requirements of
law with respect thereto.

ARTICLE V
CUSTODY AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS

Section 501.  Creation of Project Fund. Therc is hereby created and ordered to be
established in the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the City to be designated the
“City of Clinton, Missouri, Project Fund — Schreiber Foods, Inc.” (herein called the “Project Fund”).

Section 502.  Deposits into the Project Fund. The proceeds of the sale of the Bonds (whether
actually paid or deemed paid under Section 208(d) and (e) hereof), when received, excluding such
amounts required to be paid into the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 602 hereof, shall be deposited by the
Trustee into the Project Fund. Any money received by the Trustee from any other source for the purpose
of acquiring and instailing the Project Equipment shall pursuant to any directions from the Person
depositing such moneys also be deposited into the Project Fund.

Section 503.  Disbursements from the Project Fund.

(a) The moneys in the Project Fund shall be disbursed by the Trustee for the payment of, or
reimbursement to the Company (or any other party that has made payment on behalf of the Company) for
payment of, Project Costs upon receipt of requisition certificates signed by the Company in accordance
with the provisions of Article IV of the Lease. The Trustee hereby covenants and agrees to disburse such
moneys in accordance with such provisions.

(b) Tf, pursuant to Section 208(e), the Trustee is deemed to have deposited into the Project
Fund the amount specified in a requisition certificate, the Trustee shall upon endorsement of the Bonds in
an equal amount be deemed to have disbursed such funds from the Project Fund to the Company (or such
other entity designated by the Company) in satisfaction of the requisition certificate.

(c) In paying any requisition under this Section, the Trustee may rely as to the completeness
and accuracy of all statements in such requisition certificate if such requisition certificate is signed by the
Authorized Company Representative. If the City so requests in writing, a copy of each requisition
certificate submitted to the Trustee for payment under this Section shall be promptly provided by the
Trustee to the City. The City hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to make disbursements in the
manner and as provided for by the aforesaid provisions of the Lease.

w14-




Section 504.  Completion of the Purchase and Installation of the Project Equipment. The
completion of the purchase and installation of the Project Equipment and payment of all costs and
expenses incident thereto shall be evidenced by the filing with the Trustee of the certificate required by
the provisions of Section 4.5 of the Lease. As soon as practicable after the receipt of such certificate of
the Company, any balance remaining in the Project Fund shall be transferred to the Bond Fund and
applied as provided in Section 4.6 of the Lease.

Section 505.  Disposition Upon Acceleration. If the principal of the Bonds has become due
and payable pursuant to Section 902 hereof, upon the date of payment by the Trustee of any moneys due
as hereinafter provided in Article IX, any balance remaining in the Project Fund shall without further
authorization be deposited in the Bond Fund by the Trustee, with advice to the City and to the Company
of such action.

ARTICLE VI
REVENUES AND FUNDS

Section 601,  Creation of the Bond Fund. There is hereby created and ordered established in
the custody of the Trustee a special trust fund in the name of the City to be designated the “City of
Clinton, Missouri, Bond Fund — Schreiber Foods, Inc.” (herein called the “Bond Fund”).

Section 602.  Deposits Into the Bond Fund. The Trustee shall deposit into the Bond Fund, as
and when received, (a) all accrued interest on the Bonds, if any, paid by the purchaser of the Bonds;
(b) all Basic Rent payable by the Company to the City specified in Section 5.1 of the Lease; (¢) any
amount in the Project Fund to be transferred to the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 504 hereof upon
completion of the installation of the Project Equipment or pursuant to Section 505 hercof upon
acceleration of the Bonds; (d) the balance of any Net Proceeds (as defined in the Lease) of condemmnation
awards or insurance received by the Trustee pursuant fo Article IX of the Lease; () the amounts to be
deposited in the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 9.1(f) of the Lease; (f) all interest and other income
derived from investments of Bond Fund moneys as provided in Section 702 hereof; and (g) all other
moneys received by the Trustee under and pursuant to amy of the provisions of the Lease when
accompanied by directions from the Person depositing such moneys that such moneys are to be paid into
the Bond Fund.

The Trustee shall notify the Company in writing, at least 15 days prior to each date on which a
payment is due under Section 5.1 of the Lease, of the amount that is payable by the Company pursuant to
such Section.

Section 603.  Application of Moneys in the Bond Fund.
(a) Except as provided in Section 605 and Section 908 hereof or in Section 4.6(a) of the
Lease, morneys in the Bond Fund shall be expended solely for the payment of the principal of and the

interest on the Bonds as the same mature and become due or upon the redemption thereof prior to
maturity.

(b) The City hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to withdraw sufficient funds from the
Bond Fund to pay the principal of and the interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable and

-15-



to make said funds so withdrawn available to the Paying Agent for the purpose of paying said principal
and interest.

(c) Whenever the amount in the Bond Fund from any source whatsoever is sufficient to
redeem all of the Bonds Outstanding and to pay interest to acerue thereon prior to such redemption, the
City covenants and agrees, upon request of the Company, to take and cause to be taken the necessary
steps to redeem all such Bonds on the next succeeding redemption date for which the required redemption
notice may be given or on such later redemption date as may be specified by the Company. The Trustee
may use any moneys in the Bond Fund to redeem a part of the Bonds Outstanding in accordance with and
to the extent permitted by Article III hereof so long as the Company is not in default with respect to any
payments under the Lease and to the extent said moneys are in excess of the amount required for payment
of Bonds theretofore matured or called for redemption and past due interest, if any, in all cases when such
Bonds have not been presented for payment.

(d) After payment in full of the principal of and interest, if any, on the Bonds (or provision
has been made for the payment thereof as provided in this Indenture), and the fees, charges and expenses
of the Trustee, the City and any Paying Agent and any other amounts required to be paid under this
Indenture, the Lease and the Performance Agreement, all amounts remaining in the Bond Fund shall be
paid to the Company upon the expiration or sooner termination of the Lease.

Section 604. Payments Due on Days Other Than Business Days. In any case where the
date of maturity of principal of or interest, if any, on the Bonds or the date fixed for redemption of any
Bonds is not a Business Day, then payment of principal or interest, if any, need not be made on such date
but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on the
date of maturity or the date fixed for redemption, and no interest, if any, shall continue to accrue for the
period after such date.

Section 605. Nonpresentment of Bonds. If any Bond is not presented for payment when the
principal thereof becomes due, either at maturity or otherwise, or at the date fixed for redemption thereof,
if funds sufficient to pay such Bond shall have been made available to the Trustee, all liability of the City
to the Owner thereof for the payment of such Bond shall forthwith cease, determine and be completely
discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Trustee to hold such fund or funds, without liability
for interest thereon, for the benefit of the Owner of such Bond who shall thereafter be restricted
exclusively to such fund or funds for any claim of whatever nature on his part under this Indenture or on,
or with respect to, said Bond. If any Bond is not presented for payment within one year following the
date when such Bond becomes due, whether by maturity or otherwise, the Trustee shall without liability
for interest thereon repay to the Company the funds theretofore held by it for payment of such Bond, and

_ such Bond shall, subject to the defense of any applicable statute of limitation, thereafter be an unsecured

obligation of the Company, and the Owner thereof shall be entitled to look only to the Company for
payment, and then only to the extent of the amount so repaid, and the Company shall not be liable for any
interest thereon and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such money.
ARTICLE VIO
SECURITY FOR DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS

Section 701. Moneys to be Held in Trust. All moneys deposited with or paid to the Trustee
for account of the Bond Fund or the Project Fund under any provision of this Indenture, and all moneys

-16-




deposited with or paid to any Paying Agent under any provision of this Indenture, shall be held by the
Trustee or Paying Agent in trust and shall be applied only in accordance with the provisions of this
Indenture and the Lease, and, until used or applied as herein provided, shall constitute part of the Trust
Estate and be subject to the lien hereof. Neither the Trustee nor any Paying Agent shall be under any
liability for interest on any moneys received hereunder except such as may be agreed upon.

Section 702.  Investment of Moneys in Project Fund and Bond Fund.

(a) Moneys held in the Project Fund and the Bond Fund shall, pursuant to written direction
of the Company signed by the Authorized Company Representative, be separately invested and reinvested
by the Trustee in Investment Securities which mature or ate subject to redemption by the Owner prior to
the date such funds will be needed. If the Company fails to provide written directions concerning
investment of moneys held in the Project Fund and the Bond Fund, the Trustee is hereby directed to
invest and re-invest in a money market mutual fund permitted by paragraph (e) of the definition of
Investment Securities, provided they mature or are subject to redemption before the date such funds will
be needed. Any such Investment Securities shall be held by or under the confrol of the Trustee and shall
be deemed at all times a part of the fund in which such moneys are originally held, and the interest
accruing thereon and any profit realized from such Investment Securities shall be credited to such fund,
and any loss resulting from such Investment Securities shall be charged to such fund. After the Trustee
has notice pursuant to Section 1001(h) hereof of the existence of an Event of Default, the Trustee shall
direct the investment of moneys in the Bond Fund and the Project Fund. The Trustee shall sell and
reduce to cash a sufficient amount of such Investment Securities whenever the cash balance in any Fund
is insufficient for the purposes of such Fund. In determining the balance in any Fund, investments in such
Tund shall be valued at the lower of their original cost or their fair market value as of the most recent
Payment Date. The Trustee may make any and all investments permitted by the provisions of this Section
through its own bond department or any affiliate or short-term investment department. The Trustee may
rely on the investment directions of the Authorized Company Representative as to both the suitability and
Jegality of the directed investments. '

(b) The City and the Company hereby agree that confirmations of Permitted Investments are
not required to be issued by the Trustee for each month in which a monthly statement relating to the
applicable fund or account is rendered. No statement need be rendered for any fund or account if no
activity occurred in such fund or account during such month.

Section 703. Record Keeping. The Trustee shall maintain records designed to show
compliance with the provisions of this Article and with the provisions of Article VI hereof for at least six
years after the payment of all of the Outstanding Bonds.

ARTICLE VIII
GENERAL COVENANTS AND PROVISIONS

Section 801.  Payment of Principal and Interest. The City covenants and agrees that it will,
but solely from the rents, revenues and receipts derived from the Project Equipment and the Lease as
described herein, deposit or cause to be deposited in the Bond Fund sufficient sums payable under the
Lease promptly to meet and pay the principal of and the interest on the Bonds as they become due and
payable at the place, on the dates and in the manner provided herein and in the Bonds according to the
trae intent and meaning thereof. Nothing herein shall be construed as requiring the City to operate the

-17-




Project Equipment as & business other than as lessor or to use any funds or revenues from any source
other than funds and revenues derived from the Project Equipment.

Section 802.  Authority to Execute Indenture and Issue Bonds. The City covenants that it is
duly authorized under the Constitution and laws of the State of Missouri to execute this Indenture, to
issue the Bonds and to pledge and assign the Trust Estate in the manner and to the extent herein set forth;
that all action on its part for the execution and delivery of this Indenture and the issuance of the Bonds has
heen duly and effectively taken; that the Bonds in the hands of the Owners thereof are and will be valid
and enforceable obligations of the City according to the import thereof.

Section 803.  Performance of Covenants. The City covenants that it will fajthfully perform at
all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in this Indenture, in
the Bonds and in all proceedings of its governing body pertaining thereto. The Trustee may take such
action as it deems appropriate to enforce all such covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions of
the City hereunder.

Section 804.  Instruments of Further Assurance. The City covenants that it will do, execute,
acknowledge and deliver, or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, such Supplemental
Indentures and such further acts, instruments, financing statements and other documents as the Trustee
may reasonably require for the better pledging and assigning unto the Trustee the property and revenues
herein described to the payment of the principal of and interest, if any, on the Bonds. The City covenants
and agrees that, except as herein and in the Lease provided, it will not sell, convey, mortgage, encumber
or otherwise dispose of any part of the Project Equipment or the rents, revenues and receipts derived
therefrom or from the Lease, or of its rights under the Lease.

Section 805. Recordings and Filings. The City hereby authorizes the Trustee to file all
continuation statements of such originally filed financing statements as may be required under the
Uniform Commercial Code in order to fully preserve and protect the security of the Owners and the rights
of the Trustee hereunder provided a copy of the initial financing statement is timely delivered to the
Trustee. The City will cooperate in causing this Indenture and all Supplemental Indentures, the Lease and
all Supplemental Leases and all other security instruments to be recorded and filed in such manner and in
such places as may be required by law in order to fully preserve and protect the security of the Owners
and the rights of the Trustee hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall have no
obligation to file any initial financing statement and unless otherwise notified in writing by the City,
Owner, or Company, the Trustee may conclusively rely upon any originally filed financing statement in
filing any continuations statements hercunder.

Section 806.  Inspection of Project Equipment Boeks. The City covenants and agrees that
all books and documents in its possession relating to the Project Equipment and the rents, revenues and
receipts derived from the Project Equipment shall at all times be open to inspection by such accountants
or other agencies as the Trustee may from time to time designate.

Section 807. Enforcement of Rights Under the Lease. The City covenants and agrees that it
shall enforce all of its rights and all of the obligations of the Company (at the expense of the Company)
under the Lease to the extent necessary to preserve the Project Equipment in good repair and reasonably
safe operating condition, and to protect the rights of the Trustee and the Owners hereunder with respect to
the pledge and assignment of the rents, revenues and receipts coming due under the Lease; provided that,
the City and the Trustee, as its assignee, shall refrain from enforcing any such right or obligation (except
for the Unassigned Rights and the rights of the City or the Trustee to receive payments owing to either of
them for their own account under the Indenture, the Lease, the Performance Agreement or any other

-18-



agreement related to the Bonds or for their rights of indemnification or to be protected from liabilities by
insurance policies required by the Lease) if so directed in writing by the Owners of 100% of the
Outstanding Bonds. The City agrees that the Trustee, as assignee of the rentals and other amounts to be
received by the City and paid by the Company under the Lease, or in its name or in the name of the City,
may enforce all rights of the City to receive such rentals and other amounts and all obligations of the
Company to pay such rentals and other amounts under and pursuant to the Lease for and on behalf of the
Owners, whether or not the City is in default hereunder. So long as not otherwise provided in this
Indenture, the Company shall be permitted to possess, use and enjoy the Project Equipment and
appurtenances so as to carry out its obligations under the Lease.

ARTICLE IX
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 901,  Events of Default; Notice; Opportunity to Cure. If any of the following
events oceur, it is hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an “Event of Default”:

(a) Default in the due and punctual payment of the principal on any Bond, whether at
the stated maturity or accelerated maturity thereof, or at any date fixed for redemption thereof;

(b Default in the due and punctual payment of the interest on any Bond, whether at
the stated maturity or accelerated maturity thereof, or at any date fixed for redemption thereof; or

(c) Default as specified in Section 12.1 of the Lease shall have occurred.

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding and subject to Seetion 907, no default specified
above shall constitute an Event of Default until actual notice of such default by registered or certified mail
has been given by the City, the Trustee or by the Owners of 25% in aggregate principal amount of all
Bonds Outstanding to the Company and the Company has had 30 days after receipt of such notice to
correct said default or cause said default to be corrected, and has not corrected said default or caused said
default to be corrected within such period.

Section 902.  Acceleration of Maturity in Event of Default. If an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the Owners of not less than
25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding, shall, by notice in writing delivered to the
City and the Company, declare the principal of all Bonds then Outstanding and the interest accrued
thereon immediately due and payable, and such principal and interest shall thereupon become and be
immediately due and payable.

Section 903.  Surrender of Possession of Trust Estate; Righis and Duties of Trustee in
Possession. If an Gvent of Default has occurred and is continuing, the City, upon demand of the Trustee,
shall forthwith surrender the possession of, and it shall be lawful for the Trustee, by such officer or agent
as it may appoint, to take possession of all or any part of the Trust Estate, together with the books, papers
and accounts of the City pertaining thereto, and including the rights and the possession of the City under
the Lease, and to hold, operate and manage the same, and from time to time make all needful repairs and
improvements. The Trustee may lease the Project Equipment or any part thereof, in the name and for
account of the City, and collect, receive and sequester the rents, revenues and receipts therefrom, and out
of the same and any moneys received from any receiver of any part thereof pay, and set up proper

-19-




reserves for the payment of all proper costs and expenses of so taking, holding and managing the same,
including without limitation (a) reasonable compensation to the Trustee, its agents and counsel, (b) any
reasonable charges of the Trustee hereunder, (¢} any taxes and assessments and other charges prior to the
lien of this Indenture, (d) all expenses of such repairs and improvements, and (¢) any amounts payable
under the Performance Agreement. The Trustee shall apply the remainder of the moneys so received in
accordance with the provisions of Section 908 hereof. Whenever all that is due upon the Bonds has been
paid and all defaults made good, the Trustee shall surrender possession of the Trust Estate to the City, its
successors or assigns, the same right of entry, however, to exist upon any subsequent Event of Default.
While in possession of such property, the Trustee shall render annually to the City and the Company a
summarized statement of receipts and expenditures in connection therewith.

Section 904.  Appointment of Receivers in Event of Default. If an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, and upon the filing of a suit or other commencement of judicial proceedings
to enforce the rights of the Trustee and of the Owners under this Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled,
as a matter of right, to the appointment of a receiver or receivers of the Trust Estate or any part thereof,
pending such proceedings, with such powers as the court making such appointment shall confer.

Section 905,  Exercise of Remedies by the Trustee.

{a) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Trustee may pursue any available
remedy at law or in equity by suit, action, mandamus or other proceeding to enforce the payment of the
principal of and interest on the Bonds then Outstanding, and to enforce and compel the performance of
the duties and obligations of the City or the Company as herein set forth or as set forth in-the Lease,
respectively.

) f an Event of Default has occurred and Is continuing, and if requested to do so by (1) the
City (in the case of an Event of Default arising out of Section 12.1(b), (c), (d) or (e) of the Lease), or (2)
the Owners of 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding and indemnified as
provided in subsection (I) of Section 1001 hereof, the Trustee shall be obligated to exercise such one or
more of the rights and powers conferred by this Article as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall
deem most expedient and in the interests of the City or the Owners, as the case may be.

(c) All rights of action under this Indenture or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by
the Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or other
proceedings relating thereto, and any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be brought in
its name as Trustee without necessity of joining as plaintiffs or defendants any Owners, and any recovery
of judgment shall, subject to the provisions of Section 908 hereof, be for the equal benefit of all the
Owners of the Outstanding Bonds.

Section 986.  Limitation on Exercise of Remedies by Owners. No Owner shall have any
right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the enforcement of this Indenture or
for the execution of any frust hereunder or for the appointment of a receiver or any other remedy
hereunder, unless (a)a default has occurred of which the Trustee has been notified as provided in
Section 1001(h) or of which by said subsection the Trustee is deemed to have notice, (b) such default has
become an Event of Default, (c)the Owners of 25% in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then
Outstanding have made written request to the Trustee, have offered it reasonable opportunity either to
proceed and to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding in
its own name, and have offered to the Trustee indemnity as provided in Section 1001()), and (d) the
Trostee thereafter fails or refuses to exercise the powers herein granted or fo institute such action, suit or

20-




proceeding in its own name; such notification, request and offer of indemnity are hereby declared in every
case, at the option of the Trustee, to be conditions precedent to the execution of the powers and trusts of
this Indenture, and to any action or cause of action for the enforcement of this Indenture, or for the
appointment of a receiver or for any other remedy hereunder it being understood and intended that no one
or more Owners shall have any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice this
Indenture by their action or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided, and that
all proceedings at law or equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner herein provided and
for the equal benefit of the Owners of all Bonds then Outstanding. Nothing in this Indenture contained
shall, however, affect or impair the right of any Owner to payment of the principal of and interest on any
Bond at and after the maturity thercof or the obligation of the City to pay the principal of and interest on
each of the Bonds issued hereunder to the respective Owners thereof at the time, place, from the source
and in the manner herein and in the Bonds expressed.

Section 907.  Right of Owners to Direct Proceedings.

(a) The Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding shall
have the right, at any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to the
Trustee and the City, to (i) direct the time, method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in
connection with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Indenture, or for the appointment of a
receiver or any other proceedings hereunder, or (if) direct the Trustee and the City to refrain, for such
period of time as such Owners may specify, from exercising any remedies available to the Trustee or the
City under this Indenture, the Lease or applicable law; provided that such direction shall not be otherwise
than in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Indenture, including Section 1001(%) hereof.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision in this Indenture or the Lease to the contrary, including
paragraph (a) of this Section, the Owners shall not have the right to control or direct any remedies
hereunder upon an Event of Default under Section 12.1(b), (¢), (d) or (e} of the Lease.

Section 908.  Application of Moneys in Event of Default.

(a) All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant to any right given or action taken under the
provisions of this Article shall, after first, the of the cost and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the
collection of such moneys and of the fees, expenses, liabilities and advances incurred or made by the
Trustee (including any attorneys fees and expenses) or amounts to be paid pursuant to Section 903 hereof
and second, the payment of any obligations outstanding under the Performance Agreement, be deposited
in the Bond Fund and all moneys so deposited in the Bond Fund shall be applied as follows:

1) Unless the principal of all the Bonds shall have become or shall have been
declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied:

FIRST -- To the payment to the Persons entitled thereto of all installments of
interest, if any, then due and payable on the Bonds, in the order in which such
installments of interest became due and payable, and, if the amount available shall not be
sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then to the payment ratably, according
to the amounts due on such instaliment, to the Persons entitled thereto, without any
discrimination or privilege;

21-




SECOND - To the payment to the Persons entitled thercof of the unpaid
principal of any of the Bonds which shall have become due and payable (other than
Bonds called for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the
provisions of this Indenture), in the order of their due dates, and, if the amount available
shall not be sufficient to pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with such
interest, then to the payment, ratably, according to the amount of principal due on such
date, to the Persons entitled thercto without any discrimination or privilege.

2 If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due or shall have been
declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal and
interest, if any, then due and unpaid on all of the Bonds, without preference or priority of
principal over interest or of interest over principal or of any installment of interest over any other
installment of interest or of any Bond over any other Bond, ratably, according to the amounts due
respectively for principal and interest, to the Person entitled thereto, without any discrimination
or privilege.

3 If the principal of all the Bonds shall have been declared due and payable, and if

such declaration shall thereafter have been rescinded and annulled under the provisions of

“Section 910, then, subject to the provisions of subsection (2) of this Section in the event that the

principal of all the Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, the moneys shall
be applicd in accordance with the provisions of subsection (1) of this Section.

(b) Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such
moneys shall be applied at such times and from time to time as the Trustee shall determine, having due
regard to the amount of such moneys available and which may become available for such application in
the future. Whenever the Trustee shall apply such moneys, it shall fix the date (which shall be a Payment
Date unless it shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon
such date interest on the amounts of principal to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue.

(c) Whenever all of the Bonds and interest thereon, if amy, have been paid under the
provisions of this Section, and all fees, expenses and charges of the City and the Trustee and any other
amounts required to be paid under this Indenture and the Lease have been paid (including any amounts
payable under the Performance Agreement), any balance remaining in the Bond Fund shall be paid to the
Company as provided in Section 603 hereof.

Section 909. Remedies Cumulative. No remedy by the terms of this Indenture conferred
upon or reserved to the Trustee or to the Owners is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each
and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the
Trustee or to the Owners hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statuie. No
delay or omission to exercise any tight, power or remedy accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair
any such right, power or remedy or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such Event of Default or
acquicscence therein; every such right, power or remedy may be exercised from time to time and as often
as may be deemed expedient. If the Trustee has proceeded to enforce any right under this Indenture by
the appointment of a receiver, by entry, or otherwise, and such proceedings have been discontinued or
abandoned for any reason, or have been determined adversely, then and in every such case the City, the
Company, the Trustee and the Owners shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, and
all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee shall continue as if no such proceedings had been taken.

22



Section 910. Waivers of Events of Default. The Trustee may in its discretion waive any
Event of Default hereunder and its consequences and rescind any declaration of maturity of principal of
and interest, if any, on Bonds, and shall do so upon the written request of the Owners of at least 50% in
aggregate principal amount of all the Bonds then Outstanding, provided, however, that (1) there shall not
be waived without the consent of the City an Event of Default hereunder arising from an Event of Default
under Section 12.1(b), {c), (d) or () of the Lease, and (2) there shall not be waived without the consent of
the Owners of all the Bonds Outstanding (a) any Event of Default in the payment of the principal of any
Qutstanding Bonds when due (whether at the date of maturity or redemption specified therein), or (b) any
Bvent of Default in the payment when due of the interest on any such Bonds, unless prior to such waiver
or rescission, all arrears of interest, or all arrears of payments of principal when due, as the case may be,
and all reasonable expenses of the Trustee and the City (including attorneys fees and expenses), in
connection with such default, shall have been paid or provided for. In case of any such waiver or
rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the Trustee on account of any such default shall have been
discontinued or abandoned or determined adversely, then and in every such case the City, the Company,
the Trustee and the Owners shall be restored to their former positions, rights and obligations hereunder,
respectively, but no such waiver or rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other default, or impair
any right consequent thereon.

ARTICLE X
THE TRUSTEE

Section 1001. Acceptance of the Trusts. The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts imposed upon
it by this Indenture, but only upon and subject to the following express terms and conditions, and no
implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Indenture against the Trustee:

(a) The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and after the curing of
all Events of Default which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such
duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture. If any Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, subject to Section 1001(1) below, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and
powers vested in it by this Indenture, and shall use the same degree of care and skill in their
exercise, as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of its
own affairs.

(b) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or perform any
duties hereunder either directly or through agents, attorneys or receivers and shall not be
responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent, attorney or receiver
appointed or chosen by it with due care. The Trustee may conclusively rely upon and act upon
any opinion or advice of counsel, who may be counsel to the City or to the Company, concerning
all matters of trust hereof and the duties hereunder, and may in all cases pay such reasonable
compensation to all such agents, attorneys and receivers as may reasonably be employed in
connection with the trusts hereof. The Trustee shafl not be responsible for any loss or damage
resulting from any action or nonaction by it taken or omitted to be taken in good faith in reliance
upon such opinion or advice of counsel addressed to the City and the Trustee.

(c) The Trustee shall not be responsible for any recital herein or in the Bonds (except

with respect to the Certificate of Authentication of the Trustee endorsed on the Bonds), or except
as provided in the Lease and particularly Section 10.8 thereof, for the recording or rerecording,

23




filing or refiling of this Indenture or any security agreement in connection therewith (excluding
the continuation of Uniform Commercial Code financing statements filed in connection with and
at the time of the issuance of the Bonds, provided that copies of the filed statements are timely
delivered to the Trustee), or for insuring the Project Equipment or collecting any insurance
moneys, or for the validity of the execution by the City of this Indenture or of any Supplemental
Indentures or instruments of further assurance, or for the sufficiency of the security of the Bonds.
The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered in connection with any
investment of funds made by it in accordance with Article VII hereof.

{(d) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use of any Bonds authenticated and
delivered hereunder. The Trustee, in its individual or any other capacity, may become the Owner
or pledgee of Bonds with the same rights that it would have if it were not Trustee. The Trustee
shall not be accountable for the use or application by the City or the Company of the proceeds of
any of the Bonds or of any money paid to or upon the order of the City or Company under any
provision of this Indenture.

(e) The Trustee may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting
upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction,
consent, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document provided for under this
Indenture believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed, presented or sent by the proper
Person or Persons. Any action taken by the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture upon the request or
authority or consent of any Person who, at the time of making such request or giving such
authority or consent is an Owner, shall be conclusive and binding upon all future Owners of the
same Bond and upon Bonds issued in exchange therefor or upon transfer or in place thereof.

(f) As to the existence or nonexistence of any fact or as to the sufficiency or validity
of any instrument, paper or proceeding, or whenever in the administration of this Indenture the
Trustee shall deem it desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to taking, suffering or
omitting any action hereunder, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon a certificate signed by the
Authorized City Representative or an Authorized Company Representative as sufficient evidence
of the facts therein contained, and prior to the occurrence of a default of which the Trustee has
been notified as provided in subsection (1) of this Section or of which by said subsection it is
deemed to have notice, the Trustee shall also be at Clinton to accept a similar certificate to the
effect that any particular dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient, but may at its
discretion secure such further evidence deemed necessary or advisable, but shall in no case be
bound to secure the same. The Trustee is under no duty to perform an independent investigation
as to any statement or fact contained in any such certificate, opinion or advice it obtains regarding
the accuracy or truth of any statement or correctness of any opinion. The Trustee shall not be
liable for any action or inaction taken in good faith in reliance on such a certificate or any advice
received from counsel, and the Trustee may conclusively rely as to the truth of the statements and
the correctness of the opinions or statements expressed therein.

() The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture
shall not be construed as a duty, and the Trustee shall not be answerable for other than its
negligence or willful misconduct. In no event shall the Trustce be liable for consequential
damages. The Trustee shall not be liable for any act or omission, in the absence of bad faith,
when the Trustee reasonably believes the act or failure to act is authorized and within its powers
to perform under the Indenture.

4.




(h) The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice of
any default hereunder except failure by the City to cause to be made any of the payments to the
Trustee required to pay the principal of and the interest on the Bonds as the same become due and
payable, unless the Trustee is specifically notified in writing of such defanlt by the City or by the
Owners of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then Outstanding.

(i) At any and all reasonable times and subject to the Company’s reasonable and
standard security procedures, the Trustee and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts,
engineers, accountants and representatives shall have the right, but shall not be required, to
inspect any and all of the Project Equipment, and all books, papers and records of the City
pertaining to the Project Equipment and the Bonds, and to take such memoranda from and in
regard thereto as may be desired. The Trustee shall treat all proprietary information of the
Company as confidential.

) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect to the
execution of its trusts and powers hereunder or otherwise in respect of the Project Equipment.

k) The Trustee shall have the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect
of the authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, the release of any property, or any
action whatsoever within the purview of this Indenture, any showings, certificates, opinions,
appraisals or other information, or corporate action or evidence thereof, in addition to that by the
terms hereof required, as a condition of such action by the Trustee deemed desirable for the
purpose of establishing the right of the City to the authentication of any Bonds, the withdrawal of
any cash, or the taking of any other action by the Trustee.

)] Notwithstanding anything in the Indenture or the Lease to the contrary, before
taking any action under this Indenture other than the payments from moneys on deposit in the
Project Fund or the Bond Fund, as provided herein, the Trustee may require that satisfactory
indemnity be furnished to it for the reimbursement of all costs and expenses to which it may be
put and to protect it against all liability which it may incur in or by reason of such action, except
Hability which is adjudicated to have resulted from its negligence ox willful misconduct by reason
of any action so taken.

(m)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Indenture to the contrary, any
provision relating to the conduct of, intended to provide authority to act, right to payment of fees
and expenses, protection, immunity and indemnification to the Trustee, shall be interpreted to
include any action of the Trustee, whether it is deemed to be in its capacity as Trustee, bond
registrar or Paying Agent.

(n) The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any information,
statement or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure
material prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds, except for any information provided
by the Trustee, and shall have no responsibility for compliance with any state or federal securities
laws in connection with the Bonds.

(o) None of the provisions of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or

risk its own funds or otherwise to incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of
any of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if it shall have

25-




reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or indemnity satisfactory to it
against such risk or liability is not assured to it.

(p) In no event shall the Trustee be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in
the performance of its obligations hereunder arising out of or caused by, directly or indirectly,
forces beyond its control, including, without limitation, strikes, work stoppages, accidents, acts or
war or terrorism, civil or military disturbances, nuclear or natural catastrophes or acts of God, and
interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, communications or computer (software and
hardwarc) services.

Section 1002, TFees, Charges and Expenses of the Trustee. The Trustee shall be entitled to
payment of and/or reimbursement for reasonable fees for its ordinary services rendered hereunder and all
advances, agent and counsel fees and other ordinary expenses reasonably made or incurred by the Trustee
in connection with such ordinary services. If it becomes neccessary for the Trustee to petform
extraordinary services, it shall be entitled to reasonable extra compensation therefor and to reimbursement
for reasonable extraordinary expenses in connection therewith; provided that if such extraordinary
services or extraordinary expenses are occasioned by the neglect or willful misconduct of the Trustee, it
shall not be entitled to compensation or reimbursement therefor. The Trustee shall be entitled to payment
and reimbursement for the fees and charges of the Trustee as Paying Agent for the Bonds. Pursuant to the
provisions of Section 5.2 of the Lease, the Company has agreed to pay to the Trustee all fees, charges and
expenses of the Trustee under this Indenture. The Trustee agrees that the City shall have no liability for
any reasonable fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee, and the Trustee agrees to look only to the
Company for the payment of all reasonable fees, charges and expenses of the Trustee and any Paying
Agent as provided in the Lease. The Trustee’s right to compensation and indemnification relating to
period during which it serves as Trustee hereunder shall survive the satisfaction and discharge of this
Indenture ot it resignation or removal hereunder and payment in full of the Bonds. Upon the occurtence
of an Event of Default and during its continuance, the Trustee shall have a first lien with right of payment
prior to payment on account of principal of or interest on any Bond, upon all moneys in its possession
under any provisions hereof for the foregoing reasonable advances, fees, costs and expenses incurred,

Section 1003. Notice to Owners if Default Occurs. If a default occurs of which the Trustee is
by Section 1001(h) hereof required to take notice or if notice of default is given as in said subsection (h)
provided, then the Trustee shall give written notice thereof to the last known Owners of all Bonds then
Outstanding as shown by the bond registration books required by Section 206 to be kept at the corporate
trust office of the Trustee.

Section 1004. Intervention by the Trustee. In any judicial proceeding to which the City is a
party and which, in the opinion of the Trustee and its counsel, has a substantial bearing on the interests of
Owners, the Trustee may intervene on behalf of Ownets and, subject to the provisions of Section 1001(1)
hereof, shall do so if requested in writing by the Owners of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount
of Bonds then Outstanding. In any instance in which the Trustee may be required to determine that a
change made by a Supplemental Indenture is not materially prejudicial to the security for the Owners,
prior to consenting to such Supplemental Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled to require that there be
delivered to it an opinion of counsel to the effect that such Supplemental Indenture is not materially
prejudicial to the security for the Owners. The Trustee shall be fully protected and shall incur no Hability
in relying upon such opinion of counsel in making such determination.

Section 1005. Successor Trustee Upon Merger, Consolidation or Sale. Any corporation or
association into which the Trustee may be merged or converted or with or into which it may be

26-




consolidated, or to which it may sell or transfer its corporate trust business and assets as a whole or
substantially as a whole, or any corporation or association resulting from any merger, conversion, sale,
consolidation or transfer to which it is a party, shall be and become successor Trustee hereunder and shall
be vested with all the trusts, powers, rights, obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and privileges
hereunder as was its predecessor, without the execution or filing of any instrument or any further act on
the part of any of the parties hereto.

Section 1006. Resignation of Trustee. The Trustee and any successor Trustee may al any time
resign from the trusts hereby created by giving 30 days” written notice to the City, the Company and the
Owners, and such resignation shall take effect at the end of such 30 days, or upon the earlier appointment
of a successor Trustec by the Owners or by the City; provided, however, that in no event shall the
resignation of the Trustee or any successor trustee become effective until such time as a sucecessor trustee
has been appointed and has accepted the appointment. If no successor has been appointed and accepted
the appointment within 30 days after the giving of such notice of resignation, the Trustee may petition any
court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee. The Trustee’s rights to
indemnity and to any fees, charges or other amounts due and payable to it shall survive such resignation.

Section 1007. Removal of Trustee. The Trustee may be removed at any time, with or without
cause, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing (a) delivered to the Truste, the City and the
Company and signed by the Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then
Outstanding, or (b) so long as no Event of Default under this Indenture or the Lease shall have occurred
and be continuing, delivered to the Trustee, the Company and the Owners and signed by the City. The
Trustee’s rights to indemnity and to any fees, charges or other amounts due and payable to it shall survive
such removal.

Section 1008, Appointment of Successor Trustee. If the Trustee hercunder resigns or is
removed, or otherwise becomes incapable of acting hereunder, or if it is taken under the control of any
public officer or officers or of a receiver appointed by a court, a successor Trustee (a) reasonably
acceptable to the City may be appointed by the Company (so long as no Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing), or (b) reasonably acceptable to the City and the Company may be appointed by the
Owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Outstanding, by an instrument or
concurrent instruments in writing; provided, nevertheless, that in case of such vacancy, the City, by an
instrument executed and signed by its Mayor and attested by its City Clerk under its seal, may appoint a
temporary Trustee to fill such vacancy until a successor Trustee shall be appointed in the manner above
provided. Any such temporary Trustee so appointed by the City shall immediately and without further
acts be superseded by the successor Trustee so appointed as provided above. Every such Trustee
appointed pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall be a trust company or bank in good standing and
qualified to accept such trust having, or whose obligations are guaranteed by a financial institution
having, a reported capital, surplus and undivided profits of not less than $50,000,000. If no successor
Trustee has been so appointed and accepted appointment in the manner herein provided, the Trustee or
any Owner may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustes,
until a successor shali have been appointed as above provided.

Section 1009, Vesting of Trusts in Successor Trustee. Every successor Trustee appointed
hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to the City and the Company
an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder, and therenpon such successor shall,
without any further act, deed or conveyance, become fully vested with all the trusts, powers, rights,
obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and privileges of its predecessor, and the duties and obligations
of such predecessor hereunder shall thereafter cease and terminate; but such predecessor shall,

27-




nevertheless, on the written request of the City, execute and deliver an instrument transferring to such
successor Trustee all the trusts, powers, rights, obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and privileges of
such predecessor hereunder; every predecessor Trustee shall deliver all securities and moneys held by it
as Trustee hereunder to its successor. Should any instcument in writing from the City be required by any
predecessor or successor Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in such successor the trusts, powers,
rights, obligations, duties, remedies, immunities and privileges hereby vested in the predecessor, any and
all such instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the City.

Section 1010. Right of Trustee to Pay Taxes and Other Charges. If any tax, assessment or
governmental or other charge upon, or insurance premium with respect to, any part of the Project
Equipment is not paid as required herein or in the Lease, the Trustee may pay such tax, assessment or
governmental charge or insurance premium, without prejudice, however, to any rights of the Trustee or
the Owners hereunder arising in consequence of such failure; any amount at any time so paid under this
Section, with interest thereon from the date of payment at the rate of 10% per annum, shall become an
additional obligation secured by this Indenture, and the same shall be given a preference in payment over
any payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds, and shall be paid out of the proceeds of rents,
revenues and receipts collected from the Project Equipment, if not otherwise caused to be paid; but the
Trustee shall be under no obligation to make any such payment unless it shall have been requested to do
s0 by the Owners of at least 25% of the aggregate principal amount of Bonds then Qutstanding and shall
have been provided adequate funds for the purpose of such payment.

Section 1011. Trust Estate May be Vested in Co-{rustee.

(a) It is the purpose of this Indenture that there shall be no violation of any law of any
jurisdiction (including particularly the State of Missouri) denying or restricting the right of banking
corporations or associations to transact business as trustee in such jurisdiction. It is recognized that in
case of litigation under this Indenture or the Lease, and in particular in case of the enforcement of either
this Indenture or the Lease upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, or if the Trustee deems that by
reason of any present or future law of any jurisdiction it cannot exercise any of the powers, rights or
remedies herein granted to the Trustee, or take any other action which may be desirable or necessary In
connection therewith, it may be necessary or desirable that the Trustee appoint an additional individual or
institution as a co-trustee or separate trustee, and the Trustee is hereby authorized to appoint such co-
trustee or separate trustee,

(b) If the Trustee appoints an additional individual or institution as a co-trustee or separate
trustee (which appointment shall be subject to the approval of the Company), each and every remedy,
powet, right, claim, demand, cause of action, immunity, title, intetest and lien expressed or intended by
this Indenture to be exercised by the Trustee with respect thereto shall be exercisable by such co-trostee
or separate trustee but only to the extent necessary to enable such co-trustee or separate trustee to exercise
such powers, rights and remedies, and every covenant and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by
such co-trustee or separate trustee shall run to and be enforceable by either of them.

(c) Should any deed, conveyance or instrument in writing from the City be required by the
co-trustee or separate trustee so appointed by the Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting in and
confirming to such co-trustee such properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations, any and all
such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on réquest, be executed, acknowledged and
delivered by the City.

28-




(d) If any co-trustee or separate trustee shall die, become incapable of acting, resign or be
removed, all the properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such co-trustee or separate
trustee, so far as permitted by law, shall vest in and be exercised by the Trustee until the appointment of a
successor to such co-trustee or separate trustee.

Section 1012. Accounting. The Trustee shall render an annual accounting for the period
ending December 31 of each year to the City, the Company and to any Owner requesting the same and,
upon the request of the Company or the Owner, a monthly accounting to the Company and the Owner,
showing in reasonable detail all financial fransactions relating to the Trust Estate during the accounting
period and the balance in any funds or accounts created by this Indenture as of the beginning and close of
such accounting period.

Section 1013. Performance of Duties Under the Lease. The Trustee hereby accepts and
agreos to perform all duties and obligations assigned to it under the Lease.

ARTICLE X1
SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Section 1101.  Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Owners. The City and
the Trustee may from time to time, without the consent of or notice to any of the Owners, enter into such
Supplemental Indenture or Supplemental Indentures as shall not be inconsistent with the terms and
provisions hereof, for any one or more of the following purposes:

(a) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Indenture, or to make
any other change which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not to the material prejudice of the
Trustee or the Owners (provided the Trustee is entitled to receive and may conclusively rely upon
an opinion of counsel in exercising such judgment};

)] To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Owners any
additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully be granted to or conferred upon
the Owners or the Trustee or either of them;

(c) To more precisely identify the Project Equipment;

(d) To conform the Indenture to amendments to the Lease made by the City and the
Company; or

(e) 'Po subject to this Indenture additional revenues, properties or collateral.

29-




Section 1102. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Owners.

(a) Exclusive of Supplemental Indentures covered by Section 1101 hereof and subject to the
terms and provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the Owners of not less than a majority
in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have the right, from time to time,
anything contained in this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, to consent to and approve the
execution by the City and the Trustee of such other Supplemental Indenture or Supplemental Indentures
as shall be deemed necessary and desirable by the City for the purpose of modifying, amending, adding to
or rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in this Indenture or in any
Supplemental Indenture; provided, however, that without the consent of the Owners of 100% of the
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, nothing in this Section contained shall permit or be
construed as permitting (1) an extension of the maturity or a shortening of the redemption date of the
principal of or the interest, if any, on any Bond issued hereunder, or (2) a reduction in the principal
amount of any Bond or the rate of interest thereon, if any, or (3) a privilege or priority of any Bond or
Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds, or (4) a reduction in the aggregate principal amount of Bonds the
Owners of which are required for consent to any such Supplemental Indenture.

() If at the time the City shall request the Trustee to enter into any such Supplemental
Indenture for any of the purposes of this Section, the Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed execution
of such Supplemental Indenture to be mailed to each Owner as shown on the bond registration books
required by Section 206 hereof. Such notice shall briefly set forth the nature of the proposed
Supplemental Indenture and shall state that copies thereof are on file at the payment office of the Trustee
for inspection by all Owners. If within 60 days or such longer period as may be prescribed by the City
following the mailing of such notice, the Owners of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount
of the Bonds Outstanding at the time of the execution of any such Supplemental Indenture shall have
consented to and approved the execution thereof as herein provided, no Owner shall have any right to
object to any of the terms and provisions contained therein, or the operation thereof, or in any manner to
question the propriety of the execution thereof, or to enjoin or restrain the Trustee or the City from
executing the same or from taking any action pursuant to the provisions thereof.

Section 1103. Company’s Consent to Supplemental Indentures. Anything herein to the
conirary notwithstanding, a Supplemental Indenture under this Article which affects any rights of the
Company shall not become effective unless and until the Company shall have consented in writing to the
execution and delivery of such Supplemental Indenture. The Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed
execution and delivery of any Supplemental Indenture (regardless of whether it affects the Company’s
rights) together with a copy of the proposed Supplemental Indenture to be mailed to the Company at least
15 days prior to the proposed date of execution and delivery of the Supplemental Indenture,

Section 1104. Opinion of Counsel. In executing, or accepting the additional trusts created by,
any Supplemental Indenture permitted by this Article or the modification thereby of the trusts created by
this Indenture, the Trustee and the City shall receive, and, shall be fully protected in relying upon, an
opinion of counsel addressed and delivered to the Trustee and the City stating that the execution of such
Supplemental Indenture is permitted by and in compliance with this Indenture and will, upon the
execution and delivery thereof, be a valid and binding obligation of the City. The Trustee may, but shall
not be obligated to, enter into any such Supplemental Indenture which affects the Trustee’s rights, duties
or immunities under this Indenture or otherwise.

-30-




ARTICLE XII
SUPPLEMENTAL LEASES

Section 1201. Supplemental Leases Not Requiring Consent of Owners. The City and the
Trustee shall, without the consent of or notice to the Owners, consent to the execution of any
Supplemental Lease or Supplemental Leases by the City and the Company as may be required (a) by the
provisions of the Lease and this Indenture, (b) for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or formal defect or
omission in the Lease, (c)so as to more precisely identify the Project Equipment or add additional
property thereto or (d) in cormection with any other change therein which, in the judgment of the Trustee,
does not materially and adversely affect the Trustee or security for the Owners. In any instance in which
the Trustee may be required to determine that a change made by a Supplemental Lease does not
materially and adversely affect the Trustee or security for the Owners, prior to consenting to such
Supplemental Lease, the Trustee shall be entitled to require that there be delivered to it an opinion of
counsel to the effect that such Supplemental Lease does not materially and adversely affoct the Trustee or
security for the Owners. The Trustee shall be fully protected and shall incur no liability in relying upon
such opinion of counsel in making such determination.

Section 1202. Supplemental Leases Requiring Consent of Owners. Except for Supplemental
Leases as provided for in Section 1201 hereof, neither the City nor the Trustee shall consent to the
execution of any Supplemental Lease or Supplemental Leases by the City or the Company without the
mailing of notice and the obtaining of the written approval or consent of the Owners of not less than a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding given and obtained as
provided in Section 1102 hereof. If at any time the City and the Comparny shall request the consent of the
Trustee to any such proposed Supplemental Lease, the Trustee shall cause notice of such proposed
Supplemental Lease to be mailed in the same manner as provided in Section 1102 hereof with respect to
Supplemental Indentures. Such notice shall briefly set forth the nature of such proposed Supplemental
Lease and shall state that copies of the same are on file in the payment office of the Trustee for inspection
by all Owners. If within 60 days or such longer period as may be prescribed by the City following the
mailing of such notice, the Owners of not less than 50% in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds
Outstanding at the time of the execution of any such Supplemental Lease shall have consented to and
approved the execution thereof as herein provided, no Owner shall have any right to object to any of the
terms and provisions contained therein, or the operation thereof, or in any manner to question the
propriety of the execution thereof, or to enjoin or restrain the Trustee or the City from executing the same
or from taking any action pursuant to the provisions thereof.

Section 1203. Opinion of Counsel. In executing or consenting to any Supplemental Lease
permitted by this Article, the City and the Trustee shall receive, and shall be fully protected in relying
upon, an opinion of counsel addressed to the Trustee and the City stating that the executing of such
Supplemental T.ease is authorized or permitted by the Lease and this Indenture and the applicable law and
will upon the execution and delivery thereof be valid and binding obligations of the parties thereof.

31-




ARTICLE XIII
SATISFACTION AND DISCHARGE OF INDENTURE
Section 1301. Satisfaction and Discharge of this Indenture.

(a) When the principal of and interest on all the Bonds have been paid in accordance with
their terms or provision has been made for such payment, as provided in Section 1302 hereof, and
provision also made for paying all other sums payable hereunder and under the Lease and the
Performance Agreetnent, inchuding the reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee, the City and Paying
Agent to the date of retirement of the Bonds, then the right, title and interest of the Trustee in respect
hereof shall thereupon cease, determine and be void. Thereupon the Trustee shall cancel, discharge and
release this Indenture and shall, upon the written request of the City or the Company, execue,
acknowledge and deliver to the City such instruments of satisfaction and discharge or release as shall be
required to evidence such release and the satisfaction and discharge of this Indenture, and shall assign and
deliver to the City any property at the time subject to this Indenture which may then be in its possession,
except amounts in the Bond Fund required to be paid to the Company under Section 693 hereof and
except funds or securities in which such funds are invested and held by the Trustee for the payment of the
principal of and interest on the Bonds.

(b) The City is hereby authorized to accept a certificate by the Trustee that the whole amount
of the principal and interest, if any, so due and payable upon all of the Bonds or coupons then
Outstanding has been paid or such payment provided for in accordance with Section 1302 hereof as
ovidence of satisfaction of this Indenture, and upon receipt thereof shall cancel and erase the inscription
of this Indenture from its records.

Section 1302. Bonds Deemed to be Paid.

(a) Bonds shall be deemed to be paid within the meaning of this Article when payment of the
principal of and interest thereon to the due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity
or upon redemption as provided in this Indenture, or otherwise), either (1) have been made or caused to
be made in accordance with the terms thereof, or (2) have been provided for by depositing with the
Trustes or other commercial bank or trust company having full trust powers and authorized to accept
trusts in the State of Missouri in trust and irrevocably set aside exclusively for such payment (i) moneys
sufficient to make such payment or (ii) Government Securities maturing as to principal and interest in
such amount and at such times as will insure the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment,
or (3) have been provided for by surrendering the Bonds to the Trustee for cancellation. At such time as
Bonds are deemed to be paid hereunder, as aforesaid, they shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the
benefits of this Indenture, except for the purposes of such payment from such moneys or Government
Securities.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Bonds which by their terms may be
redeemed prior to the stated maturities thereof, no deposit under clause (2) of the immediately preceding
paragraph shall be deemed a payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until, as to all such Bonds which are to
be redeemed prior to their respective stated maturities, proper notice of such redemption shall have been
given in accordance with Article IX of this Indenture or irrevocable instructions shall have been given to
the Trustee to give such notice.

32




() Notwithstanding any provision of any other section of this Indenture which may be
contrary to the provisions of this Section, all moneys or Government Securities set aside and held in trust
pursuant to the provisions of this Section for the payment of Bonds shall be applied to and used solely for
the payment of the particular Bonds, with respect to which such moneys and Government Securities have
been so set aside in trust.

ARTICLE X1V
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 1401. Consents and Other Instruments by Owners. Any consent, request, direction,
approval, objection or other imstrument required by this Indenture to be signed and executed by the
Owners may be in any number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be signed or executed by
such Owners in Person or by agent appointed in writing. Proof of the execution of any such instrument or
of the writing appointing any such agent and of the ownership of Bonds (other than the assignment of
ownership of a Bond), if made in the following manner, shall be sufficient for any of the purposes of this
Indenture, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Trustee with regard to any action taken, suffered or
omitted under any such instrument, namely:

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any Person of any such instrument may be
proved by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take
acknowledgements within such jurisdiction that the Person signing such instrument
acknowledged before him the execution thereof, or by affidavit of any witness to such execution.

(b) The fact of ownership of Bonds and the amount or amounts, numbers and other
identification of such Bonds, and the date of holding the same shall be proved by the registration
books of the City maintained by the Trustee pursuant to Section 206 hereof.

Section 1402. Limitation of Rights Under this Indenture. With the exception of rights herein
expressly conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture or the Bonds
is intended or shall be construed to give any Person other than the parties hereto, and the Owners, if any,
any right, remedy or claim under or in respect to this Indenture, this Indenture and all of the covenants,
conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the
parties hereto and the Owners, as herein provided.

Section 1403. Notices. It shall be sufficient service of any notice, request, complaint, demand
or ather paper required by this Indenture to be given or filed with the City, the Trustee, the Company or
Owners if the same is duly mailed, postage prepaid, sent by overnight delivery or other delivery service or
sent by email:

(a) To the City:
City of Clinton, Missouri
105 E. Ohio Street

Clinion, Missouri 064735
Attention: City Administrator

w33-



{b) To the Trustee:

UMB Bank, N.A.

928 Grand Blvd, 12th Floor

Kansas City, MO 64106

Attention: Corporate Trust Department

(c) To the Company:

Schreiber Foods, nc.

P.O. Box 19010

Green Bay, WI 54307-9010
Adttention:

(d) To the Owners if the same is duly mailed by first class, registered or certified
mail addressed to each of the Owners of Bonds at the time Outstanding as shown by the bond
registration books required by Section 206 hereof to be kept at the office of the Trustee.

All notices given by certified or registered mail as aforesaid shall be deemed fully given as of the
date they are so mailed. All notices given by overnight delivery ot other delivery service shall be deemed
fully given as of the date when receipted. All notices given by email shall be deemed fully given as of the
date when receipted. A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate or other communication given hereunder
by either the City or the Trustee to the other shall also be given to the Company. The City, the Company
and the Trustee may from time to time designate, by notice given hereunder to the others of such parties,
such other address to which subsequent notices, certificates or other communications shall be sent.

Section 1404. Severability. If any provision of this Indenture shall be held or deemed to be
invalid, inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any jurisdiction or jurisdictions
or in all jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any other provision or provisions hereof or
any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any other reason, such circumstances shall not
have the effect of rendering the provision in question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or
circumstance, or of rendering any other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative or
unenforceable to any extent whatever.

Section 1405. Execution in Counterparts. This Indenture may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same
instrument.

Section 1406. Governing Law. This Indenture shall be governed exclusively by and construed
in accordance with the applicable laws of the State of Missouri.

’

Section 1407. Electronic Storage. The parties agree that the transaction described herein may
be conducted and related documents may be stored by electronic means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles,
clectronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents shall be deemed to be authentic
and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim,
action or suit in the appropriate court of law.

Section 1408. Flectronic Notice to Trustee. The Trustee agrees to accept and act upon

instructions or directions pursuant to this Indenture sent in writing or by electronic notice, provided,
however, that such instructions or directions shall be signed by an Authorized Company Representative.

34




If the Company elects to give the instructions by electronic notice, the Trustee may deem such
instructions controlling. The Trustee shall not be liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly
or indirectly from the Trustee’s reliance upon and compliance with such instructions notwithstanding
such instructions conflict or are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction. Pursuant to the Lease,
the Company agrees to assume all risks arising out of the use of such electronic notice to submit
instructions and directions to the Trustee, including without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on
unauthorized instructions, and the risk or interception and misuse by third parties.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]-

35.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Clinton, Missouri, has caused this Indenture to be signed
in its name and behalf by its Mayor and the seal of the City to be hereunto affixed and attested by the City
Clerk, and to evidence its acceptance of the trusts hereby created, UMB Bank, N.A. has caused this
Indenture to be signed in its name and behalf by its duly authorized officer, all as of the date first above

written.

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI

By:

Mayor
[SEAL]

ATTEST:

By:

City Clerk

Trust Indenture
Clinton, MO / Schreiber Project
Series 2025




UMB BANK, N.A., as Trustee

Name:
Title:

Trust Indenture
Clinton, MO / Schreiber Project
Series 2025



EXHIBIT A
THE PROJECT SITE

The Project Site includes the real property located at 935 E. Nusbaum Place in Clinton, Missouri.

3-




EXHIBIT B
THE PROJECT EQUIPMENT
All equipment acquired after January 1, 2025 and financed with the proceeds of the Bonds

located on the Project Site in Clinton, Missouri, to and until the end of the Abatement Period. Such
equipment shall include equipment used in the manufacturing of food products.

B-1



EXHIBIT C
FORM OF BOND
THIS BOND OR ANY PORTION HEREOF MAY BE TRANSFERRED, ASSIGNED OR
NEGOTIATED ONLY AS PROVIDED IN THE HEREIN DESCRIBED INDENTURE.

No. 1 Not to Exceed
$29,100,000

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF MISSOURI

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI
TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BOND

(SCHREIBER PROJECT)
SERIES 2025
Interest Rate Maturity Date Dated Date
7.00% December 1, 2036 2025

OWNER: SCHREIBER FOODS, INC.

MAXIMUM

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: TWENTY-NINE MILLION ONE HUNDRED

THOUSAND DOLLARS

THE CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI, a third class city organized and existing under the
laws of the State of Missouri (the “City”), for value received, promises to pay, but solely from the source
hereinafter referred to, to the Owner named above, or registered assigns thereof, on the Maturity Date
shown above, the principal amount shown above, or such lesser amount as may be outstanding hereunder
as reflected on Schedule T hereto held by the Trustee as provided in the hereinafter referred to Indenture.
The City agrees to pay such principal amount to the Owner in any coin or currency of the United States of
America which on the date of payment thereof is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts,
and in like manner to pay to the Owner hereof, either by check or draft mailed to the Owner at a stated
address as it appears on the bond registration books of the City kept by the Trustee under the within-
mentioned Indenture or, in certain situations authorized in the Indenture, by internal bank transfer or by
electromic transfer to an account in a commercial bank or savings institution located in the continental
United States, interest on the Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount (as hereinafter defined) at the per
annum Interest Rate stated above, payable in arrears on each December 1 commencing on December 1,
2026, and continuing thereafter until the said Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount is paid in full.
Interest on each advancement of the principal amount of this Bond shall accrue from the date that such
advancement is made, computed on the basis of a year of 360 days consisting of 12 months of 30 days
each.

C-1



As used herein, the term “Cumulative Outstanding Principal Amount” means the aggregate
principal amount of Bonds outstanding under the terms of the hereinafter-defined Indenture, as reflected
on Schedule I hereto maintained by the Trustee.

THIS BOND is one of a duly authorized series of Bonds of the City designated “City of Clinton,
Missouri Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (Schreiber Project), Series 2025,” in the
maximum aggregate principal amount of $29,100,000 {the “Bonds”), to be issued for the purpose of
providing funds to pay the cost of purchasing and installing the Project Equipment, to be leased to the
Company, under the terms of a Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2025 (said Lease Agreement,
as amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with the provisions thereof, being herein
called the “Lease”), between the City and the Company, all pursuant to the authority of and in full
compliance with the provisions, restrictions and limitations of the Constitution and statutes of the State of
Missouri, including particularly the Act, and pursuant to proceedings duly had by the governing body of
the City.

THIE BONDS are issued under and are equally and ratably secured and entitled to the protection
given by a Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2025 (said Trust Indenture, as amended and
supplemented from time to time in accordance with the provisions thereof, being herein called the
“Indenture”), between the City and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”). Capitalized terms not
defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Indenture.

Reference is hereby made to the Indenture for a description of the provisions, among others, with
respect to the nature and extent of the security for the Bonds, the rights, duties and obligations of the City,
the Trustee and the Owners, and the terms upon which the Bonds are issued and secured.

THE BONDS shall be subject to redemption in accordance with the Indenture.

THE BONDS, including interest thercon, are special obligations of the City and are payable
solely out of the rents, revenues and receipts derived by the City from the Project Equipment and the
Tease and not from any other fund or source of the City, and is secured by a pledge and assignment of the
Project Equipment and of such rents, revenues and receipts, including all rentals and other amounts to be
received by the City under and pursuant to the Lease, all as provided in the Indenture. The Bonds do not
constifute a general obligation of the City or the State of Missouri, and neither the City nor said State
shall be liable thereon, and the Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any
constitutional, charter or statutory debt limitation or restriction, and are not payable in any manner by
taxation. Pursuant to the provisions of the Lease, rental payments sufficient for the prompt payment when
due of the principal of and interest on the Bonds are to be paid by the Company directly to the Trustee for
the account of the City and deposited in a special account created by the City and designated the “City of
Clinton, Missouri, Bond Fund — Schreiber Foods, Inc.”

THE OWNER of this Bond shall have no right to enforce the provision of the Indenture or to
institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any action with respect to any event of default
under the Indenture, or to institute, appear in or defend any suit or other proceedings with respect thereto,
except as provided in the Indenture. In certain ovents, on the conditions, in the manner and with the effect
set forth in the Indenture, the principal of all the Bonds issued under the Indenture and then Outstanding
may become or may be declared due and payable before the stated maturity thereof, together with interest
acorued thereon. Modifications or alterations of this Bond or the Indenture may be made only to the
extent and in the circumstances permitted by the Indenture.

C-2



THIS BOND is transferable, as provided in the Indenture, only upon the books of the City kept
for that purpose at the above-mentioned office of the Trustee by the Owner hereof in Person or by such
Person’s duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of this Bond together with a written instrument of
transfer satisfactory to the Trustee duly executed by the Owner or such Person’s duly authorized attorney,
and thereupon a new fully registered Bond or Bonds, without coupons, and in the same aggregate
principal amounts, shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor as provided in the Indenture, and
upon payment of the charges therein prescribed. The City, the Trustee and any Paying Agent may deem
and treat the Person in whose name this Bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of
receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or redemption price hereof and interest due hereon
and for all other purposes.

THE BONDS are issuable in the form of one fully-registered Bond in the maximum principal
amount of $29,100,000.

THIS BOND shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purposes or be entitled to any
security or benefit under the Indenture until the Certificate of Authentication hereon shall have been
executed by the Trustee.

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND DECLARED that all acts, conditions and things required
to exist, happen and be performed precedent to and in the execution and delivery of the Indenture and the
issuance of this Bond do exist, have happened and have been performed in due time, form and manner as
required by the Constitution and Jaws of the State of Missouri.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Clinton, Missouri, has caused this Bond to be executed
in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of its Mayor, attested by the manual or facsimile
signature of its City Clerk and its corporate seal to be affixed hereto or imprinted hereon.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]

C-3




CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI

By

Mayor
(SEAL)

ATTEST:

By

City Clerk

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

This Bond is the Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bond (Schreiber Project), Series 2025,
described in the Trust Indenture. The effective date of registration of this Bond is set forth below.

UMB BANK, N.A., as Trustee

By
Date Authorized Signatory

C-4




SCHEDULE I

TABLE OF CUMULATIVE QUTSTANDING PRINCIPAL AMOUNT

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI
TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BOND

(SCHREIBER PROJECT)
SERIES 2025
Cumulative
Outstanding Notation
Principal Amount | Principal Amount Principal Made
Date Advanced Redeemed Amount By

C-5




FORM OF ASSIGNMENT

(NOTE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERS)

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto

Print or Typewrite Name, Address and Social Security or
other Taxpayer Identification Number of Transferce

the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints
agent to transfer the within Bond on the books kept by the Trustee

for the registration and transfer of Bonds, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:

PLACE SIGNATURE MEDALLION BELOW:

C-6




EXHIBIT D

FORM OF REPRESENTATION LETTER

City of Clinton, Missouri
Clinton, Missouri
ATTN: City Clerk

UMB Bank, N.A.

928 Grand Blvd, 12th Floor

Kansas City, MO 64106

ATTN: Corporate Trust Department

Re: $29,100,000 Maximulh Principal Amount of Taxable Industrial Development Revenue
Bonds (Schreiber Project), Series 2025, of the City of Clinton, Missouri

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In connection with the purchase of the above-referenced Bonds (the “Bonds™), the undersigned
(the “Investor”) hereby represents, warrants and agrees as follows:

1. The Investor understands that (a) the Bonds are being issued under and pursuant to a
Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2025 (the “Indenture”), between City of Clinton, Missouri (the
“City”) and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), and (b) the Bonds are payable solely out of
certain rents, revenues and receipts to be derived from the leasing or sale of the Project Equipment (as
defined in the Indenture) to Schreiber Foods, Inc. (the “Company”), under a Lease Agreement dated as of
December 1, 2025 (the “Lease™), between the City and the Company, with certain of such rents, revenues
and receipts being pledged and assigned by the City to the Trustee under the Indenture to secure the
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds.

2. The Investor understands that the Bonds are transferable only in the manner provided for
i1 the Indenture and discussed below and warrants that it is acquiring the Bonds for its own account with
the intent of holding the Bonds as an investment, and the acquisition of the Bonds is not made with a view
toward its distribution or for the purpose of offering, selling or otherwise patticipating in a distribution of
the Bonds.

3. The Tnvestor agrees not to attempt to offer, sell, hypothecate or otherwise distribute the
Bonds to others unless authorized by the terms of the Indenture and upon receipt of any required opinion
of counsel acceptable to the City, the Company and the purchaser that all registration and disclosure
requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission and all other appropriate federal and Missouri
securities laws and the securities law of any other applicable state are complied with.

4, The City and the Company have (a) furnished such information as the Investor deems
necessary to make an informed investment decision with respect to the purchase of the Bonds, (b) made
available to Investor ample opportunity to ask questions of, and to receive answers from, appropriate
officers of the City and the Company and the terms and conditions of the offering of the Bonds, and
(c) provided to the Investor all additional information which it has requested.

D-1



[

5. The Investor is familiar with the operations of the Company and fully aware of terms and
risks of the Bonds. The Investor believes the Bonds that it is acquiring are a security of the kind that it
wishes to purchase and hold for investment and that the nature and amount thereof are consistent with its
investment program. The Investor is able to bear the economic risk of an investment in the Bonds,
including a complete loss of such investment

6. The Investor is fully aware of and satisfied with (a) the current status of the title to the
Project Equipment and any issues related thereto and (b) the terms, amounts and providers of the
insurance maintained pursuant to Article VII of the Lease, and the Investor is purchasing the Bonds with
full knowledge of such matters.

7. The Investor understands and agrees that the interest on the Bonds is subject to federal
and state income taxation.

8. The Tnvestor understands that the Bonds have not been registered under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act™), or the securities laws of any state and will be sold to the
Investor in reliance upon certain exemptions from registration and in reliance upon the representations
and warranties of the Investor set forth herein.

Dated: Investor Name:

By:
Title:




EXHIBIT &
ABATEMENT PERIOD
It is anticipated that the Project Equipment will be acquired in a single year. If the Project

Equipment is acquired in the years shown below, the abatement period shall begin and terminate as
shown below. No Project Equipment shall be acquired with Bond proceeds after December 31, 2028,

Date of Acquisition  Start of Abatement Period  End of Abatement Period

Before 12/31/25 January 1, 2026 December 31, 2035
1/1/26 to 12/31/26 January 1, 2027 December 31, 2036
1/1/27 to 12/31727 January 1, 2028 December 31, 2036
1/1/28 t0 12/31/28 January 1, 2029 Pecember 31, 2036

Note: Equipment acquired after December 31, 2026 will receive less than 10 years of Abatement Period.

E-1




LEASE AGREEMENT

Dated as of December 1, 2025

between the

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI,
as Lessor,

and

SCHREIBER FOODS, INC.,
as Lessee

Relating to:

$29,160,000
(Aggregate Maximum Principal Amount)
City of Clinton, Missouri
Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds
(Schreiber Project)
Series 2025

Certain rights of the City of Clinton, Missouri (the “City”), in this Lease Agreement have been
pledged and assigned to UMB Bank, N.A., as Trustee under the Trust Indenture dated as of

December 1, 2025, between the City and the Trustee,



Parties
Recitals

Section 1.1.
Section 1.2.

Section 2.1.
Section 2.2.

Section 3.1.
Section 3.2.
Section 3.3.

Section 4.1.
Section 4.2.
Section 4.3,
Section 4.4.
Section 4.5.
Section 4.6.
Section 4.7.
Section 4.8,

Section 5.1.
Section 5.2,
Section 5.3.
Section 5.4.

LEASE AGREEMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE1

DEFINITIONS

Definitions of Words and TeITIIS ..o ivriiereiseirererecniriserrie et isianesessrtserrre s siiansssaane
Rules Of INErPretation. . ..o veciiieremiis s

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS

Representations by the City.. .o
Representations by the COMPAIY ....ver e

ARTICLE I

GRANTING PROVISIONS

Granting of Leasehold BState ...o.coowvomiciicii i
Tl L =) 2o DUUURCURU OO O OOy S TP OO P PSR P S SPEPIPRPPLIES
Possession and Use of the Project Equipment.....ceoiine

ARTICLE IV

PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION OF THE PROJECT EQUIPMENT

I5SUANCE 0T ThE BOMAS, . 1eviirirereiiveisre e eriseestirarans st resemstresarnaara e rr e n s st na s ee s
Purchase and Installation of the Project Bquipment. ..o,
PrOJECT COSES . ceurernticrsreerisississ et s
Payment for Project COStS ..t
Establishment of Completion Date ..o
Surplus or Deficiency in Project Fund ...
Project Equipment Property of CIty oo
Machinery and Equipment Property of the Company ...

ARTICLE YV

RENT PROVISIONS

BASIC REIIE 11vveesevereseeeesiensrveeesesaesesensssesserescebessesesse s b e s e s ab e et n e et
AAATHONAL REIIE . vevreveeeeveeririsnirestsreestressseasassamies s asssbssassresesbesn e sass s b n s san s dsaa g s esss
Obligations of Company Absolute and Unconditional .......coconvceniiinsisennn
Prepayment of Basic REMt ... e



Section 6.1.
Section 6.2.
Section 6.3.
Section 6.4,

Section 7.1.
Section 7.2.
Section 7.3.
Section 7.4,
Section 7.5.

Section 8.1.
Section 8.2.
Section 8.3.
Section 8.4.
Section 8.5.

Section 9.1,
Section 9.2.
Section 9.3,

Section 10.1.

Section 10.2.
Section 10.3.
Section 10.4.
Section 10.5.
Section 10.6.
Section 10.7.
Section 10.8.

ARTICLE VI

MAINTENANCE, TAXES AND UTTLITIES

Maintenance and REPAITS ......cvwr i s 9
Taxes, Assessments and Other Governmental Charges ... 9
TTEILEELES vt ovesseeseesressesesseeesseesbesessbareeseabe b ehesaeaese e b e bR e e sS4 b e E SRR e E b a e EEe SR AT S RS R s 10
Property Tax EXemPon e 10
ARTICLE VII
INSURANCE
JR T u e ¢ TUTOT VU UU OO O OO PSPPSR ST EE S S I PPCTISRIL S 10
PLOPEITY INSUTAIICE 11ovevetieisieseiiasesssrases et bbb 10
Public Liability TNSUTAICE ........coiivirarersrmes s b bt 11
Blanket InsUrance POLGIES ..oiiiireriieresieeesscrsransinssrrsrres e st nesssiesaasass s s s assassss e i 11
Worker's COMPENSALION . .cuvvrrriemireseisas st bbb 11
ARTICLE VIIL

MODIFICATIONS, REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS
OF THE PROJECT EQUIPMENT

Additions of Machinery and Equipment on the Project Site......oooviiiiinns 11

Removal and Replacemeitt of Project EQUIPMENt. ..c.cccoiimimiimc i 12

B ESOTVEOM 1retireessess oo eetsesteneseeeassentsasssiatnas s anbesrne it end e aRE S aa R AR 4T £ SR L SR €S AL AR e e e e 12

Permits and AUHOTIZAIONS ..ooivviviieriereee ety b e 12

VL ANICS LIS v v e eeeeevseesseeessesreeseenesarsseasbasarasarebsssbssar s s e e e g e s e eb b e st st s e bt a b s 13
ARTICLE IX

DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION

DAMAZE OF DESIUCHOTL 1ev..vecveerinsseesserse s e 13
RESEIVEA o oveveeesvresseeeeeesesesseamsseseesssesessaanesbase b e e bsShssAn e e e b g AR £ eb e R L LS e EE SRR e L s e b d e s 15
OWIEE APPIOVALL .. cvuvrerirrureoreieisisas s st s 15
ARTICLE X
SPECIAL COVENANTS

No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by the City; Exculpation

AN TAETANITICATION. 1. e v v ceeeetrireereire e i et srra et se e b b e bbb bbb et s 15
QUITERAET OF POSSESSION «ovririrereirerereeseeresenssesss s et ste s ram e aaae s bbb e n s 15
Right of Access to the Project BQUIPIMENt. ..o 15
Granting of Easements; Leasehold Security Agreements and Financing Arrangements..16
Indemnification of City and THUSTES .....ccciirmeirmrimeer i 18
Depreciation, Investment Tax Credit and Other Tax Benefits.....ccocoiiiiinnnninee 19
Company to Maintain its EXISIEN08 .....ecire i 19
SECUTILY TIHEIESES 1ovueerrrrcnruimscariersssss e bbb bbb 19

(i)



Section 11.1.
Section 11.2.
Section 11.3.
Section 11.4.

Section 12.1.
Section 12.2.
Section 12.3.
Sectiont 12.4.
Section 12.5.
Section 12.6.
Section 12.7.

Section 13.1.
Section 13.2,
Section 13.3.
Section 134,

Section 14.1.

ARTICLE XI

OPTION AND OBLIGATION TO PURCHASE THE PROJECT

Option to Purchase the Project EQUIPIENT. .. 20
Conveyance of the Project EQUIPIMENnt .........cvoriinmi e 21
Relative Position of Option and IAenture ... oo 21
Obligation to Purchase the Project BQuiPment. ... 21

ARTICLE XII

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Evenits OF DIETMUIE. oo cvereeeeeetesreereeemeetiebesme et smaaesimrss s s s e e s e b s s b e e e s s b sa et b it E s 21
Remedies O DIETAUIE ..ot vie ettt s er e e st 22
Survival Of OBIBALIONS w.vvveerierrrecereitr et b e 23
Performance of the Company's Obligations by the City ... 23
Rights and Remedies CUmMUIAtIVE 1. 23
TV AIVEL OF BIEACH o eveeeeeeeever e iereetaaas s s s sre e bas b e s e ea e s m eSS e s b e bt 23
Trustee's Exercise of the City's Remedies ..o, 23

ARTICLE XTI

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE

AsSignIment; SUDISASE ......co i 24

Assignment of Revenues by CHY ..o 24

RESEIVEA e oveevevsvesseetsiramiseasiseseeseeabesesr s anarbass s bea b e b e g ea e ne e e e pE S b LS ST AR S eSS 0 24

Restrictions on Sale or Encumbrance of Project Equipment by City .o, 25
ARTICLE XIV

AMENDMENTS, CHANGES AND MODIFICATIONS
Amendments, Changes and Modifications.........ccurveei e 25
ARTICLE XV

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

QECHOM 151, INOTICES 1reraeeeraeeessrsreeseesssesesessreessssremsaassbbiabesseesasssaa e o be b eL b e bn s b e m b S b e LA LA e d s b bttt 25
Section 15.2.  City Shall Not Unreasonably Withhold Consents and Approvals ... 25
GECHON 15.3.  INEE LUBASC. ... iovetieetereersveeeeiesircrmiassas b e s b s he e aE s oo d b e e 42 £ L 25
Section 15.4. Limitation on Liability 0f CIEY ..o 26
Section 15.5.  GOVEIMIIE L@W..euereerrmrieoriciieins e e bbb 26
Sectioft 15.6.  Binding BFECE....ecvorri ittt 26
Section 15.7.  SEVEIADIIILY ..vocovieeesieerier it 26
Section 15.8.  Execution in COUNTEIPAITS ...ociieereitareanm s s s e 26
SIENATUTES AN SEAIS.coveevrieuiveissasrecer st b LS S-1

Exhibit A - Project Equipment
Exhibit B - Form of Requisition Certificate

(ifd)



LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT, dated as of December 1, 2025 (the “Lease”), between the CITY
OF CLINTON, MISSOURI, a third class city organized and existing under the laws of the State of
Missouri (the “City”), as lessor, and SCHREIBER FOODS, INC., a Wisconsin corporation (the
“Company”), as lessee;

RECITALS:

1. The City is authorized and empowered pursmant to the provisions of Article VI,
Section 27(b) of the Missouri Constitution, as amended, and Sections 100.010 through 100.200, inclusive,
of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended (collectively, the “Act”), to purchase, construct, extend and
imptove certain projects (as defined in Section 100.010 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended)
and to issue industrial development revenne bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the costs of
such projects and to lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to private persons or corporations for
manufacturing, commercial, warehousing, office industries and industrial development purposes upon such
terms and conditions as the City shall deem advisable.

2. Pursuant to the Act, the governing body of the City has heretofore passed an ordinance
(the “Ordinance”™) on December 2, 2025, authorizing the City to issue its Taxable Industrial Development
Revenue Bonds (Schreiber Project), Series 2025, in the maximum principal amount of $29,100,000 (the
“Bonds™), for the purpose of purchasing and installing cerfain equipment (the “Project Equipment,” as
more fully described on Exhibit A hereto) to be used by the Company at the site described on Exhibit A
to the herein defined Indenture (the “Project Site”), and authorizing the City to lease the Project
Equipment to the Company. ‘

3. Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City is authorized to enter into a Trust Indenture of even
date herewith (the “Indenture”), with UMB Bank, N.A., as Trustee (the “Trustee”), for the purpose of
issuing and securing the Bonds, as therein provided, and to enter into this Lease with the Company under
which the City will purchase and install the Project Equipment and will lease the Project Equipment to the
Company in consideration of rental payments by the Company that will be sufficient to pay the principal
of and interest on the Bonds.

4. Pursuant to the foregoing, the City desires to lease the Project Equipment to the Company
and the Company desires to lease the Project Equipment from the City, for the rentals and upon the terms
and conditions hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations,
covenants and agreements herein contained, the City and the Company do hereby represent, covenant and
agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1.  Definitions of Words and Terms. In addition to any words and terms defined
elsewhere in this Lease, capitalized words and terms used in this Lease shall have the meanings given to




such words and terms in Section 101 of the Indenture (which definitions are hereby incorporated by
reference}.

Section 1.2.  Rules of Interpretation.

(a) Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative
words of the feminine and neuter genders.

(b) Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall
include the plural and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms, associations and
corporations, including governmental entities, as well as natural persons.

(c) Wherever in this Lease it is provided that either party shall or will make any payment or
perform or refrain from performing any act or obligation, each such provision shall, even though not so
expressed, be construed as an express covenant to make such payment or to perform, or not to perform, as
the case may be, such act or obligation.

(d) All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and other
subdivisions are, unless otherwise specified, to the designated Articles, Sections and subdivisions of this
instrument as originally executed. The words “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and other words of similar
import refer to this Lease as a whole and not fo any particular Article, Section or other subdivision.

(e) The Table of Contents and the Article and Section headings of this Lease shall not be
treated as a part of this Lease or as affecting the true meaning of the provisions hereof.

) Whenever an item or items are listed after the word “including,” such listing is not
intended to be a listing that excludes items not listed.

ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS

Section 2.1.  Representations by the City. The City makes the following representations as
the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained:

(a) The City is a third class city duly organized and validly existing under the laws
of the State of Missouri. Under the provisions of the Act, the City has lawful power and authority
to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Lease and to carry out its obligations
hereunder. By proper action of its governing body, the City has been duly authorized to execute
and deliver this Lease, acting by and through its duly authorized officers.

b) As of the date of delivery hereof, the City proposes to purchase and install the
Project Equipment or cause the Project Equipment to be purchased and installed at the Project
Site. The City proposes to lease the Project Equipment to the Company and sell the Project
Equipment to the Company if the Company exercises its option to purchase the Project
Equipment or upon termination of this Lease, all for the purpose of furthering the public purposes
of the Act.




(c) The purchase and installation of the Project Equipment will further the public
purposes of the Act.

(@ No member of the governing body of the City or any other officer of the City has
any significant or conflicting interest, financial, employment or otherwise, in the Company or in
the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 2.2.  Representations by the Company. The Company makes the following
representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained:

() The Company is a corporation validly existing and in good standing under the
laws of the State of Wisconsin and is in good standing under the laws of and authorized to
conduct business in the State of Missouri.

(b) The Company has lawful power and authority to enter into this Lease and to
carry out its obligations hereunder and the Company has been duly authorized to execute and
deliver this Lease, acting by and through its duly authorized officers and representatives.

{c) The execution and delivery of this Lease, the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby, and the performance of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this
Lease by the Company will not, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, conflict with or result
in a breach of any of the terms, conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, any
mortgage, deed of trust, lease or any other restrictions or any agreement or instrument to which
the Company is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound, or the Company’s
organizational documents, or any order, rule or regulation applicable to the Company or any of its
property of any court or governmental body, or constitute a default under any of the foregoing, or
result in the creation or imposition of any prohibited lien, charge or encumbrance of any nature
whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Company under the terms of any instrument
or agreement to which the Company is a party.

(d) The Project Equipment will be located at the Project Site and will comply in all
material respects with all presently applicable laws, rules and regulations.

(e) The Project Site is located wholly within the incorporated limits of the City.
ARTICLE 1T
GRANTING PROVISIONS
Section 3.1.  Granting of Leasehold Estate. The City hereby rents, leases and lets the
Project Bquipment to the Company, and the Company hereby rents, leases and hires the Project
Equipment from the City, subject to Permitted Encumbrances existing as of the date of the execution and

delivery hereof, for the rentals and upon and subject {o the terms and conditions herein contained.

Section 3.2.  Lease Term. This Lease shall become effective upon its delivery. Subject to
carlier termination pursuant to the provisions of this Lease, the lease of the Project Equipment shall
terminate on December 1, 2036.




Section 3.3.  Possession and Use of the Project Equipment.

(a) The City covenants and agrees that as long as neither the City nor the Trustee has
exercised any of the remedies set forth in Section 12.2 following the occurrence and continuance of an
Event of Default, the Company shall have sole and exclusive possession of the Project Equipment
(subject to Permitted Encumbrances and the City’s and the Trustee’s right of access pursuant to
Section 10.3 hereof) and shal] and may peaceably and quietly have, hold and enjoy the Project Equipment
during the Lease Term. The City covenants and agrees that it will not take any action, other than
expressly pursuant to Article XII hereof, to prevent the Company from having quiet and peaceable
possession and enjoyment of the Project Equipment during the Lease Term and will, at the request and
expense of the Company, cooperate with the Company in order that the Company may have quiet and
peaceable possession and enjoyment of the Project Equipment and will defend the Company’s enjoyment
and possession thereof against all parties.

(b) Subject to the provisions of this Section, the Company shall have the right to use the
Project Equipment for any lawful purpose contemplated by the Act and consistent with the terms of the
Performance Agreement. The Company shall comply in all material respects with all statutes, laws,
ordinances, orders, judgments, decrees, regulations, directions and requirements of all federal, state, local
and other governments or goveinmental authorities, now or hereafter applicable to the Project Equipment,
as to the manner of use or the condition of the Project Equipment. The Company shall also comply with
the mandatory requirements, rules and regulations of all insurers under the policies carried under the
provisions of Article VII hereof. The Company shall pay all costs, expenses, claims, fines, penalties and
damages that may in any manner atise out of, or be imposed as a result of, the failure of the Company to
comply with the provisions of this Section. Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Section,
however, the Company shall have the right, at its own cost and expense, to contest or review by legal or
other appropriate procedures the validity or legality of any such governmental statute, law, ordinance,
order, judgment, decree, regulation, direction or requirement, or any such requirement, rule or regulation
of an insurer, and during such contest or review the Company may refrain from complying therewith.

ARTICLE IV

PURCHASE AND INSTALLATION
OF THE PROJECT EQUIPMENT

Section 4.1.  Issuance of the Bonds. To provide funds for the payment of Project Costs, the
City agrees that it will issue, sell and cause to be delivered the Bonds to the purchaser of the Bonds in
accordance with the provisions of the Indenture and the Bond Purchase Agreement. The proceeds of the
sale of the Bonds, when received, shall be paid over to the Trustec for the account of the City. The
Tndenture requires the Trustee to promptly deposit such proceeds, when received, as provided therein, to
be used and applied as hereinafter provided in this Lease and in the Indenture. Alternatively, the
Indenture permits the Trustee (pursuant to Section 208(d) of the Indenture) to endorse the Bonds in an
amount equal to the requisition certificates submitted pursuant to Section 4.4 below. In that event, the
purchaser of the Bonds shall be deemed to have deposited funds with the Trustee in an amount equal to
the amount stated in the requisition certificate.

Section 4.2.  Purchase and Installation of the Project Equipment. The City and the
Company agree that the Company as the agent of the City shall, but solely from the Project Tund,
purchase and install the Project Equipment as follows:




(a) The City will acquire any portion of the Project Equipment installed or located at
the Project Site at the execution hereof. Concurrently with the execution of this Lease, a bill of
sale and any other necessary instruments of transfer will be delivered to the City, which may
consist of a requisition containing conveyance language.

(b} The Company will purchase and install the Project Equipment at the Project Site.
Except as provided in the next sentence, title to the Project Equipment shall be evidenced by bills
of sale or other instruments of transfer (which may consist of a requisition containing conveyance
language), including purchase orders or other instruments pursuant to which the City acquires
title to personal property directly from the vendor thereof. Subject to Section 8.2, all Project
Equipment substituted by the Company shall automatically become part of the Project Equipment
subject to this Lease, and full title and ownership of such Project Equipment shall be
automatically vested in the City, without the requirement of a bill of sale or other instrument of
conveyance unless otherwise requested by the City. In any event, on or before October 15 of
each year, the Company shall furnish to the City and the Trustee certificate listing items (based
on the Company’s internal record keeping) comprising the Project Equipment as of January 1 of
such year, setting out the date such property was acquired with Bond proceeds and the date on
which the Abatement Period for each item of such property ends in accordance with Exhibit E to
the Indenture. The Trustee may conclusively rely upon such certificate in creating and
maintaining the list of Project Equipment in accordance with Section 10.8. No property shall be
included on such list of Project Equipment unless such property is within the Abatement Period
for such property. The improper inclusion or exclusion of any Project Fquipment pursuant to
such list may be rectified by the Company within 30 days after written notice to the Trustee and
City of such improper inclusion or exclusion. The improper inclusion or exclusion of an item on
or from such list shall not affect the items comprising the Project Equipment for the purpose of
this Lease or title thereto as intended by the parties hereto. The Company shall provide such
information to the Trustee as may be requested in order to ensure that such list corresponds to the
list of Project Equipment maintained by the Trustee pursuant to Section 10.8. The City and the
Company agree that property that, (1) pursuant to Section 4.8, is purchased by the Company with
its own funds and not Bond proceeds, or (2) is outside of its Abatement Period, shall not
constitute patt of the Project Equipment and shall be the property of the Company and therefore
subject to taxation.

(c) The Company will use its reasonable commercial efforts to cause the purchase
and installation of the Project Equipment to be completed as soon as practicable. If such
purchase and installation commences before the receipt of proceeds from the sale of the Bonds,
the Company agrees to advance all funds necessary for such purpose.

Section 4.3.  Project Costs. The City hereby agrees to pay for, but solely from the Project
Fund, and hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to pay for, but solely from the Project Fund, all
Project Costs upon receipt by the Trustee of a certificate pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof.

Section 4.4.  Payment for Project Costs. Except with respect to Project Costs paid pursuant
to Section 503(d) of the Indenture, all Project Costs as specified in Section 4.3 hereof shali be paid by the
Trustee from the Project Fund. The City hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to make disbursements
from the Project Fund, upon receipt by the Trustee of certificates in substantially the form attached hereto
as Exhibit B, signed by an Authorized Company Representative:




(a) requesting payment of a specified amount of such funds {(which amount shall be
equal to the value of the property being transferred to the City simultaneously with any request)
and directing to whom such amount shall be paid;

(b) describing each item of Project Costs for which payment is being requested,
including for Project Equipment, a description of the item and a serial or other identifying
number, if any, for such item;

(c) stating that each item for which payment is requested is or was desirable and
appropriate in connection with the purchase and installation of the Project Equipment, has been
properly incurred and is a proper charge against the Project Fund, that the amount requested
either has been paid by the Company, or is justly due, and has not been the basis of any previous
requisition from the Project Fund; and

(@) stating that, except for the amounts, if any, stated in said certificate, to the best of
his knowledge there are no outstanding disputed statements for which payment is requested for
labor, wages, materials, supplies or services in connection with the purchase and installation of
the Project Equipment which might become the basis of a vendors’, mechanics’, laborers’ or
materialmen’s statutory or other similar lien upon the Project Equipment or any part thereof.

The Trustee may rely conclusively on any such certificate and shall not be required to make any
independent inspection or investigation in connection therewith. The approval of any requisition
certificate by the Authorized Company Representative shall constitute, unto the Trustee, an irrevocable
determination that all conditions precedent to the payments requested have been completed.

Section4.5.  Establishment of Completion Date. The Completion Date shall be evidenced
to the Trustee by a certificate signed by the Authorized Company Representative stating (a) that the
purchase and installation of the Project Equipment has been completed and the date thereof, and (b) that
all costs and expenses incurred in the purchase and installation of the Project Equipment have been paid
except costs and expenses the payment of which is not yet due or is being retained or contested in good
faith by the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such certificate shall state that it is given without
prejudice to any rights against third parties which exist at the date of such certificate or which may
subsequently come into being. The Company and the City agree to cooperate in causing such certificate
to be furnished to the Trustee.

Section 4.6.  Surplus or Deficiency in Project Fund.

(a) Upon receipt of the certificate described in Section 4.5 hereof, the Trustee shall, as
provided in Section 504 of the Indenture, transfer any remaining moneys then in the Project Fund to the
Bond Fund to be applied as directed by the Company in wiiting solely to (1) the payment of principal and
premium, if any, of the Bonds through the payment (including regularly scheduled principal payments, if
any) or redemption thereof at the earliest date permissible under the terms of the Indenture, or (2) at the
option of the Company, to the purchase of Bonds at such carlier date or dates as the Company may elect.
Any amount so deposited in the Bond Fund may be invested as permitted by Section 702 of the
Indenture.




(b) If the Project Fund is insufficient to pay fully all Project Costs and to complete the
Project Equipment free of liens and encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances, the Company
shall pay into the Project Fund the full amount of any such deficiency, and the Trustee shall use those
Project Fund moneys to make payments to the contractors and to the suppliers of materials and services as
the same become due in accordance with the applicable contracts entered into with such contractors and
suppliers all in accordance with the provisions for payment of Project Costs set forth in Section 4.4 of this
Lease, and the Company shall save and hold harmless the City and the Trustee from any obligation to pay
such deficiency.

Section 4.7.  Project Equipment Property of City.

(a) The Project Equipment installed on or located at the Project Site at the execution hereof
and which the Company desires to convey to the City, all Project Equipment as acquired, anything under
this Lease which becomes, is deemed to be, or constitutes a part of the Project Equipment, except as
otherwise specifically provided herein, shall immediately when instatled or purchased become the
absolute property of the City, subject only to this Lease, the Indenture and the Leasehold Security
Agreement, if any.

{b) This Agreement is not to be construed as transferring to the City or the Trustee any right,
title, or inferest to, or granting license rights under, any intellectual property owned or acquired by the
Company covering the Project Equipment, other than to use the Project Bquipment in the manner and to
the extent provided by this Agreement.

Section 4.8.  Machinery and Equipment Property of the Company. Any improvements or
items of machinery or equipment which do not constitute part of the Project Equipment and the entire
purchase price of which is paid for by the Company with the Company’s own funds, and no part of the
purchase price of which is paid for from funds deposited pursuant to the terms of this Lease in the Project
Fund, shall be the property of the Company and shall not constitute a part of the Project Equipment for
purposes of Section 6.4. When any property reaches the end of its Abatement Period, such property shall
immediately cease to be part of the Project Equipment and shall become the absolute property of the
Company, free and clear of the Lease and the Indenture.

ARTICLEV
RENT PROVISIONS
Section 5.1.  Basic Rent.
(a) The Company covenants and agrees to pay to the Trustee in same day funds for the

account of the City during this Lease Term, on or before 11:00 a.m., Trustee’s local time, on each
Payment Date, as Basic Rent for the Project Equipment, an amount which, when added to any collected
funds then on deposit in the Bond Fund and available for the payment of principal on the Bonds and the
interest thereon on such payment date, shall be equal to the amount payable on such payment date as
principal of the Bonds and the interest thercon as provided in the Indenture. All payments of Basic Rent
provided for in this Section shall be paid directly to the Trustee and shall be deposited in accordance with
the provisions of the Indenture into the Bond Fund and shall be used and applied by the Trustee in the
manner and for the purposes set forth in this Lease and the Indenture.




() As long as the Company owns all of the Bonds, then the Company may set-off the then-
current Basic Rent payment against the City’s obligation to the Company as Bondholder under the
Indenture in lieu of delivery of the Basic Rent on any Payment Date, without providing notice of such set-
off to the Trustee. The Trustee may conclusively rely on the absence of any notice from the Company to
the contrary as evidence that such set-off has occurred. On the final Payment Date, the Company may
deliver to the Trustee for cancellation Bonds not previously paid and the Company shall receive a credit
against the Basic Rent payable by the Company in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds
so tendered for cancellation plus accrued interest thereon.

Section 5.2.  Additional Rent. The Company shall pay as Additional Rent, within 30 days
after receiving an itemized invoice therefor, to or at the direction of the City or the Trustee, as applicable,
providing such invoice) the following amounts:

(a) all fees, charges and expenses, including reasonable agent and counsel fees and
expenses, of the City, the Trustee and the Paying Agent incurred under the Indenture, this Lease
or the Performance Agreement, as and when the same become due;

) all costs incident to the issuance of the Bonds and the payment of the principal of
and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable, including all costs and expenses
in connection with the call, redemption and payment of all outstanding Bonds;

(c) all fees, charges and expenses incurred in connection with the enforcement of
any rights under the Indenture, this Lease or the Performance Agreement by the City, the Trustee
or the Owners, including counsel fees and expenses; and '

(d) all other payments of whatever nature which the Company has agreed in writing
to pay or assume under the provisions of the Performance Agreement, this Lease or the Indenture.

Section 5.3.  Obligations of Company Absolute and Unconditional.

(a) Except as expressly stated in this Agreement and Section 204(d) of the Indenture, the
obligations of the Company under this Lease to make payments of Basic Rent and Additional Rent on of
before the date the same become due, and to perform all of its other obligations, covenants and
agreements hereunder shall be absolute and unconditional, without notice or demand, and without
abatement, deduction, counterclaim, recoupment or defense or any right of termination or cancellation
arising from any circumstance whatsoever, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and irrespective of
whether the Project Equipment has been purchased or installed, or whether the City’s title thereto or to
any part thereof is defective or nonexistent, and notwithstanding any damage to, loss, theft or destruction
of, the Project Equipment or any part thereof, any failure of consideration or frustration of commercial
purpose, the taking by eminent domain of title to or of the right of temporaty use of all or any part of the
Project Equipment, legal curtailment of the Company’s use thereof, any change in the tax or other laws of
the United States of America, the State of Missouri or any political subdivision thereof, any change in the
City’s legal organization or status, or any default of the City hereunder, and regardless of the invalidity of
any action of the City.

(b) Nothing in this Lease shall be construed to release the City from the performance of any
agreement on its part herein contained or as a waiver by the Company of any rights or claims the
Company may have against the City under this Lease or otherwise, but any recovery upon such rights and
claims shall be had from the City separately, it being the intent of this Lease that the Company shall be




unconditionally and absolutely obligated to perform fully all of its obligations, agreements and covenants
under this Lease (including the obligation to pay Basic Rent and Additional Rent) for the benefit of the
Owners and the City. The Company may, however, at its own cost and expense and in its own name or in
the name of the City, prosecute or defend any action or proceeding or take any other action involving
third Persons which the Company deems reasonably necessary in order to secure or protect its right of
possession, occupancy and use hereunder, and in such event the City hereby agrees to cooperate fully
with the Company and to take all action necessary to effect the substitution of the Company for the City
in any such action or proceeding if the Company shall so request.

Section 5.4.  Prepayment of Basic Rent. The Company may at any time and from time to
time prepay all or any part of the Basic Rent provided for hereunder (subject to the limitations of
Section 301(a) of the Indenture relating to the partial redemption of the Bonds). During such times as the
amount held by the Trustee in the Bond Fund shall be sufficient to pay, at the time required, the principal
of and interest on all the Bonds then remaining unpaid, the Company shall not be obligated to make
payments of Basic Rent under the provisions of this Lease.

At its option, the Company may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation Bonds owned by the
Company and not previously paid, and the Company shall receive a credit against amounts payable by the
Company for the redemption of Bonds in an amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds so
tendered for cancellation, plus accrued interest thereon, in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

ARTICLE VI
MAINTENANCE, TAXES AND UTILITIES

Section 6.1.  Maintenance and Repairs. Throughout the Lease Term the Company shall, at
its own expense, keep the Project Equipment in a safe operating condition and keep the Project
Equipment in good repair, reasonable wear, tear, depreciation and obsolescence excepted, making from
time to time all repairs thereto and renewals and replacements thereof it determines to be necessary.

Section 6.2.  Taxes, Assessments and Other Governmental Charges.

(a) Subject to subsection (b) of this Section, the Company shall promptly pay and discharge,
as the same become due, all taxes and assessments, general and special, and other governmental charges
of any kind whatsoever that may be lawfully taxed, charged, levied, assessed or imposed upon or against
or be payable for or in respect of the Project Equipment, or any part thereof or interest therein (including
the leaschold estate of the Company therein) or the income therefrom, including any new taxes and
assessments not of the kind enumerated above to the extent that the same are lawfully made, levied or
assessed in lieu of or in addition to taxes or assessments now customarily levied against personal
property, and further including all utility charges, assessments and other general governmental charges
and impositions whatsoever, foreseen or unforeseen, which if not paid when due would Impair the
security of the Bonds or encumber the City’s title to the Project Equipment; provided that with respect to
any special assessments or other governmental charges that are lawfully levied and assessed which may
be paid in installments, the Company shall be obligated to pay only such installments thereof as become
due and payable during the Lease Term.

(b) The Company shall have the right, in its own name or in the City’s name, to contest the
validity or amount of any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which the Company is required to




bear, pay and discharge pursuant to the terms of this Asticle by appropriate legal proceedings instituted at
least 10 days before the tax, assessment or other governmental charge complained of becomes delinquent
if and provided (1) the Company, before instituting any such contest, gives the City and Trustee written
notice of its intention so to do, (2) the Company diligently prosecutes any such contest, at all times
effectively stays or prevents any official or judicial sale therefor, under execution or otherwise, and (3)
the Company promptly pays any final judgment enforcing the tax, assessment or other governmental
charge so contested and thereafter promptly procures record release or satisfaction thereof. The City
agrees to cooperate fully with the Company in connection with any and all administrative or judicial
proceedings related to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge. The Company shall save and
hold harmless the City and Trustee from any costs and expenses the City may incur related to any of the
above.

(c) Nothing in this Lease shall be construed to require the Company to make duplicate tax
payments. The Company shall receive a credit against the payments to be made by the Company under
the Performance Agreement to the extent of any ad valorem taxes imposed with respect to the Project
Equipment paid pursuant to this Section.

Section 6.3.  Utilities. All utilities and utility services used by the Company in, on or about
the Project Site shall be paid by the Company and shall be contracted by the Company in the Company’s
own name, and the Company shall, at its sole cost and expense, procure any and all permits, licenses or
authorizations necessary in connection therewith.

Section 6.4.  Property Tax Exemption. The City and the Company expect that while the
Project Equipment is owned by the City and is subject to the Lease, the Project Equipment will be exempt
from all ad valorem property taxes by reason of such ownership, and the City agrees that it will (at the
expense of the Company) cooperate with the Company to defend such exemption against all parties. The
City and the Company further acknowledge and agree that the City’s obligations hereunder are contingent
upon the Company making the payments and otherwise complying with the terms of the Performance
Agreement during the term of this Lease. The terms and conditions of the Performance Agreement are
incorporated herein as if fully set forth herein.

ARTICLE VII
INSURANCE
Section 7.1.  Reserved.
Section 7.2.  Property Insurance.

(a) The Company shall at its sole cost and expense obtain and shall maintain throughout the
Lease Term, a policy or policies of insurance to keep the Project Equipment constantly insured against
Joss or damage by fire, lightning and other risks covered by standard commercial property insurance
policies in use in the State of Missouri in an amount equal to the Full Insurable Value thereof (subject to
reasonable loss deductible or self-insured retention provisions not to exceed the amounts normally or
generally carried by the Company). The insurance required pursuant to this Section shall be maintained
with a generally recognized responsible insurance company or companies authorized to do business in the
State of Missouri or generally recognized international insurers as may be selected by the Company.
Copies of certificates of insurance for such policies shall be delivered by the Company to the City and the
Trustee on the date of execution of this Lease. All such policies of insurance pursuant to this Section, and

-10-



all renewals thereof, shall name the City and Trustee as loss payees, as their respective interests may
appear, and shall contain a provision that such insurance may not be canceled by the issuer thereof
without at least 10 days’ advance written notice to the City, the Company and the Trustee. The Company
will provide immediate notice to the City and the Trustee of the intent to cancel such insurance.

(b) In the event of loss or damage to the Project Equipment, the Net Proceeds of property
insurance carried pursuant to this Section shall be paid over to the Trustee and shall be applied as
provided in Article IX of this Lease, or as may be otherwise directed in writing by the Owners of 100%
in principal amount of the Bonds outstanding.

Section 7.3.  Public Liability Insurance.

(a) The Company shall at its sole cost and expense maintain or cause to be maintained at all
times during the Lease Term commercial general liability and automobile lability insurance (including
but not limited to coverage for all losses whatsoever arising from the ownership, maintenance, operation
or use of any automobile, truck or other motor vehicle), under which the City, the Company and the
Trustee are the named or additional insureds, properly protecting and indemnifying the City and the
Trustee, in an amount not less than the limits of liability set by Section 537.610 of the Revised Statutes of
Missouri, as amended (subject to reasonable loss deductible clauses not to exceed the amounts normally
or generally carried by the Company). The policies of said insurance shall contain a provision that such
insurance may not be canceled by the issuer thereof without at least 10 days’ advance written notice to the
City, the Company and the Trustee. Certificates of such policies shall be furnished to the Trustee on the
date of execution of this Lease. The Company will provide immediate notice to the City and the Trustee
of the intent to cancel such insurance.

(b) In the event of a general or automobile liability occurrence, the Net Proceeds of liability
insurance carried pursuant to this Section shall be applicd toward the extinguishient or satisfaction of the
liability with respect to which such proceeds have been paid.

Section 7.4.  Blanket Insurance Policies. The Company may satisfy any of the insurance
requirements set forth in this Article by using blanket policies of insurance, provided each and all of the
requirements and specifications of this Article respecting insurance are complied with.

Section 7.5.  Worker’s Compensation. The Company agrees throughout the Lease Term to
maintain or cause to be maintained the Worker’s Compensation coverage required by the laws of the State
of Mlissouri.

ARTICLE VIII

MODIFICATIONS, REPAIRS AND IMPROVEMENTS
OF THE PROJECT EQUIPMENT

Section 8.1.  Additions of Machikery and Equipment on the Project Site. Following the
earlier to ocour of (1) submission of requisition certificates pursuant to Section 4.4 in an amount equal to
$29,100,000 or (2) December 31, 2028, any additions of personal property installed on the Project Site
by the Company shall, except as provided in Section 8.2, remain the property of the Company and shall
not become part of the Project Equipment. Such personal property shall be subject to ad valorem taxes.

11-



Section 8.2.  Removal and Replacement of Project Equipment.

(2) The Company may, if it is not in default in making payments of Basic Rent or Additional
Rent hereunder, remove from the Project Site and sell, exchange, replace or otherwise dispose of, without
responsibility or accountability to the City or the Trustee with respect thereto, any items of machinery and
equipment, or parts thereof, which constitute a part of the Project Equipment and which have become
inadequate, obsolete, worn out, unsuitable, undesirable or unnecessary or which, in the sound discretion
of the Company, are otherwise no longer useful to the Company in its operations at the Project Site.
Before any such removal, the Company shall deliver to the City and the Trustee a certificate signed by an
Authorized Company Representative containing a complete description, including the make, model and
serial numbers, if any, of any machinery or equipment constituting a part of the Project Equipment that
the Company proposes to remove. Upon request, the City will execute and deliver a bill of sale that
transfers full and complete title to the Company of the Project Equipment removed. Notwithstanding
anything contained herein to the contrary, title to any item of the Project Equipment removed from the
Project Site shall automatically vest in the Company without further instrument or action, and such
vesting of title shall be self-operative effective upon removal.

®) In all cases, the Company shall pay all of the costs and expenses of any such removal and
shall immediately repair at its expense all damage to the Project Site caused thereby. The Company’s
right under this Section to remove machinery and equipment constituting a part of the Project Equipment
is intended -only to permit the Company to maintain an efficient operation by the removal of machinery
and equipment that is no longer suitable for any of the reasons set forth in this Section, and such right is
not to be construed to permit a removal under any other circumstances and specifically is not to be
construed to permit the Company to make a wholesale removal of the Project Equipment.

(c) If the Company replaces any portion of the Project Equipment due to damage (other than
ordinary wear and tear), such replacement shall become part of the Project Equipment and shall be
entitled to the tax exemption afforded by virtue of the City’s ownership of the Project Equipment,
provided that such replacement shall only benefit from such exemption during the original Abatement
Period of the property replaced by it.

(d) If the Company replaces any portion of the Project Equipment for any other purpose, then
such replacement equipment shall not become part of the Project FEquipment and shall be subject to ad
valorem taxes.

(e) Simultaneous with its furnishing of the certificate listing the Project Equipment to the
City and the Trustee pursuant to Section 4.2, the Company shall (1) identify any Project Equipment that
is being replaced, (2) identify the replacement equipment, and (3) state whether the replacement
equipment will become part of the Project Equipment.

Section 8.3.  Reserved.

Section 8.4.  Permits and Authorizations. The Company shall not do or permit others under
its control to do any work on the Project Site related to any repair, restoration, replacement, modification
or addition to the Project Equipment, or any part thereof, unless all requisite municipal and other
governmental permits and authorizations shall have been first procured. The City agrees to act promptly
on all requests for such municipal permits and authorizations. All such work shall be done in a good and
workmanlike manner and in strict compliance with all applicable material building and zoning laws and
governmental regulations and requirements, and in accordance with the requirements, tules and

12-




regulations of all insurers under the policies required to be carried under the provisions of Article VII
hereof.

Section 8.5. Mechanics® Liens,

(a) The Company will not directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any
lien on or with respect to the Project Equipment, except Permitted Encumbrances, and the Company shall
promptly notify the City of the imposition of such lien of which the Company is aware and shall
promptly, at its own expense, take such action as may be necessary to fully discharge or release any such
lien. Whenever and as often as any mechanics’ or other similar lien is filed against the Project
Equipment, or any part thereof, purporting to be for or on account of any labor done or materials or
services furnished in connection with any work in ox about the Project Site, the Company shall discharge
the same of record, Notice is hereby given that the City shall not be liable for any labor or materials
furnished the Company or anyone claiming by, through or under the Company upon credit.

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) above, the Company may contest any such mechanics’ or
other similar lien if the Company (i) within 60 days after the Company becomes aware of an such lien,
notifies the City and the Trustee in writing of its intentfon so to do, (ii) diligently prosecutes such contest,
(iii) at all times effectively stays or prevents any official or judicial sale of the Project Equipment, or any
part thereof or interest therein, under execution or otherwise, (iv) promptly pays or otherwise satisfies any
final judgment adjudging or enforcing such contested lien claim and (v) thereafter promptly procures
record release or satisfaction thereof. The Company may permit the lien so contested to remain unpaid
during the period of such contest and any appeal therefrom unless the Company is notified by the City
that, in the opinion of counsel, the interest of the City in the Project Equipment will be subject to loss or
forfeiture if the lien remains unpaid during the pendency of the contest. In that event, the Company shall
promptly, at its own expense, take such action as may be necessary to duly discharge or remove any such
pledge, lien, charge, encumbrance or claim if the same shall arise at any time. The Company shall save
and hold harmless the City from any loss, costs or expenses the City may incur related to any such
contest. The Company shall reimburse the City for any expense incurred by it in order to discharge or
remove any such pledge, lien, charge, encumbrance or claim. The City shall cooperate fully with the
Company in any such contest.

ARTICLE IX
DAMAGE, DESTRUCTION AND CONDEMNATION

Section 9.1.  Damage or Destruction.

(a) If the Project Equipment is damaged or destroyed by fire or any other casualty, whether
or not covered by insurance, the Company, as promptly as practicable, shall either (1) make the
determination described in subsection (f) below, or (2) repair, restore or replace the same so that upon
completion of such repairs, restoration or replacement such Project Equipment is of a value not less than

the value thereof immediately prior to the occurrence of such damage or destruction.

If the Company elects to repair, restore or replace the Project Equipment, any reference to the
words “Project Equipment” shall be deemed to include any such new machinery, equipment and fixtures.

-13-



Unless the Company makes the determination described in subsection (f) below, the Net Proceeds
of property insurance required by Article VII hereof received with respect to such damage or loss to
Project Equipment shall be used to pay the cost of repairing, restoring or replacing such Project
Fquipment or any part thereof. Insurance monies in an amount less than $100,000 may be paid to or
retained by the Company to be held in trust and used as provided herein. Insurance monies in any amount
of $100,000 or more shall be paid to the Trustee and deposited in the Project Fund and shall be disbursed
as provided in Section 4.4 hercof to pay the cost of repairing, restoring ot replacing the Project
Equipment or any part thereof. If the Company makes the determination described in subsection (£)
below, the Net Proceeds shall be deposited with the Trustee and used to redeem Bonds as provided in
subsection ().

(b If any of the insurance monies paid by the insurance company as hereinabove provided
remain after the completion of such repairs, restoration or replacement, and this Lease has not been
terminated, the excess shall be deposited in the Bond Fund, subject to the rights of any Leasehold
Security Agreement or Financing Party. Completion of such repairs, restoration or replacement shall be
evidenced by a certificate of completion in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.5 hereof. If the
Net Proceeds are insufficient to pay the entite cost of such repairs, restoration or replacement, the
Company shall pay the deficiency.

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this Lease, in the event of any such damage by fire or
any other casualty, the provisions of this Lease shall be unaffected and the Company shall remain and
continue liable for the payment of all Basic Rent and Additional Rent and all other charges required
hereunder to be paid by the Company, as though no damage by fire or any other casualty has occurred.

(d) The City and the Company agree that they will cooperate with each other, to such extent
as such other party may reasonably require, in connection with the prosecution or defense of any action or
proceeding arising out of, or for the collection of any insurance monies that may be due in the event of,
any loss or damage, and that they will execute and deliver to such other parties such instruments as may
be required to facilitate the recovery of any insurance monies.

(e) The Company agrees to give prompt notice to the City and the Trustee with respect to all
fires and any other casualties occurring in, o, at or about the Project Site over $100,000.

3] Tf the Company determines that repairing, replacing or restoring the Project Equipment is
not practicable and desirable, any Net Proceeds of property insurance required by Article VII hereof
received with respect to such damage or loss shall, after payment of all Additional Rent then due and
payable, be paid into the Bond Fund and shall be used to redeem Bonds on the earliest practicable
redemption date or to pay the principal of any Bonds as the same become due, all subject to rights of the
secured party under any Leasehold Security Agreement (if any) and the Financing Party under any
Financing Documents (if any). The Company agrees to be reasonable in exercising its judgment pursuant
to this subsection (f).

() The Company shall not, by reason of its inability to use all or any part of the Project
Equipment during any period in which the Project Equipment is damaged or destroyed or is being
repaired, replaced or restored, nor by reason of the payment of the costs of such repairing, restoring or
replacing, be entitled to any reimbursement from the City, the Trustee or the Owners or to aiy abatement
or diminution of the rentals payable by the Company under this Lease or of any other obligations of the
Company under this Lease except as expressly provided in this Section.

-14-




Section 9.2,  Reserved,

Section 9.3.  Owner Approval. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Article IX, the proceeds of any insurance received subsequent to a casualty may prior to the application
thereof by the City or the Trustee be applied as directed in writing by the Owners of 100% of the principal
amount of Bonds outstanding, subject and subordinate to (a) the rights of the City and the Trustee to be
paid all their expenses (including attoreys’ fees, trustee’s fees and any extraordinary expenses of the City
and the Trustee) incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds and (b) the rights of the City to any
amounts then due and payable under the Performance Agreement.

ARTICLE X
SPECIAL COVENANTS

Section 10.1, No Warranty of Condition or Suitability by the City; Exculpation and
Indemnification. The City makes no warranty, either express or implied, as to the condition of the
Project Equipment or that it will be suitable for the Company’s purposes or needs. The Company releases
the City and the Trustee from, agrees that the City and the Trustee shall not be liable for and agrees to
hold the City and the Trustee harmless against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to or death of
any Person that may be occasioned by any cause whatsoever pertaining to the Project Equipment or the
Company’s use thereof; unless such loss is the result of the City’s or the Trustee’s gross negligence or
willful misconduct. This provision shall survive termination of this Lease.

Section 10.2.  Surrender of Possession. Upon accrual of the City’s right of re-entry because of
the Company’s default hereunder or upon the cancellation or termination of this Lease for any reason
other than the Company’s purchase of the Project Equipment pursuant to Article XI hereof, the Company
shall peacefully surrender possession of the Project Equipment to the City in good condition and repair.

Section 10.3. Right of Access to the Project Equipment. The City may conduct such
periodic inspections of the Project Equipment as may be generally provided in the City’s code. In
addition, the Company agrees that the City and the Trustee and their duly authorized agents shall have the
tight at reasonable times during normal business hours and, except in the event of emergencies, upon not
Jess than one Business Day’s prior notice, subject to the Company’s usual safety and security
requirements, to enter upon the Project Site (a) to examine and inspect the Project Equipment without
interference or prejudice to the Company’s operations, (b) to monitor the purchase and installation
provided for in Section 4.2 hereof as may be reasonably necessary, (¢} to examine all files, records, books
and other materials in the Company’s possession pertaining to the acquisition, installation or maintenance
of the Project Equipment, (d) to perform such work in and about the Project Equipment made necessary
by reason of the Company’s default under any of the provisions of this Lease, and (e) upon either (1} the
occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default or (ii) the Company’s failure to purchase the Project
Equipment at the end of the Lease Term, to exhibit the Project Equipment to prospective purchasers,
{essees or trustees.

-15-




Section 10.4. Granting of Easements; Leasehold Security Agreements and Financing
Arrangements.

() Subject to Section 10.4(c) and (d), if no Event of Default under this Lease has happened
and is continuing, the Company may at any time or times (1) grant subleases (as permitted in
Section 13.1(b) hereof), or licenses, of the Project Equipment, or parts thereof, (2) release or terminate
existing subleases, or licenses, all with or without consideration and upon such terms and conditions as
the Company shall determine, or (3) incur Permitted Encumbrances. The Company may take such
actions and may execute any applicable documents in the Company’s own name. No separate signature
of or authorization from the City shall be required for the execution and delivery of any such document,
although the City agrees to execute and deliver such confirming documents as are described below, under
the procedures described below, if the Company chooses to make such a request. Al third parties
entering into agreements with the Company or receiving delivery of or the benefit of such agreements or
documents shall be entitled to rely upon the same as having been executed and delivered by the City,
unless such third party has actual or constructive notice that the agency herein granted by the City to the
Company has been terminated by the City because of an uncured Event of Default hereunder. The City
agrees that it will execute and deliver and will cause and direct the Trustee to execute and deliver any
instrument necessary or appropriate to confirm and grant, release or terminate any such sublease, license,
or any such agreement or other arrangement, upon receipt by the City and the Trustee of: (i) a copy of the
instrument of grant, release or termination or of the agreement or other arrangement, (ii) a written
application signed by an Authorized Company Representative requesting such instrument, and (iii) a
certificate executed by an Authorized Company Representative stating that such grant or release is not
detrimental to the proper conduct of the business of the Company, will not impair the effective use or
interfere with the efficient and economical operation of the Project Equipment, will not materially
adversely affect the security intended to be given by or under the Indenture and will be a Permitted
Encumbrance. If no Event of Default has happened and is continuing beyond any applicable grace
period, any payments or other consideration received by the Company for any such grant or with respect
to or under any such agreement or other arrangement shall be and remain the property of the Company;
but, subject to Sections 10.4(c) and (d), upon (i) termination of this Lease for any reason other than the
redemption of the Bonds and/or the purchase of the Project Equipment by the Company or (ii) the
occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default by the Company, all rights then existing of the
Company with respect to or under such grant shall inure to the benefit of and be exercisable by the City
and the Trustee.

(b) The Company may mortgage the leaschold estate created by this Lease, with prior notice
to but without the consent of the City, provided and upon condition that a duplicate original or certified
copy or photostatic copy of each such mortgage, and the note or other obligation secured thereby, is
delivered to the City within thirty (30) days after the execution thereof.

(c) The City acknowledges and agrees that the Company may finance and refinance its rights
and interests in the Project Equipment, this Lease and the leasehold estate created hereby and, in
connection therewith, the Company may execute Financing Documents with one or more Financing
Parties. Notwithstanding anything contained to the contrary in this Lease, the Company may, af any time
and from time to time, with prior notice to but without the consent of the City (i) execute one or more
Financing Documents upon the terms contained in this Section 10.4 and (ii) sublease or assign this Lease,
the leasehold estate, any sublease and rights in connection therewith, and/or grant liens or security
interests therein, to any Financing Party., Any further sublease or assignment by any Financing Party
shall be subject to the provisions of Seetion 13.1(c).

-16-



(d) Upon notice by the Company to the City in writing that it has executed one or more
Financing Documents under which it has granted rights in this Lease to a Financing Party, which includes
the name and address of such Financing Party, then the following provisions shall apply in respect of each
such Financing Party: '

i) there shall be no merger of this Lease or of the leaschold estate created hereby
with the legal title to the Project Equipment, notwithstanding that this Lease or said leasehold
interest and said Iegal title shall be owned by the same Person or Persons, without the prior
written consent of such Financing Party;

(i1) the City, shail serve upon each such Financing Party (at the address, if any,
provided to the City) a copy of each notice of the occurrence of an Event of Default and each
notice of termination given to the Company under this Lease, at the same time as such notice is
served upon the Company. No such notice to the Company shall be effective unless a copy
thereof is thus served upon each Financing Party;

(iify  each Financing Party shall have the same period of time which the Compary has,
after the service of any required notice upon it, within which to remedy or cause to be remedied
any payment default under this Lease which is the basis of the notice plus thirty (30) days, and
the City shall accept performance by such Financing Party as timely performance by the
Company;

(iv)  the City may exercise any of its rights or remedies with respect to any other
Event of Default by the Company, subject to the rights of the Financing Parties under this
Section 10.4(d) as to such other events of default;

(v) upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default by the Company
under this Lease, other than a default in the payment of money, the City shall take no action to
effect a termination of this Lease by service of a notice or otherwise, without first giving notice
thereof to each such Financing Party and permitting such Financing Party (or ils designee,
nominee, assignee or transferee) a reasonable time within which to remedy such default in the
case of an Event of Default which is susceptible of being cured (provided that the period to
remedy such event of default shall continue beyond any period set forth in the Lease to effect said
cure so long as the Financing Party (or its designee, nominee, assignee or transferee) is diligently
prosecuting such cure); provided that the Financing Party (or its designee, nominee, assignee or
transferee) shall pay or cause to be paid to the City and the Trustee all expenses, inchiding
reasonable counsel fees, court costs, extraordinary expenses and disbursements incurred by the
City or the Trustee in connection with any such default; and

(vi)  the Financing Parties (and their designees, nominees, assignees or transferees)
shall have the right to enter, possess and use the Project Equipment at such reasonable times and
manner as are necessary or desirable to effectuate the remedies and enforce their respective rights
under the Financing Documents.

(e) In connection with the execution of one or more Financing Pocuments, upon the request
of the Company, the City agrees to execute such documents as shall be reasonably requested by a
Financing Party and which are usual and customary in connection with the closing of the financing or
refinancing pursuant to the Financing Documents. The Company agrees to reimburse the City for any
and all costs and expenses incurred by the City pursuant to this Section, including reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses, in complying with such request.

“17-



@ The Company’s obligations under any mortgage or Financing Document relating to the
Project Equipment shall be subordinate to the Company’s obligations under this Lease.

() With respect to any documents the City is requested to sign under this Section 10.4, the
City shall not be required to undertake any duties or payment obligations under such documents and shall
make only such representations as it deems appropriate in its sole discretion. The Company agrees to
reimburse the City for any and all costs and expenses incurred by the City pursuant to this Section,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, in complying with such requests.

Section 10.5. Indemnification of City and Trustee. The Company shall indemnify and save
and hold harmless the City and the Trustee and their governing body members, officers, agents and
employees from and against all claims, demands, costs, Habilities, damages or expenses, including
attorneys’ fees, by or on behalf of any Person, firm or corporation arising from the issuance of the Bonds
and the execution of this Lease, the Performance Agreement or the Indenture and from the conduct or
management of, or from any work or thing done in or on the Project Equipment during the Lease Term,
and against and from all claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’
fees, arising during the Iease Term from (a) any condition of the Project Equipment, (b) any breach or
default on the part of the Company in the performance of any of its obligations under this Lease, the
Performance Agreement, the Indenture or any related document, {¢) any contract entered info in
connection with the purchase or installation of the Project Equipment, (d) any act of negligence of the
Company or of any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, () unless the Company
has been released from Hability pursuant to Section 13.1(c), any act of negligence of any assignee or
sublessee of the Company, or of any agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee
or sublessee of the Company, (£) any violation of Section 107.170 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as
amended, and (g) the acceptance or administration by the Trustee of the trust created by the Indenture;
provided, however, the indemnification contained in this Section 10.5 shall not extend to the City if such
claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, are (i) the result of
work being performed on the Project Equipment by employees of the City, or (ii) the result of gross
negligence or willful misconduct by the City; and shall not extend to the Trustee if such claims, demands,
costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees, are the result of the gross negligence or
willfiul misconduct by the Trustee. Upon notice from the City or the Trustee, the Company shall defend
them or either of them in any such action or proceeding. This Section 10.5 shall survive any termination
of this Lease and the Performance Agreement, the satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture or the
resignation or removal of the Trustee.

Tn case any action shall be brought against one or more of the Indemnified Parties based upon the
foregoing indemnification and in respect of which indemnity may be sought against the Company, the
Indemnified Parties shall promptly notify the Company in writing and the Company shall promptly
assume the defense thereof, including the employment of counsel satisfactory to the Indemnified Parties,
the payment of all reasonable expenses and the right to negotiate and consent to settlement. If the
Company shall have wrongfully failed to assume the defense of such action, the reasonable fees and
expenses of counsel retained by the Indemnified Party shall be paid by the Company. If any of the
Indemnified Parties is advised by counsel retained by the Company to defend such action that there may
be legal defenses available to it which are adverse to or in conflict with those available to the Company or
any other Indemnified Party, and that the defense of such Indemnified Party should be handled by
separate counsel, the Company shall not have the right to assume the defense of such Indemnified Party,
but shall be responsible for the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel retained by such Indemnified
Party in assuming its own defense, provided, such counsel shall be acceptable to the Company. Any one

-18-




or more of the Indemnified Parties shall have the right to employ separate counsel in any such action and
to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of
such Indemnified Party or Indemnified Parties unless employment of such counsel has been specifically
authorized by the Company. The Company shall not be liable for any settlement of any such action
effected without its consent by any of the Indemnified Partics, but if settled with the consent of the
Company or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff in any such action against the Company or any of
the Indemnified Parties, with or without the consent of the Company, the provided that the Company was
given prompt written notice and the ability to assume the defense thereof as required by this paragraph,
the Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties to the extent provided
herein.

Section 10.6. Depreciation, Tnvestment Tax Credit and Other Tax Benefits. The City
agrees that any depreciation, interest expense deduction, investment tax credits or any other tax benefits
with respect to the Project Equipment or any part thereof shall, for federal and state income tax purposes,
belong to the Company, and the City will fully cooperate with the Company in any effort by the Company
to avail itself of any such depreciation, interest expense deduction, investment tax credits or other tax
benefits.

Section 10.7. Company to Maintain its Existence. The Company agrees that until the Bonds
are paid or payment is provided for in accordance with the terms of the Indenture, it will maintain its
existence, and will not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets; provided,
however, that the Company may, without violating the agreement contained in this Section, consolidate
with or merge into another Person or permit one or more other Persons to consolidate with or merge into
it, or may sell or otherwise transfer to another Person all or substantially all of its assets as an entirety and
thereafter dissolve, provided, the surviving, resulting or transferee Person (a) expressly assumes in writing
all the obligations of the Company contained in this Lease, and (b) (i) the long-term debt rating of such
Person or the long-term debt rating of an entity controlled by, under common contro} with or controlling
such Person, is the same as or better than the long-term debt rating category by any nationally recognized
rating service as the Company, (i) such Person is controlled by, under common control with or controls
the Company, or (iii) such Person has a Net Worth of at least $10,000,000. For purposes hereof, “Net
Worth” shall mean total assets less total labilities as reported on the financial statements of such Person
pursuant to generally accepted accounting principles.

Section 10.8.  Security Interests.

(a) To secure the payment of all of the Company’s obligations under this Lease, to the extent
permitted by law, the Trustee retains a security interest in all personal property consisting of the Project
Equipment, including all additions, attachments, accessions thereto, substitutions therefor and on any
proceeds therefrom.

(b) The City and the Company hereby authorize the Trustee to file all continuation
statements as may be required under the Uniform Commercial Code in order to fully preserve and protect
the security of the Owners and the rights of the Trustee hereunder. At the written request of all of the
Owners, the City and the Company agree to enter into any other instruments necessary for perfection of
and continuance of the perfection of the security interests of the City and the Trustee in the Project
Equipment. Upon the written instructions of the Owners of 100% of the Bonds then Outstanding and at
the expense of the Company, the Trustee shall file all continuation instruments the Owners deem
necessary to be filed and shall continue or cause to be continued such instruments for so long as the
Bonds are Outstanding. The City and the Company shall cooperate with the Trustee in this regard by

-19-




providing such information as the Trustee may require to file or to renew such statements. Subject to its
receipt of the certificate of the Company required by Section 4.2, the Trustee shall maintain a file
showing a description of all Project Equipment, said file to be compiled from the certificates furnished to
the Trustee pursuant to Section 4.2 and Section 8.2 hereof.

ARTICLE X1
OPTION AND OBLIGATION TO PURCHASE THE PROJECT
Section 11.1.  Option to Purchase the Project Equipment.

(2) The Company shall have, and is hereby granted, the option to purchase the Project
Equipment at any time, upon payment in full of all Bonds then outstanding or provision for their payment
having been made pursuant to Article XIII of the Indenture.

(b) To exercise such option the Company shall give written notice to the City and to the
Trustee, and shall specify therein the date of closing such purchase, which date shall be not less than 30
nor more than 90 days from the date such notice is mailed, and in case of a redemption of the Bonds in
accordance with the provisions of the Indenture the Company shall make arrangements for the giving of
the required notice of redemption. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the City or the Trustee provides
notice of its intent to exercise its remedies hereunder upon an Event of Default (a “Remedies Notice”), the
Company shall be deemed to have exercised its repurchase option under this Section on the 29th day
following the issuance of the Remedies Notice without any further action by the Company; provided said
notice has not been rescinded by such date. The Company may rescind such exercise by providing
written notice to the City and the Trustee on or before the 29th day and by taking such action as may be
required to cure the default that led to the giving of the Remedies Notice. The purchase price payable by
the Company in the event of its exercise of the option granted in this Section shall be the sum of the
following:

(1) an amount of money which, when added to the amount then on deposit in the
Bond Fund, will be sufficient to redeem all the then outstanding Bonds on the earliest redemption
date next succeeding the closing date, including, without limitation, principal and interest to
accrue to said redemption date and redemption expense; plus

@) an amount of money equal to the Trustee’s and the Paying Agent’s reasonable
fees, charges and expenses under the Indenture acerued and to accrue until such redemption of the
Bonds; plus

3) an amount of money equal to all payments due and payable pursuant to the

Performance Agreement through the end of the calendar year in which the date of purchase
occurs; plus

4) the sum of $10.00.

At its option, to be exercised at least five (5) days before the date of closing such purchase, the
Company may deliver to the Trustee for cancellation Bonds not previously paid, and the Company shall
receive a credit against the purchase price payable by the Company in an amount equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the Bonds so delivered for cancellation, plus the accrued interest thereon.

20-




Section 11.2.  Conveyance of the Project Equipment. At the closing of the purchase of the
Project Equipment pursuant to this Article, the City will upon receipt of the purchase price deliver to the
Company the following:

(a) A release of the Project Equipment from the lien and/or security interest of the
Tndenture and this Lease and appropriate termination of financing statements as required under
the Uniform Commercial Code, all executed by a duly authorized officer of the Trustee, on behalf
of the Trustee as assignee of the City.

(b) Documents, including without limitation a bill of sale, conveying to the
Company lega! title to the Project Equipment, as it then exists, subject to the following: (1) those
fiens and encumbrances, if any, to which title to the Project Equipment was subject when
conveyed to the City; (2) those liens and encumbrances created by the Company or to the creation
or suffering of which the Company consented; (3) those liens and encumbrances resulting from
the failure of the Company to perform or observe any of the agreement on its part contained in
this Lease; (4) Permitted Encumbrances other than the Indenture and this Lease; and (5) if the
Project Equipment or any part thereof is being condemned, the rights and title of any condemning
authority.

Section 11.3.  Relative Position of Option and Indenture. The option to purchase the Project
Equipment granted to the Company in this Article shall be and remain prior and superior to the Indenture
and may be exercised whether or not the Company is in default under this Lease, provided that such
default will not result in nonfulfillment of any condition to the exercise of any such option and further
provided that all options herein granted shall terminate upon the termination of this Lease. '

Section 11.4.  Obligation to Purchase the Project Equipment. The Company hereby agrees
to purchase, and the City hereby agrees to sell, the Project Equipment upon the expiration of the Lease
Term following full payment of the Bonds or provision for payment thereof having been made in
accordance with the provisions of the Indenture. The amount of the purchase price under this Section
shall be equal to the amount set forth in Section 11.1(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4) above.

ARTICLE X1
DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 12.1.  Events of Default. If any one or more of the following events occurs and is
continuing, it is hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an “Event of Default” or “default”
under this Lease:

(a) Default in the due and punctual payment of Basic Rent or Additional Rent; or

(b) Default in the due observance or performance of any other covenant, agreement,
obligation or provision of this Lease on the Company’s part to be observed or performed, and
such default continues for 30 days after the City or the Trustee has given the Company written
notice specifying such default (or such longer period as is reasonably required to cure such
default; provided that (1) the Company has commenced such cure within said 30-day period, and
(2) the Company diligently prosecutes such cure to completion); or

J21-



(c) The Company: (1) admits in writing its inability to pay its debts as they become
due; or (2) files a petition in bankruptcy or for reorganization, arrangement, composition,
readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the Bankruptcy Code as now or in the
future amended or any other similar present or future federal or state statute or regulation, or files
a pleading asking for such relief; or (3) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or (4)
consents to the appointment of a trustee, receiver or liquidator for all or a major portion of its
property or fails to have the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator made without the
Company’s consent or acquiescence, vacated or set aside; or (5) is finally adjudicated as bankrupt
or insolvent under any federal or state law; or (6) is subject to any proceeding, or suffers the entry
of a final and non-appealable court order, under any federal or state law appointing a trustee,
receiver or liquidator for all or a major part of its property or ordering the winding-up or
liquidation of its affairs, or approving a petition filed against it under the Bankruptey Code, as
now or in the future amended, which order or proceeding, if not consented to by if, is not
dismissed, vacated, denied, set aside or stayed within 90 days after the day of entry or
commencement; or (7) suffers a writ or warrant of attachment or any similar process to be issued
by any court against all or any substantial portion of its property, and such writ or warrant of
attachment or any similar process is not contested, stayed, or is not released within 60 days after
the final entry, or levy or after any contest is finally adjudicated or any stay is vacated or set
aside; or

(d) The Company abandons the Project Equipment or any material portion thereof,
and the same remains uncared for or abandoned for a period of 90 days, or if the Company ceases
operations (as described in Section 3.13 of the Performance Agreement) at the Project Site or is
gjected from the Project Site; or

(e) The Company fails to (1) pay amounts due under the Performance Agreement or
(2) comply with the other material terms of the Performance Agreement, and such default
referred to in clause (2) continues for 30 days after the City, the Trustee or any other party to the
Performance Agreement has given the Company written notice specifying such default (or such
longer period as is reasonably required to cure such default; provided that (a) the Company has
commenced such cure within such 30-day period, and (b) the Company diligently prosecutes such
cure to completion).

Section 12.2. Remedies on Default. If any Event of Default referred to in Section 12.1 hereof
has occurred and continues beyond the period provided to cure, then the City may at the City’s election
(subject, however, to any restrictions against acceleration of the maturity of the Bonds or termination of
this Lease in the Indenture), then or at any time thereafier, and while such defanlt continues, take any one
or more of the following actions:

(a) cause all amounts payable with respect to the Bonds for the remainder of the term
of this Lease to become due and payable, as provided in the Indenture; or

(b) give the Company written notice of intention to terminate this Lease on a date
specified therein, which date shall not be earlier than 30 days after such notice is given, and if all
defaults have not then been cured, on the date so specified, the Owners shall tender or be deemed
to have tendered the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds for cancellation with instruction
that such tender is in lien of payment in accordance with Section 11.1 hereof, the Company’s
rights to possession of the Project Equipment shall cease and this Lease shall thereupon be
terminated, and the City may take possession of the Project Equipment or, if the Company has

9.



paid all obligations due and owing under the Indenture, this Lease and the Performance
Agreement, convey the Project in accordance with Section 11.2 hereof.

Section 12.3.  Survival of Obligations. The Company covenauts and agrees with the City and
Owners that its obligations under this Lease shall survive the cancellation and termination of this Lease,
for any cause, and that the Company shall continue to pay the Basic Rent and Additional Rent and
perform all other obligations provided for in this Lease, all at the time or times provided in this Lease.

. Section 12.4. Performance of the Company’s Obligations by the City. If the Company fails
to keep or perform any of its obligations as provided in this Lease in the making of any payment or
performance of any obligation, then the City, or the Trustec in the City’s name, may (but shall not be
obligated so to do) upon the continuance of such failure on the Company’s part for 30 days after written
notice of such failure is given the Company by the City or the Trustee, and without waiving or releasing ‘
the Company from any obligation hereunder, as an additional but not exclusive remedy, make any such
payment or perform any such obligation, and all reasonable sums so paid by the City or the Trustee and
all necessary incidental reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the City or the Trustee (including,
without limitation, attorney’s fees and expenses) in performing such obligations shall be deemed
Additional Rent and shall be paid to the City or the Trustee on demand, and if not so paid by the
Company, the City or the Trustee shall have the same rights and remedies provided for in Section 12.2
hereof in the case of default by the Company in the payment of Basic Rent.

Section 12.5. Rights and Remedies Cumulative, The rights and remecdies reserved by the
City and the Company hereunder and those provided by law shall be construed as cumulative and
continuing rights. No one of them shall be exhausted by the exercise thereof on one or more occasions.
The City and the Company shall cach be entitled to specific performance and injunctive or other equitable
relief for any breach or threatened breach of any of the provisions of this Lease, notwithstanding the
availability of an adequate remedy at law, and each party hereby waives the right to raise such defense in
any proceeding in equity.

Section 12.6. Waiver of Breach. No waiver of any breach of any covenant or agreement
herein contained shall operate as a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same covenant or agreement or
as a waiver of any breach of any other covenant or agreement, and in case of a breach by the Company of
any covenant, agreement or undertaking by the Company, the City may nevertheless accept from the
Company any payment or payments hereunder without in any way waiving City’s right to exercise any of
its rights and remedies provided for herein with respect to any such default or defaults of the Company
which were in existence at the time such payment or payments were accepted by the City.

Section 12.7. Trustee’s Exercise of the City’s Remedies. Whenever any Event of Default
has occurred and is continuing, the Trustee may, but except as otherwise provided in the Indenture shall
not be obliged to, exercise any or all of the rights of the City under this Article, upon notice as required of
the City unless the City has already given the required notice. In addition, the Trustee shall have
available to it all of the remedies prescribed by the Indenture.

23



ARTICLE XIIT
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE
Section 13.1. Assignment; Sublease.

(a) The Company may assign, transfer, encumber or dispose of this Lease or any interest
herein or part hercof for any lawful purpose under the Act. With respect to any assignment, the Company
shall comply with the following conditions:

(D) Such assignment shall be in writing, duly executed and acknowledged by the
assignor and in proper form for recording;

) Such assignment shall include the entire then unexpired term of this Lease; and

3) A duplicate original of such assignment shall be delivered to the City and the
Trustee within 10 days after the execution thereof, together with an assumption agreement, duly
executed and acknowledged by the assignee and in proper form for recording, by which the
assignee shall assume all of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease on the part of the
Company to be performed and observed.

)] The Company shall have the right to sublet all or any part of the Project Equipment to a
single entity for any lawful purpose under the Act. The Company shall, within ten (10) days after the
delivery thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the City and the Trustee a true and correct copy of
each such sublease. Any sublease may provide, at the Company’s option, for further subletting by the
sublessee thereunder, without the consent of the City, if such further subletting is for a similar purpose as
the original sublease and is for a purpose permissible under the Act.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the right of the Company to assign or sublease any
interests in this Tease without the prior written consent of the City shall only apply to assignients made
to an entity that satisfies the requirements of Section 10.7 hereof. Any assignee of all the rights of the
Company shall agree to be bound by the terms of this Lease, the Performance Agreement and any other
documents related to the issuance of the Bonds. Upon such assignment of all the rights of the Company
and agreement by the assignee to be bound by the terms of this Lease, the Performance Agreement and
any other documents related to the Bonds, the Company shall be released from and have no further
obligations under this Lease, the Performance Agreement or any agreement related to the issuance of the
Bonds.

Section 13.2.  Assignment of Revenues by City. The Company understands that the City will,
pursuant to the Indenture, pledge and assign certain rents, revenues and receipts receivable under this

Lease to the Trustee as security for payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds, and the
Company hereby consents to such pledge and assignment.

Section 13.3. Reserved,

24




Section 13.4. Restrictions on Sale or Encumbrance of Project Equipment by City. During
the Lease Term, the City agrees that, except to secure the Bonds to be issued pursuant to the Indenture, it
will not sell, assign, encumber, mortgage, transfer or convey the Project Equipment or any interest
therein.

ARTICLE X1V
a AMENDMENTS, CHANGES AND MODIFICATIONS

Section 14.1. Amendments, Changes and Modifications. Except as otherwise provided in
this Lease or in the Indenture, subsequent to the issuance of Bonds and before the payment in full of the
Bonds (or provision for the payment thereof having been made in accordance with the provisions of the
Indenture), this Lease may not be effectively amended, changed, modified, altered or terminated without
the prior written consent of the Trustee, given in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture, which
consent, however, shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE XV
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 15.1. Notices. Any notice or other communication to be given under this Lease may
be given by mailing or delivering the same in writing to the City, Trustee or Company at the times and at
the addresses set forth for notices in the Indenture.

Section 15.2.  City Shall Not Unreasonably Withhold Consents and Approvals. Wherever
in this Lease it is provided that the City shall, may or must give its approval or consent, or execute
supplemental agreements or schedules, the City shall not unreasonably, arbitrarily or unnecessarily
withhold or refuse to give such approvals or consents or refuse to execute such supplemental agreements
or schedules; provided, however, that nothing in this Lease shall be interpreted to affect the City’s rights
to approve or deny any additional project or matter nnrelated to the Project Equipment subject to zoning,
building permit or other regulatory approvals by the City.

Section 15.3. Net Lease. The parties hereto agree (a) that this Lease shall be deemed and
construed to be a net lease, (b) that the payments of Basic Rent are designed to provide the City and the
Trustee funds adequate in amount to pay all principal of and interest accruing on the Bonds as the same
become due and payable, (c) that to the extent that the payments of Basic Rent are not sufficient to
provide the City and the Trustee with funds sufficient for the purposes aforesaid, the Company shall be
obligated to pay, and it does hereby covenant and agree to pay, upon demand therefor, as Additional Rent,
such further sums of money, in cash, as may from time to time be required for such purposes, and (d) that
if after the principal of and interest on the Bonds and all costs incident to the payment of the Bonds
(including the fees and expenses of the City and the Trustee) have been paid in full the Trustee or the City
holds unexpended funds received in accordance with the terms hercof such unexpended funds shall, after
payment therefrom of all sums then due and owing by the Company under the terms of this Lease, and
except as otherwise provided in this Lease and the Indenture, become the absolute property of and be paid
over forthwith to the Company.

25-




Section 15.4. Limitation on Liability of City. No provision, covenant or agreement contained
in this Lease, the Indenture or the Bonds, or any obligation herein or therein imposed upon the City, or
the breach thereof, shall constitute or give rise to or impose upon the City a pecuniary liability or a charge
upon the general credit or taxing powers of the City or the State of Missouri.

Section 15.5. Governing Law. This Lease shall be construed in accordance with and
governed by the laws of the State of Missouri.

Section 15.6.  Binding Effect. This Lease shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit
of the City and the Company and their respective successors and assigns.

Section 15.7.  Severability. If for any reason any provision of this Lease shall be determined to
be invalid or unenforceable, the validity and enforceability of the other provisions hereof shall not be
affected thereby.

Section 15.8. Execution in Counterparts; Electronic Storage. This Lease may be executed
in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which shall constitute
but one and the same instrument. The parties agree that the transaction described herein may be
conducted and related documents may be stored by electronic means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles,
electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents shall be deemed to be authentic
and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim,
action or suit in the appropriate court of law.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]

26-




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Lease to be executed in their
respective names by their duly authorized signatories, all as of the date first above written.

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI

By:

Mayor

[SEAL)

ATTEST:

By:

City Clerk .

Lease Agreement
Clinton, MO / Schreiber Project
Series 2025

S-1




SCHREIBER FOODS, INC.,,
a Wisconsin corporation

By:

Name:
Title:

Lease Agreement
Clinton MO / Schreiber Project
Series 2023




EXHIBIT A
PROJECT EQUIPMENT

All equipment acquired after January 1, 2025 and financed with the proceeds of the Bonds
located on the Project Site in Clinton, Missouri, to and until the end of the Abatement Period. Such
equipment shall include equipment used in the manufacturing of food products.




EXHIBIT B
FORM OF REQUISITION CERTIFICATE

Requisition No.
Date:

REQUISITION CERTIFICATE

TO: UMB BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE UNDER A TRUST INDENTURE DATED AS OF
DECEMBER 1, 2025, BETWEEN THE CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI, AND THE
TRUSTEE, AND LEASE AGREEMENT DATED AS OF DECEMBER 1, 2025, BETWEEN
THE CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI, AND SCHREIBER FOODS, INC.

The undersigned Authorized Company Representative hereby states and certifies that:

1. A total of $ is requested to pay for Project Costs (as defined in said Trust
Indenture).
2. Said Project Costs shall be paid in such amounts, to such payees and for such purposes as

set forth on Schedule 1 hereto.

3. Set forth on Schedule 2 hereto is a description of the Project Equipment acquired by the
Company and which is being paid for pursuant to this Requisition Certificate.

4. Fach of the items for which payment is requested are or were desirable and appropriate in
connection with the purchase and installation of the Project Equipment (as defined in the Trust Indenture),
have been properly incurred and are a proper charge against the Project Fund, and have been paid by the
Company or are justly due to the Persons whose names and addresses are stated on Schedule 1, and have
not been the basis of any previous requisition from the Project Fund.

5. As of this date, except for the amounts referred to above, to the best of my knowledge
there are no outstanding disputed statements for which payment is requested for labor, wages, materials,
supplies or services in connection with the purchase and installation of the Project Equipment which, if
unpaid, might become the basis of a vendors’, mechanics’, laborers” or materialmen’s statutory or similar
Jien upon the Project Equipment or any part thereof.

0. With respect to all personal property described in this Requisition Certificate and for
which Project Costs are disbursed pursuant to this Requisition Certificate, in consideration of such
disbursement, such personal property is hereby BARGAINED and SOLD, and the Company by these
presents does now GRANT and CONVEY, unto the CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI, and its successors
and assigns, all of its right, title and interest, if any, in and to such personal property, and such personal
property shall constitute a portion of the “Project Equipment” as defined under the Lease Agreement
dated as of December 1, 2025, between the Company and the City. The property is being conveyed “as
is,” “where is” and “with all faults” as of the date of this Requisition Certificate, without any
representation or warranty whatsoever as to its condition, fitness for any particular purpose,
merchantability, or any other warranty, express or implied.

7. The Authorized Company Representative (i) certifies they have reviewed any wire
instructions set forth in this written disbursement direction to confirm such wire instructions are accurate,
and (ii) agrees they will not seek recomrse from the Trustee as a result of losses incurred by it for making
the disbursement in accordance with this disbursement direction.

B-1




B-2

SCHREIBER FOODS, INC,

By:

Authorized Company Representative




SCHEDULE 1
TO REQUISITION CERTIFICATE

Pavee and Address ' Description Amount

B-3



SCHEDULE 2
TO REQUISITION CERTIFICATE

PROJECT EQUIPMENT

Tiem
(Description) Serial or Identification Number




$29,100,000
(AGGREGATE MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT)
CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI
TAXABLE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS
(SCHREIBER PROJECT)
SERIES 2025

DATED AS OF DECEMBER 1, 2025

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Mayor and City Council
Clinton, Missouri

Ladies and Gentlemen:

On the basis of the representations and covenants and upon the terms and conditions contained in
this Bond Purchase Agreement, Schreiber Foods, Inc., a Wisconsin corporation (the “Purchaser™), offers
to purchase from the City of Clinton, Missouri (the “City”), the above-referenced Taxable Industrial
Development Revenue Bonds (Schreiber Project), Series 2025, dated as provided in the Indenture
(hereinafter defined), in the maximum aggregate principal amount of $29,100,000 (the “Bonds™), to be
issued by the City under and pursuant to an Ordinance adopted by the governing body of the City on
December 2, 2025 (the “Ordinance”), and a Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2025 (the
“Indenturc™) by and between the City and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”). Capitalized terms
not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Indenture.

SECTION 1. REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS
(a) By the City’s acceptance hereof, the City hereby represents to the Purchaser that:

) The City is a third class city duly organized and validly existing under the laws
of the State of Missouri. The City is authorized pursuant to the Constitution, the laws of the State
of Missouri, and the ordinances of the City, and all necessary action has been taken to authorize,
issue and deliver the Bonds and to consummate all transactions contemplated by this Bond
Purchase Agreement, the Ordinance, the Indenture, the Lease Agreement dated as of December 1,
2025 (the “Lease Agreement”) by and between the City and the Purchaser, the Performance
Agreement dated as of December 1, 2025 (the “Performance Agreement”) by and between the
City and the Purchaser and any and all other agreements relating thereto. The proceeds of the
Bonds shall be used for the purpose of acquiring and installing the Project Equipment and paying
the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

(2) There is no controversy, suit or other proceeding of any kind pending or to the
City’s knowledge threatened wherein or whereby any question is raised or may be raised,
questioning, disputing or affecting in any way the legal organization of the City or its boundaries,
or the right or title of any of its officers to their respective offices, or the legality of any official




act leading up to the issuance of the Bonds or the constitutionality or validity of the obligations
represented by the Bonds or the validity of the Bonds, the Lease Agreement, the Indenture or the
Performance Agreement.

(b) The Purchaser represents as follows:

(N Organization. The Purchaser is a corporation duly organized, validly existing
and in good standing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin and is duly authorized to transact
business in the State of Missouri.

) No Conflict or Breach. The execution, delivery and performance of this Bond
Purchase Agreement by the Purchaser have been duly authorized by all necessary action of the
Purchaser and do not and will not conflict with or result in the breach of any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, its organizational documents, any law,
court or administrative regulation, decree or order applicable to or binding upon the Purchaser, or,
to the best of its knowledge, any agreement, indenture, mortgage, lease or instrument to which the
Purchaser is a party or by which it is bound.

(3 Documents Legal, Valid and Binding. When executed and delivered by the
Purchaser, this Bond Purchase Agreement will be, and is, a legal, valid and -binding obligation,
enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforcement, to any applicable
bankruptey, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other laws affecting the enforcement of
creditors® rights generally and further subject to the availability of equitable remedies.

(4) Purchaser’s Certificates. Any certificate signed by an authorized officer or agent
of the Purchaser and delivered to the City shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the
Purchaser to such parties as to the statements made therein.

SECTION 2. PURCHASE, SALE AND DELIVERY OF THE BONDS

On the basis of the representations and covenants contained herein and in the other agreements
referred to herein, and subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth and in the Indenture, the
Purchaser agrees to purchase from the City, and the City agrees to sell to the Purchaser, the Bonds on the
terms and conditions set forth herein.

The Bonds shall be sold to the Purchaser by the City on the Closing Date (hercinafter defined)
upon payment of an amount equal to the Closing Price (hereinafter defined), which amount shall be
applied as provided in the Indenture and the Lease Agreement. From time to time after the Closing Date,
the Purchaser shall make additional payments with respect to the Bonds (“Additional Payments™) to the
Trustee under the Indenture, which Additional Payments shall be applied to the payment of Project Costs
or as provided in the Indenture and the Lease Agreement; provided that the sum of the Closing Price and
all such Additional Payments shall not, in the aggregate, exceed $29,100,000.

As used herein, the term “Closing Date” shall mean December __, 2025, or such other date as
shall be mutually agreed upon by the City and the Purchaser; the term “Closing Price” shall mean that
certain amount specified in an initial requisition under the Indenture and the Lease and/or a closing
memorandum for the Bonds as the amount required to pay for the initial issuance of the Bonds on the
Closing Date.




The Bonds shall be issued under and secured as provided in the Ordinance, the Indenture and the
Lease Agreement authorized thereby and the Bonds shall have the maturity, interest rate and shall be
subject to redemption as set forth therein. The delivery of the Bonds shall be made in definitive form as a
fully registered bond in the maximum aggregate principal denomination of $29,100,000 and bearing
interest at the rate shown in the Indenture; provided, that the principal amount of the Bonds outstanding at
any time shall be that amount recorded in the records of the Trustee and further provided that interest
shall be payable on the Bonds only on the outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, as more fully
provided in the Indenture. '

The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, the Trustee, and any member,
officer, official or employee of the City or of the Trustee and any person controlling the Trustee within
the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (collectively, the “Indemnified
Parties™), against any and all losses, claims, damages, Habilities or expenses whatsoever to the extent
caused by any violation by the Company of, or failure by the Company to comply with, any federal or
state securities laws in connection with the Bonds; provided, however, the indemnification contained in
this paragraph shall not extend to such Indemnified Party if such loss, claim, damage, lability or expense
is (a) the result of the Indemnified Party’s negligence or willful misconduct, or (b) the Indemnified Party
is not following the written instructions of the Owner of the Bonds.

Tn case any action shall be brought against one or more of the Indemnified Parties based upon the
foregoing indemnification and in respect of which indemnity may be sought against the Company, the
Indsmnified Parties shall promptly notify the Company in writing and the Company shall promptly
assume the defense thereof, including the employment of counsel, the payment of all expenses and the
right to negotiate and consent to seitlement. Any one or more of the Indemnified Parties shall have the
right to employ separate counsel in any such action and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees
and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnified Party or Indemnified Parties
unless employment of such counsel has been specifically authorized by the Company. The Company shall
not be liable for any settlement of any such action effected without its consent by any of the Indemnified
Parties, but if scttled with the consent of the Company or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff in
any such action against the Company or any of the Indemnified Parties, with or without the consent of the
Company, then provided that the Company was given prompt written notice and the ability to assume the
defense thereof as required by this paragraph, the Company agrees 0 indemnify and hold harmless the
Indemnified Parties to the extent provided herein.

SECTION 3. CONDITIONS TO THE OBLIGATIONS

The obligations hereunder shall be subject to the due performance by the parties of the
obligations and agreements to be performed hereunder on or prior to the Closing Date and to the accuracy
of and compliance with the representations contained herein, as of the date hereof and as of the Closing
Date, and are also subject to the following conditions:

(a) There shall be delivered to the Purchaser on or prior to the Closing Date a duly
executed copy of the Ordinance, the Trust Indesture and the Lease Agreement and any other
instrument contemplated thereby shall be in full force and effect and shall not have been modified
or changed except as may have been agreed to in writing by the Purchaser.

(b) The City shall confirm on the Closing Date by a certificate that at and as of the
Closing Date the City has taken all action necessary to issue the Bonds and that there is no
controversy, suit or other proceeding of any kind pending or to its knowledge threatened wherein



any question is raised affecting in any way the legal organization of the City or the legality of any
official act shown to have been done in the transcript of proceedings leading up to the issuance of
the Bonds, or the constitutionality or validity of the obligations represented by the Bonds or the
validity of the Bonds or any proceedings in relation to the issuance or sale thercof.

(c) The Purchaser shall execute a certificate, dated the Closing Date, to the effect
that (i) no litigation, proceeding or investigation is pending against the Purchaser or its affiliates
or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened which would (A) contest, affect, restrain or
enjoin the issuance, validity, execution, delivery or performance of the Bonds, or (B) in any way
contest the existence or powers of the Purchaser, (if) no litigation, proceeding or investigation is
pending or, to the knowledge of the Purchaser, threatened against the Purchaser that could
reasonably be expected to adversely affect its ability to perform its obligations hereunder, (iii) the
representations and warranties of the Purchaser herein were and are true and correct in all
material respects and not misleading as of the date made and as of the Closing Date, and (iv) such
other matfers as are reasonably requested by the other parties in connection with the issuance of
the Bonds.

SECTION 4. 'THE PURCHASER’S RIGHT TO CANCEL

The Purchasei shall have the right to cancel its obligation hereunder to purchase the Bonds by
notifying the City in writing or by telegraph of its election to make such cancellation at any time prior to
the Closing Date.

SECTION 5. CONDITIONS OF OBLIGATIONS

The obligations of the parties hereto are subject to the receipt of the approving opinion of
Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Bond Counsel, with respect to the validity of the authorization and issuance of the
Bonds.

SECTION 6. REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS TO SURVIVE DELIVERY

All of the representations and agreements by either party shall remain operative and in full force
and effect, and shall survive delivery of the Bonds to the Purchaser.

SECTION 7. NOTICE

Any notice or other communication to be given under this Agreement may be given by mailing or
delivering the same in writing to the City, Trustee or Company at the times and at the addresses set forth
for notices in the Indenture.

SECTION 8. APPLICABLE LAW; ASSIGNABILITY

This Bond Purchase Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Missouri and may
be assigned by the Purchaser to any entity controlled by, under common control with or controlling the
Purchaser. Any such assignee shall agree to be bound by the terms of this Bond Purchase Agreement.
Upon such assignment, the Purchaser shall be released from and have no further obligations under this
Bond Purchase Agreement.



SECTION 9. EXECUTION OF COUNTERPARTS; ELECTRONIC STORAGE

This Bond Purchase Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be
regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document. The parties agree
that the transaction described herein may be conducted and related documents may be stored by electronic
means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed
documents shall be desmed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all
purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]




Bond Purchase Agreement
Clinton, MO / Schreiber Project
Series 2025

Very truly yours,
SCHREIBER FOODS, INC,,

a Wisconsin corporation
as Purchaser

By:

Name:
Title:




Accepted and Agreed to by:

CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI

By:

Mayor
[SEAL]

ATTEST:

By:

City Clerk

Bond Purchase Agreement
Clinton, MO / Schreiber Project
Series 2025



PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT

Dated as of December 1, 2023

BETWEEN
CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURI
AND

SCHREIBER FOODS, INC.




PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT

THIS PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT, dated as of December 1, 2025 (the “Agreement”), is
between the CITY OF CLINTON, MISSOURY, a third class city and municipal corporation organized
and existing under the laws of the State of Missouri (the “City”), and SCHREIBER FOODS, INC,, a
Wisconsin corporation authorized to conduct business in the State of Missouri (the “Company”);

RECITALS:

1 The City is authorized and empowered pursuant to the provisions of Article VI, Section
27(b) of the Missouri Constitution, as amended, and Sections 100.010 through 100.200, inclusive, of the
Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended, (collectively, the “Act”), to purchase, construct, extend and
improve certain projects (as defined in Section 100.010 of the Revised Statutes of Missouri, as amended)
and to issue industrial development revenue bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the costs of
such projects and to lease or otherwise dispose of such projects to private persons or corporations for
manufacturing, commercial, warehousing, office industries and industrial development purposes upon
such terms and conditions as the City shall deem advisable.

2. Pursuant to the Act, the City Council of the City gave notice to the affected taxing
jurisdictions in accordance with Section 100.059.1 of the Act and held a public hearing to finance the
costs of certain personal property described on Exhibit A hereto (the “Project Equipment”) for the
Company to be located on the site described on Exhibit A hereto (the “Project Site™), out of the proceeds
of the industrial development revenue bonds to be issued under the Act to provide funds to pay the costs
of the Project Equipment, and to lease or sell the Project Equipment to the Company for the purpose of
financing the costs of the Project Equipment.

3. Pursuant to an ordinance passed by the City Council, the City has approved a plan
including the Project Equipment and has been authorized to execute and deliver (a) a Trust Indenture of
even date herewith (the “Indenture’”) between the City and the trustee named therein (the “Trustee™), for
the purpose of issuing and securing the City’s Taxable Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (Schreiber
Project), Series 2025, in the maximum principal amount of $29,100,000 (the “Bonds”), (b) a Lease
Agrecment of even date herewith (the “Lease”) with the Company under which the City, as lessor, will
acquire the Project Equipment and will lease the Project Equipment to the Company, in consideration of
rentals which will be sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds, and (c) this Agreement
for the purpose of setting forth the terms and conditions of the Project Equipment’s exemption from ad
valorem property taxes and certain payments in lieu of taxes to be made by the Company with respect to
the Project Equipment.

4, Pursuant to the foregoing, the City desires to enter into this Agreement with the Company
in consideration of the Company’s desire to purchase and install the Project Equipment upon the terms
and conditions hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations,
covenants and agreements herein contained, the City and the Company hereby represent, covenant and
agree as follows:




ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1.  Definitions of Words and Terms. In addition to the words and terms defined in
the Recitals and the words and terms defined in Section 101 of the Indenture, which definitions are hereby
incorporated herein by reference, the following words and terms as used herein shall have the following
meanings:

«Abatement Period” for each item of Project Equipment means the period set out on Exhibit E
to the Indenture.

“Agreement” means this Performance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2025, between the
City and the Company, as from time to time amended and supplemented in accordance with the
provisions hereof.

“Company” means Schreiber Foods, Inc., a Wisconsin corporation authorized to conduct
business in Missouri, and its successors and assigns.

“Tivent of Default” means any Event of Default as described in Section 6.1 hereof.

“Indenture” means the Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2025, between the City and the
bond trustee designated therein, as Trustee, relating to the issuance of the Bonds, as amended or
supplemented from time to time.

“PILOT Payments” means the payments in lieu of taxes provided for in Article IIT hereof.

“Project Equipment” means all items of machinery, equipment or other personal property
acquired or installed or acquired for installation on the Project Site pursuant to Article IV of the Lease
and paid for in whole or in part from the proceeds of Bonds, as described in Exhibit A attached hereto
and by this reference made a part hereof, and all replacements thereof and substitutions therefor which,
pursuant to Section 8.2 of the Lease, constitute part of the Project Bquipment; provided that the Project
Equipment at any given time shall not include any property that has reached the end of its Abatement
Period.

“Project Site” has the meaning given on Exhibit A attached hereto.

ARTICLE IL
REPRESENTATIONS

Section 2.1.  City’s Representations. The City hereby represents that the Project Equipment
will significantly benefit the City and the State of Missouri by (i) stimulating economic development in
the City and the State through the maintenance of permanent jobs; and (ii) increasing local and state {ax
revenues.

Section 2.2.  Company’s Representations. The Company hereby represents that the Project
Equipment will significantly benefit the City and the State of Missouri by (i) stimulating economic
development in the City and the State through the maintenance of permanent jobs; and (ii) increasing
local and state tax revenues.




ARTICLE III

PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION;
PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES

Section 3.1.  Personal Property Tax Exemption.

(a) So long as the City owns title to the Project Equipment, the Project Equipment and the
leasehold interest of the Company in the Project Equipment is expected to be exempt from ad valorem
taxes on personal property. The Abatement Period for each item of Project Equipment shall begin and
end as described in Exhibit E to the Indenture. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to
the contrary, the last year of exemption for any Project Equipment shall be 2036.

(b) The Company covenants and agrees that, during each year the Project Equipment is
exempt from ad valorem personal property taxes by reason of City ownership, the Company will make
annual payments in lieu of taxes to the City (the “PILOT Payments” and each such payment, a “PILOT
Payment”) as described in this Article IIL. ‘The City and the Company hereby agree that the tax
abatement provided by this Agreement shall only apply to property financed with proceeds of the Bonds -
(i.e., personal property constituting a part of the Project Equipment) and shall not apply to property not
financed with proceeds of the Bonds.

Section 3.2.  Payments In Lieu of Taxes.

(a) The Company and the City agree that each item of personal property financed with the
proceeds of the Bonds and constituting a part of the Project Equipment shall be exempt from ad valorem
taxes during the Abatement Period for such item. The Company agrees that it shall make a PILOT
Payment to the City (to be delivered to the City Clerk) on or before December 1 of each year,
commencing December 1 of the first year of the Abatement Period, in an amount equal to 25% of the ad
valorem personal property taxes which would otherwise be due with respect to the Project Equipment
(calculated as set forth below).

The PILOT Payments shall be calculated by the Comparny as follows:

For purposes of calculating the PILOT Payments, the Company shall start with the cost of all
personal property that becomes part of the Project Equipment by acquisition with Bond proceeds in each
calendar year, excluding any costs of freight, installation, or sales or use tax (the “Original Cost”), and
apply a depreciation factor to such Original Cost for each year of the Abatement Period for such property,
according to the depreciation schedule, as set out below:

Depreciation Factor:

15-Year Depreciable

Abatement Period Property
Year 1 95.00%

Year 2 85.50%

Year 3 76.95%

Year 4 69.25%

Year 5 62.32%

Year 6 56.09%




Year 7 50.19%
Year 8 44.29%
Year 9 38.38%
Year 10 32.48%

Beginning with the first year of the Abatement Period for such property, and annually thereafter
through the Abatement Period for such property, the Company shall calculate the PILOT Payment for
such property using the following formula:

PILOT Payment="T axl* 25%
Tax = (Assessed Value / 100) * Tax Rate!

Assessed Value = (Original Cost * applicable “Depreciation Factor” in
the above table) * 33.33% assessment ratio

! Shal} be calculated using the then ourrent combined property tax rate applicable to personal property located at the
Project Site (5.1798 would have been applicable in 2025, for example).

(b) The Company will, in accordance with the above table and formula, prepate (i) a detailed
summary of the Project Equipment expenditures for each year, and (ii) a calculation of the corresponding
PILOT Payments, and notify the City by sending such report to the City for its review and approval on or
before October 15 of each year, commencing on the first October 15 of the Abatement Period and
continuing on each October 15 thereafter while this Agreement remains in effect.

Unless the City notifies the Company of its disapproval on or before October 31, the City shall be
deemed to have approved of the Company’s PILOT Payment calculations as set forth in the report. If the
City disapproves, the City shall notify the Company in writing setting forth in detail the basis for such
disapproval (notice to be provided in accordance with Section 8.7 of this Agreement).

The approved PILOT Payments shall be payable to the City on or before December 1 of each
such calendar year.

(c) The Company shall exercise its option pursuant to Section 11.4 of the Lease to purchase
the Project Equipment no later than December 1 of the last year of the final Abatement Period. If title to
the Project Equipment has not been transferred by the City to the Company on or before such date, then
not later than December 1 of the year following the Abatement Period, and not later than December 1 of
each year thereafier until title to the Project Equipment is transferred to the Company, the Company shall
pay to the City a PILOT Payment equal to 100% of the amount that would otherwise be payable to each
taxing jurisdiction but for the City’s ownership thereof.

Section 3.3.  [Reserved].

Section 3.4 [Reserved].

Section 3.5. No Abatement on Real Property or Special Assessments. The City and the
Company hereby agree that the property tax exemptions described in this Agreement shall not apply to

real property taxes or any special assessments imposed thereon.

Section 3.6.  Distribution of PILOT Payments. Within 30 days of the date of receipt of each
PILOT Payment, the City Clerk, or other designated billing/collection agent, shall distribute each PILOT

A



Payment, after reduction for the administrative costs of the City as provided by Section 3.8 below, among
the taxing jurisdictions in proportion to the amount of taxes which would have been paid in each year had
the Project Equipment not been exempt from personal property taxation pursuant to this Agreement.

Section 3.7.  Obligation of City to Effect Tax Abatement. The City agrees to take, at the
Company’s expense, all actions within its control to obtain and/for maintain in effect the exemption
referred to in Section 3.1 above, including any filing required with any governmental authorities;
provided, however, the City shall not be liable for any failure of Henry County, Missouri or any other
governmental taxing authority to recognize the exemption provided herein. The City covenants that it will
not voluntarily take any action that may cause or induce the levy or assessment of ad valorem taxes on the
Project Equipment. In the event such a levy or assessment should occur, the City shall, at the Company’s
request and at the Company’s expense, fully cooperate with the Company in all reasonable ways to
prevent and/or remove any such levy or assessment against the Project Equipment.

Section 3.8.  Administration Costs. Under Section 100.050 of the Act, the City may require
the Company to reimburse the City for its actual costs of issuing the Bonds and administering the plan
including costs associated with this Agreement, in an amount of no greater than $1,000 per year. The
City will provide a statement for such costs to the Company not later than November 15th of each year
and the Company will reimburse the City for its costs on or before December I of each year continuing
until December | of the year in which this Agreement expires or is terminated.

Section 3.9.  Other Property Taxes In Connection with the Project Equipment. The City
and the Company covenant and agree that the property tax abatement provided by this Agreement and the
issuance of the Bonds shall only apply to the City’s interest in the Project Equipment, and only to that
portion financed with proceeds of the Bonds. Any property faxes levied against the Company’s interest in
the Project Bquipment by any taxing authority shall be solely the responsibility of the Company. In the
event such a levy or assessment should occur, the City shall, at the Company’s request, fully cooperate
with the Company in all reasonable ways to prevent and/or challenge such levy or assessment.

Section 3.10.  [Reserved].

Section 3.11.  Credits for Certain Tax Payments. Nothing in this Agreement shall be
construed to require the Company to make duplicate tax payments. The Company shall receive a credit
hereunder to such extent it has made any payment for ad valorem property taxes on the Project
Equipment to Henry County, Missous,

Section 3.12. Company’s Right To Protest Taxes. Notwithstanding any other provision of
this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to limit or in any way
restrict the availability of any provision of Missouri law which confers upon the Company the right to
appeal, protest or otherwise contest any property tax valuation, assessment, classification or similar
action. However, no such appeal, protest or contest shall affect the amount or timing of PILOT Payments
to be made under this Agreement.

Section 3.13. Cessation of Operations at the Project Site. If for any reason the Company
completely vacates, abandons or ceases operations at the Project Site during the term of this Agreement,
and fails to exercise its option to purchase the Project Equipment within 90 days after such vacancy,
abandonment or cessation of operations, the Company shall make a PILOT Payment to the City
(addressed to the City Clerk and to be distributed as provided in Section 3.6) equal to 100% of the
amounts that would otherwise be payable to each taxing jurisdiction if the Project Equipment was not
owned by the City. Such payment shall be made on or before December 1 in the year in which the
Company ceases operations (in a pro rata amount assuming the Project Equipment was placed on the tax
rolls effective on the date of cessation through December 31) and on each December 1 thereafter for each

"5



year in which the Project Equipment is, on January | of such year, still titled in the name of the City, and
the Company has ceased operations.

Section 3.14. No Abatement on Special Assessments, Licenses or Fees. The City and the
Company hereby agree that the property tax exemptions described in this Agreement shall not apply to
special assessments and shall not serve to reduce or eliminate any other licenses or fees owing to the City
or any other taxing jurisdiction with respect to the Project Equipment. The Company hereby agrees to
make payments with respect to all special assessments, licenses and fees which would otherwise be due
with respect to the Project Equipment as if such Project Equipment was not owned by the City.

ARTICLE IV
COVENANTS, REPRESENTATIONS AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

Section4.1.  Inspection. The Company agrees that the City and its duly authorized agents
shall have the right at reasonable times (during business hours), subject to at least 48 howrs advance
written notice and to the Company’s usual business proprietary, safety and sceurity requirements, to enter
upon the Project Site to examine and inspect the Project Equipment and the records of the Company
which demeonstrate compliance with this Agreement.

Section 4.2.  Compliance with Laws. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Project
Equipment is and will be in material compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes,
ordinances, tules, regulations, executive orders and codes pertaining to or affecting the Project
Equipment, including environmental laws, subject to all applicable rights of the Company to contest the
same.

Section 4.3.  Purchase, Installation and Operation. The Project Equipment will be
purchased, installed and operated in a manner that is consistent with the description of the Project
Equipment herein and in the Lease. In the event the Project Equipment purchased and installed is
materially inconsistent with the description of the Project Equipment contained herein and in the
presentation to the City Council of the City, the City reserves the right to declare an Event of Default in
accordance with Section 6.1(c) hereof.

Section 4.4.  Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify and save and hold harmless the
City from and against all claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’
fees, by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising from the conduct or management of, or
from any work or thing done in, on or about, the Project Equipment during the term of the Lease, and
against and from all claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees,
arising during the term of the Lease from any event described in Section 10.5 of the Lease to the extent
and subject to the limitations provided therein provided, however, the indemnification contained in this
Section 4.4 shall not extend to the City if such claims, demands, costs, liabilities, damages or expenses,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, are the result of the negligence or willful misconduct by the City, or
the performance or failure to perform by the City of its obligations under the Lease.

Section 4.5.  Costs of Issuance of the Bonds. The Company agrees to pay on the date of the
initial issuance of the Bonds, all costs of issuance incurred in connection therewith.




ARTICLE V
SALE AND ASSIGNMENT

The benefits granted by the City to the Company pursuant to this Agreement shall belong solely
to the Company, and such benefits shall not be transferred (other than to an affiliate of the Company),
assigned, pledged or in any other manner hypothecated without the express written consent of the City,
except that the Company shall have the right to assign or transfer its interest hereunder, including the
benefits hereunder, in connection with any assignment or transfer of its interest in the Project Equipment
that is permitted pursuant to the Lease; but nothing herein shall preclude the Company from assigning or
pledging its interest in the Project Equipment so long as the Company continues to occupy the Project
Equipment and otherwise remains responsible for its undertakings herein.

ARTICLE VI
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 6.1.  Events of Default. If any one or more of the following events shall occur and be
continuing, it is hereby defined as and declared to be and to constitute an Event of Default hereunder:

{2) the Company fails to make any PILOT Payments required to be paid hereunder
within 10 days after written notice and demand by the City;

(b) the Company shall fail to perform any of its obligations hereunder for a period of
30 days (or such longer period as the City and the Company may agree in writing) following
written notice to the Company from the City of such failure which notice shall include a specific
description of the Company’s failure hereunder); provided, however, that if such failure is not
subject to cure within such 30 days, such failure shall not constitute an Event of Default
hereunder if the Company initiates action to cure such default and pursues such action diligently;
or

(c) any representation of the Company contained herein proves to be materially false
or erroneous and is not corrected or brought into compliance within 30 days (or such longer
period as the City and the Company may agree in writing) after the City has given written notice
to the Company specifying the false or erroneous representation and requiring it to be remedied;
provided, however, that if such matter is not subject to cure within such 30 days after such notice,
it shall not constitute an Event of Default hereunder if the Company initiates action to cure the
default within such 30 days after such notice and pursues such action diligently.

Section 6.2. Remedies on Default. Upon an Event of Default hereunder this Agreement may
be terminated by written notice to the Company from the City. Upon such termination the Company shall
make a PTLOT Payment to the City equal to (i) the pro rafa amount payable pursuant to Section 3.3
hereof from January | of the year in question through the effective date of termination, plus (ii) the pro
rata amount of taxes that would be due for the remaining portion of the year assuming the Project
Equipment was placed on the tax rolls effective on the date of termination through December 31;
provided, however, the payment of PILOTS following cessation of operations shall be governed by
Section 3.13; and provided further, the Company shall receive a credit for all PILOT Payments made
pursuant to Section 3.2 herein and such credit shall reduce the amount of any payments due under this
Section.




Upon any termination of this Agreement the Company agrees to pay interest and penalties on all
amounts due hereunder that are late to the same extent as if such payments were late tax payments under
Missousi law.

Section 6.3.  Payments on Defaulted Amounts. Any amounts due hereunder which are not
paid when due shall bear interest at the interest rate imposed by Missouri law on overdue ad valorem real
estate taxes from the date such payment was first due.

Section 6.4.  Enforcement. In addition to the remedies specified in Section 6.2, upon the
occurrence of an Event of Default, the City or any taxing jurisdictions that would benefit from the PILOT
Payments provided for in this Agreement may bring an action for specific performance to enforce such
payments.  In the event of litigation pertaining to the enforcement of this Agreement, the losing party
shall pay all costs of litigation, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.

Section 6.5.  Failure of the City to Perform its Obligations. In the event the City shall fail
to perform any of its obligations hereunder for (i) a period of 60 days (or such longer period as the
Company and the City may agree in writing) following written notice to the City from the Company of
such failure which notice shall include a specific description of the City’s failure hereunder), or (ii) if
such failure is not subject to cure within such 60 days, the City shall have failed to initiate action to cure
such default and shall pursue such action diligently; the Company may declare that the City is in default
under this Agreement and may pursue any legal remedy available to it to enforce this Agreement.

ARTICLE VI
TERM OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall become effective upon execution, and subject to earlier termination
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement (including particularly the following sentence and
Article VI hereof), shall have an initial term commencing as of the date of this Agreement and
terminating on December 1, 2036 (the “Stated Expiration Date”). This Agreement shall automatically
terminate prior to the Stated Expiration Date in the event the Bonds (or any Bonds issued to refund the
Bonds) are no longer outstanding.

ARTICLE VHI
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Section 8.1.  Severability. If for any reason any provision of this Agreement shall be
determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the validity and enforceability of the other provisions hereof

shall not be affected thereby.

Section 8.2.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and
governed by the laws of the State of Missouri.

Section 8.3.  Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously
in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which shall constitute

but one and the same instrument.

Section 8.4.  Waiver. The City and the Company acknowledge and agree that the amounts
payable hereunder shall constitute payments due the City under the Lease exccuted in connection with the

8-




Bonds. The Company shall not be entitled to any extension of payment of such amounts as a result of a
filing by or against the Company in any bankruptey court.

Section 8.5.  Entire Agreement. This Agrecment constitutes the entire agreement and
supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, between the City and the
Company with respect to the subject matter hereof, except as may be set forth in the Indenture or the
Lease.

Section 8.6.  Electronic Storage of Documents. The City and the Company agree that the
transaction described herein may be conducted and related documents may be received, sent or stored by
electronic means.

Section 8.7.  Notices. All notices, certificates or other communications required or desired to
be given hereunder shall be given in the manner specified in the Indenture.

Section 8.8. Employee Verification. The Company will comply with and satisfy the
requirements of Section 285.530.2, RSMo., as amended, which requires (1) any business entity receiving
tax abatement to, by sworn affidavit and provision of documentation, annually affirm its enrollment and
participation in a federal work authorization program with respect to the employees working in
connection with the business entity receiving tax abatement, and (2) every such business entity to
annually sign an affidavit affirming that it does not knowingly employ any person who is an unauthorized
alien in connection with the entity receiving tax abatement. The Company shall provide such affidavits
and documentation to the City Clerk on or before October 15 of each year during the term of this
Agreement, beginning October 15, 2026, and also upon execution of this Agreement.

Section 8.9.  Complete Agreement. The Company and the City understand that oral or
unexecuted agreements or commitments to loan money, extend credit or to forbear from enforcing
repayment of a debt including promises to extend or renew such debt are not enforceable. To protect the
Company and the City from misunderstanding or disappointment, any agreements the Company and the
City reach covering such matters are contained in this Performance Agreement and in the Lease, which
are the complete and exclusive statements of the agreement between the Company and the City, except as
the Company and the City may later agree in writing to modify this Performance Agreement and the
Lease,

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blonk.]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed in
their respective corporate names, all as of the date first above written.

CITY OF CLENTON, MISSOURI

By:

Mayor
[SEAL]

ATTEST:

By:
City Clerk

Performance Agreement
Clinton, MO / Schreiber Project

Series 2025 S-1



SCHREIBER FOODS, INC.,
a Wisconsin corporation

By:

Name:
Title:

Performance Agreement
Clinton, MO / Scheeiber Project

Series 2025 S-2




EXHIBIT A

PROJECT SITE

The Project Site includes the real property located at 935 E. Nusbaum Place in Clinton, Missouri.

PROJECT EQUIPMENT

All equipment acquired after January 1, 2025 and financed with the proceeds of the Bonds
located on the Project Site in Clinton, Missouri, to and until the end of the Abatement Period. Such
equipment shall include equipment used in the manufacturing of food products.



